
 
Regular and Closed Council Meeting Agenda 
for Monday, February 12, 2024, at 1:00 p.m.  

to be held in Council Chambers at the,  
 Municipal Office at 4512 – 46 Street, Olds, AB  

 
This Regular Council Meeting will be conducted in Council Chambers at the Municipal Office at 4512 – 46 
Street in Olds, with the public body present at meeting location and will be live streamed out via the 
Town of Olds website. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER   
 
 A.) ADDED ITEM(s)         
  
 B.) ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 
 
2. ADOPTION OF PREVIOUS MINUTES        
Page 3  2A) Adoption of previous council meeting minutes 

• Regular Council Meeting Minutes – January 22, 2024 
        

3. DELEGATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS  
 
4. BYLAWS 
Page 8 4A) Bylaw 2024-05 Animal Bylaw  
   (Introduction and consideration be given for first reading.) 
 
5. NEW BUSINESS 
Page 40  5A) Family and Community Support Services Grant Recommendations 
Page 46  5B) Town of Olds Annual Report 
Page 61 5C) Notice of Motion – Councillor Wilson 
Page 62 5D) Rotary Athletic Park of Olds – Dirt Jump Track  
Development Permits 
Page 63 5E) DP24-008 – Residential Addition (to existing dwelling) 
   (4102 50 Avenue) 
Page 84 5F) DP24-010 – Accessory Use (licensed restaurant)  
   (5622 46 Street)  
 
6. CORRESPONDENCE AND INFORMATION 
Page 91  6A) Correspondence and Information 
 
7. CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER’S REPORT  
Page 126          7A) Chief Administrative Officer Report  
To include a Closed Session Item FOIP Section 16 Disclosure harmful to business interests of a third party 
(Development Information) 
  
 



Town of Olds Council Meeting Agenda for February 12, 2024 
Page 2 of 2 
 
8.    ADJOURNMENT  
 
PUBLIC INFORMATION: 
Media Scrum: any questions arising from the media can be sent to communications@olds.ca and they 
will be forwarded on to the person addressed. 
 
CLOSED SESSION INFORMATION:  
When Council goes into a CLOSED SESSION, for continued participation in the virtual Council meeting: 
stay online in the live stream meeting platform, and the meeting stream will be replaced by a graphic 
and music will play. When the music stops, the meeting is reconvened.  
 
If you choose to shut down your live stream, watch the Town of Olds social media feeds where the 
reconvening time will be posted. The social media feeds can also be found at the bottom of the 
homepage on the Town of Olds website. 
 
 
 
 

mailto:communications@olds.ca


 
PRIOR TO ADOPTION 

 
Minutes of the Town of Olds Regular and Closed Council meeting held on Monday, January 22, 
2024, at 1:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers, at the Municipal Office at 4512 – 46 Street in Olds, 
with the public body present at meeting location and was live streamed out.  
 
PRESENT – ELECTED OFFICIALS:  
In the Chair, Mayor Judy Dahl  
Councillor Wanda Blatz, Councillor James Cummings, Councillor Dan Daley, Councillor Harvey 
Walsh, and Councillor Darren Wilson. 
 
ABSENT– ELECTED OFFICIALS:  
Councillor Heather Ryan 
 
PRESENT for the Regular meeting of Council – STAFF:  
Brent Williams, Chief Administrative Officer; Justin Andrew, Director of Protective Services; 
Sheena Linderman, Director of Finance and Marcie McKinnon, Legislative Clerk. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER   
Mayor Dahl called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m. 
 
 A.) ADDED ITEM(s)         
Mayor Dahl requested one item be added under New Business 5E), the Terms of Reference for 
the Mid-Sized Towns Mayors Caucus. Council gave consensus to add the item to agenda. 
 
 B.) ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 
Moved by Councillor Blatz, “to accept the Council agenda for the Monday, January 22, 2024, 
Regular Council meeting.”   
Motion Carried 24-24 
 
2. ADOPTION OF PREVIOUS MINUTES        
2A) Regular Council Meeting Minutes  
Mayor Dahl confirmed consensus to adopt the  

• Regular Council Meeting Minutes – January 8, 2024 
The minutes were adopted as presented by consensus of Council. 
Motion Carried 24-25 
        
3. DELEGATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS 
3A) Delegation – Clinton Pederson (Dirt Jump Track) 
Mr. Pederson was in attendance and made a presentation to council on information as 
contained in the agenda package, and fielded questions from Council on the project.  
Items briefly discussed include opportunity for sport tourism, users, hours of facility,  liability 
(insurance), capital funding costs, and required maintenance of the park after building is 
completed. It would require around 2 acres for the track. There would not be any lighting, would 
be used during daylight hours.  Security was discussed if it should be fenced or open; some 
municipalities have it gated, some don’t, the Town would have to determine that going forward. 
Council thanked Mr. Pederson for presenting on the Dirt Jump Track.  
 
Moved by Councillor Daley, “to accept the Dirt Jump Track information as presented.” 
Motion Carried 24-26 
 
3B) Office of the Chief Administrative Officer Quarterly Report 
CAO Williams presented the quarterly report to council as contained in the agenda package 
which highlighted Economic Development, Legislative Services, Mountain View Power, Human 
Resources, and Special Projects.  

3

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Town of Olds Council Meeting Agenda for January 22, 2024 
Page 2 of 5 
 
 
Moved by Councillor Wilson, “that Council accepts the Office of the Chief Administrative Officer 
(OCAO) quarterly report, as presented.” 
Motion Carried 24-27 
 
4. BYLAWS 
4A) Bylaw 2024-01 Committee of the Whole 
Moved by Councillor Blatz, “that Council give first reading to the Committee of the Whole Bylaw 
No. 2024-01, as amended.” 
Motion Carried 24-28 
 
Council discussion ensued.  Two amendments were determined; Point 6 – delete Policies and 
Priorities Committee and replace it with Committee of the Whole; and change the title “Mandate” 
to “Purpose”.   
 
CAO Williams left at 1:45 p.m. and returned to the meeting at 1:47 p.m. 
 
Moved by Councillor Wilson, “that Council give second reading to the Committee of the Whole 
Bylaw No. 2024-01, as amended.” 
Motion Carried 24-29 
 
Moved by Councillor Cummings, “that Council unanimously agrees to consider a third reading of 
the Committee of the Whole Bylaw No. 2024-01, as amended.” 
Motion Carried 24-30 
 
Moved by Councillor Daley, “that Council give third reading to the Committee of the Whole 
Bylaw No. 2024-01, as amended.” 
Motion Carried 24-31 
  
Moved by Councillor Blatz, “that Council hold regularly scheduled Committee of the Whole 
meetings at 1:00 pm in Council Chambers at 4512 46 Street in Olds, AB on March 4, 2024, May 
6, 2024, July 2, 2024 (Tuesday), September 3, 2024 (Tuesday), October 7, 2024, and 
December 2, 2024; or as otherwise determined.” 
Motion Carried 24-32 
 
4B) Bylaw 2024-04 Traffic 
Moved by Councillor Daley, “that Council give second reading to the Traffic Bylaw 2024-04, as 
amended.” 
Motion Carried 24-33 
 
Moved by Councillor Wilson, “that Council give third reading to the Traffic Bylaw 2024-04, as 
amended.” 
Motion Carried 24-34 
 
4C) Bylaw 2024-08 Amending Community Standards Bylaw 2023-06 
Moved by Councillor Blatz, “that Council give first reading to Bylaw 2024-08, as presented.” 
Motion Carried 24-35 
  
 
Moved by Councillor Cummings, “that Council give second reading to Bylaw 2024-08, as 
amended.” 
Motion Carried 24-36 
 

4

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Town of Olds Council Meeting Agenda for January 22, 2024 
Page 3 of 5 
 
Moved by Councillor Walsh, “that Council unanimously agrees to consider a third reading of 
Bylaw 2024-08, as amended.” 
Motion Carried 24-37 
  
Moved by Councillor Wilson, “that Council give third reading to Bylaw 2024-08, as amended.” 
Motion Carried 24-38 
 
4D) Bylaw 2024-06 Citizens Committee to Review Council Remuneration 
Moved by Councillor Daley, “that Council give first reading to the Council Remuneration Review 
Committee Bylaw 2024-06, as presented.” 
Motion Carried 24-39 
 
Council discussion ensued.  
Director Linderman joined meeting at 2:02 p.m. 
 
Moved by Councillor Walsh, “that Council give second reading to the Council Remuneration 
Review Committee Bylaw 2024-06, as presented.” 
Motion Carried 24-40 
 
Moved by Councillor Blatz, “that Council unanimously agrees to consider a third reading of the 
Council Remuneration Review Committee Bylaw 2024-06, as presented.” 
Motion Carried 24-41 
 
Moved by Councillor Wilson, “that Council give third reading to the Council Remuneration 
Review Committee, Bylaw 2024-06 as presented.” 
Motion Carried 24-42 
 
5. NEW BUSINESS 
5A) Sponsorship Request – Olds College Dinner of Distinction 
Moved by Councillor Daley, “that a sponsorship of $3,000.00 for the Olds College Dinner of 
Distinction to be held March 15, 2024, be approved.” 
Motion Carried 24-43 
  
Director Andrew left the meeting at 2:06 p.m. 
 
5B)  Tax Exemption Requests 
Director Linderman spoke to the tax exemption requests before council today. 
 
Moved by Councillor Wilson, “that the application for property tax exemption submitted by 
Padnoma Support Services be accepted for the 2024 taxation year.” 
 
Council discussion ensued. 
 
Motion Carried 24-44 
  
Moved by Councillor Walsh, “that the application for property tax exemption submitted by 
Central Alberta Pregnancy Care Centre be accepted for the 2024 taxation year.” 
Motion Carried 24-45 
 
Moved by Councillor Daley, “that the application for property tax exemption submitted by Scouts 
Canada be accepted for the 2024 taxation year.” 
Motion Carried 24-46 
 

5

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Town of Olds Council Meeting Agenda for January 22, 2024 
Page 4 of 5 
 
Moved by Councillor Blatz, “that the application for property tax exemption submitted by Imagine 
Gymnastics Club be accepted for the 2024 taxation year.” 
Motion Carried 24-47 
 
Moved by Councillor Wilson, “that the application for property tax exemption submitted by Boys 
and Girls Club be accepted for the 2024 taxation year.” 
Motion Carried 24-48 
 
Moved by Councillor Walsh, “that the two applications for property tax exemption submitted by 
Accredited Supports to the Community be accepted for the 2024 taxation year.” 
Motion Carried 24-49 
 
Moved by Councillor Blatz, “that the application for property tax exemption submitted by Olds 
and District Hospice Society be accepted for the 2024 taxation year.” 
Motion Carried 24-50 
 
Director Linderman left the meeting at 2:17 p.m. 
 
DEVELOPMENT PERMITS 
Town of Olds Municipal Land Use Planner, Mr. Kyle Sloan was in attendance and  
presented the following Development Permits to Council as contained in the agenda package.  
 
5C) DP24-007 82 Briegel Road - Variance - Shed Rear and Side Yard Setback 
Moved by Councillor Daley, “that Council approve Development Permit application DP24- 
007 as presented, subject to the conditions listed in the attached draft Development Permit.” 
Motion Carried 24-51 
 
CAO Williams left the meeting at 2:30 p.m. and returned at 2:32 p.m. 
 
5D) DP23-180 5866 Imperial Drive - Discretionary Use - Loft & Height Variance 
Moved by Councillor Walsh, “that Council approve Development Permit application DP23-1 
90 as presented, subject to the conditions listed in the attached draft Development Permit.” 
Motion Carried 24-52 
 
5E) ADDED ITEM: 
Mid-Sized Towns Mayors Caucus; Terms of Reference 
Mayor Dahl presented the terms of reference for the Mid-Sized Towns Mayors Caucus 
 
Moved by Councillor Blatz, “that Council approve membership in the Alberta Mid-sized Towns  
Mayors Caucus as per the Terms of Reference attached and agree to pay the $250 yearly  
annual membership Fee.” 
Motion Approved 24-53 
 
6. CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER REPORT  
6A) Chief Administrative Officer Report  
CAO Williams spoke on the following: 
 - Action list ( as contained in the agenda package ) 
 - Aquatic closure – still being investigated – may have been a power bump, computer 

crash and a pump malfunction. The Aquatic Centre has reopened.  
 

Moved by Councillor Daley, “that the Chief Administrative Officer Report be accepted for  
information.” 
Motion Carried 24-54 

6

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Town of Olds Council Meeting Agenda for January 22, 2024 
Page 5 of 5 
 
 
7. CORRESPONDENCE AND INFORMATION 
7A) Correspondence and Information 
Moved by Councillor Wilson, “that the Correspondence and Information Report ending  
January 22, 2024, be received for information.” 
Motion Carried 24-55 
 
8. REPORTS FROM COUNCIL, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES 
8A) Reports from Council, Boards, Commission and Committees 
Moved by Councillor Blatz, “that the Reports from Council, Boards, Commission and  
Committees ending January 22, 2024, be received for information.” 
 
Mayor Dahl, Councillors Daley, Wilson, Ryan provided reports that are contained in the agenda  
package. Council spoke on meetings and events they attended over the reporting period. 
 
Motion Carried 24-56 
 
8B) Notice of Motion – Councillor Wilson 
CAO Williams noted that Administration has received a Notice of Motion from Councillor Wilson 
as contained in the agenda package. Further that this item will be placed on the February 12, 
2024, regular council meeting agenda for council consideration.  
 
9. ADJOURNMENT  
Mayor Dahl adjourned the meeting at 2:51 p.m. 
 
 
 
_________________________________   ________________________________ 
Judy Dahl,       Brent Williams, 
Mayor        Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
These minutes were approved on the ____ day of February 2024. 
 
 
 
 

7

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

Page 1 of 1 

  
Bylaw 2024-05 

Request for Decision 

Bylaw 2024-05 Animal 

February 12, 2024    
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council give first reading to the Animal Bylaw 2024-05, as presented. 
 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
Our community is supported and enabled through skillful governance. 
Our thriving community is built on strong and collaborative relationships. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

Municipal Government Act 
Provincial Legislation 

BACKGROUND  

In the continued effort of administrations review and revision of the Community Standards Bylaw, 
the next extracted and revised bylaw for consideration is the Animal Bylaw. Municipal 
Enforcement highlighted the need for revisions in animal control, public behaviors, streets, person 
and properties, among others. Administration recognizes the significance of these bylaws and is 
attentively working to present these proposed revisions in subsequent council meetings and will 
look to future Council on core service levels as these bylaws are presented for Council’s 
consideration.    

After much dialogue, it has been determined that there is a need for a standalone animal bylaw to 
help aid in promoting the well-being of animals, ensuring public safety, fostering responsible pet 
ownership, and promoting community harmony. This proposed bylaw is now presented before 
the council for first reading and subsequent Council direction.  

 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
 
KEY MESSAGES 
The creation of a stand-alone Animal Bylaw will aid in promoting the well-being of animals, ensuring 
public safety, fostering responsible pet ownership, and enable easier navigation of bylaws for citizens.  

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Draft Bylaw 2024-05 Animal 
 

CAO Review: Brent Williams  Date: 8 Feb 2024 

 

8

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

TOWN OF OLDS  
BYLAW NO. 2024–05   

BEING A BYLAW OF THE TOWN OF OLDS TO REGULATE ANIMALS WITHIN THE TOWN OF OLDS  
  
WHEREAS pursuant to section 7(a) of the Municipal Government Act RSA 2000 C M-26, a council may 
pass bylaws for municipal purposes respecting the safety, health and welfare of people and the protection 
of people and property;  
 
AND WHEREAS pursuant to section 7(h) of the Municipal Government Act RSA 2000 C M-26, a council 
may pass bylaws for municipal purposes respecting wild and domestic animals and activities in relation to 
them;  
  
AND WHEREAS pursuant to section 7(i) of the Municipal Government Act RSA 2000 C M-26, a council 
may pass bylaws for municipal purposes respecting the enforcement of bylaws made under the Municipal 
Government Act or any other enactment including any or all of the matters listed therein;  
  
AND WHEREAS pursuant to section 8 of the Municipal Government Act RSA 2000 C M-26, a council may 
by bylaw regulate or prohibit, or provide for a system of Licences, permits or approval including any or all 
the matters listed therein.  
  

Schedule “1” Fines and Penalties 
Schedule “2” Prohibited Animals 
Schedule “3” Dr. Ian Dunbar’s Aggression Scale 
Schedule “4” Animal Seizure and Impoundment Form 
Schedule “5” Vicious Animal Sign 
Schedule “6” Bark Log 

 
 
NOW THEREFORE the municipal Council of the Town of Olds in the Province of Alberta, duly assembled, 
enacts as follows:   
  

PART 1 
BYLAW TITLE 

  
1. This Bylaw may be cited as the “Animal Bylaw”.   

  
PART 2 

DEFINITIONS 
  

2. “Animal” means any bird, reptile, amphibian, or mammal excluding humans and wildlife. 
 

3. “Animal Material” means any excrement and includes all material accumulated on Property 
from pet pens or pet yards, stables, veterinary clinics, animal hospitals, kennels, or feed lots. 

  
4. “At Large” means an Animal that is not on a Leash, except:  

 

9

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 2 of 31 
 

i) when the Animal is fully contained upon and within private Property with the consent of the 
Owner or Person in control of the Property; or 
 

ii) when the Animal is under control of the Owner or of a Competent Person and upon the 
Property of the Owner or within an Off Leash Area; or  
 

iii) while the Animal is participating in an organized show or competition and under the control 
of a Competent Person.  

  
5. “Attack” means any application of force by an animal causing an injury (Minor or Severe).  

 
6. “Bark” means howling, whining, whimpering, baying, or barking. 

 
7. “Bee” means the insect Apis Mellifera L.  

 
8. “Waste” means the carcass and offal of an animal in whole or in part and includes animal or 

human excrement or manure. 
 

9. "Bite" means an injury by teeth, including but not limited, to a bruise, a laceration, a puncture, 
or a bone break.  

 
10.  “Cat” means any domestic member of the Felidae family.   

  
11. ”Chief Administrative Officer” or “CAO” means the individual appointed by Council to the 

position of Chief Administrative Officer under section 205 of the Municipal Government Act 
and pursuant to the Chief Administrative Officer Bylaw; or anyone authorized to act on his/her 
behalf.   
 

12. “Communicable Disease” means diseases and zoonotic diseases that can pass from animal to 
animal.   
 

13. “Competent Person” means a Person who is physically and mentally capable of restraining and 
controlling a Dog or a Cat to an extent that the Dog or a Cat cannot interfere with other 
Persons or animals or cause Damage to Property. 
 

14. “Coop” means a fully enclosed outdoor weatherproof structure used for the keeping of 
Urban Chickens meeting required structural specifications in the Land Use Bylaw.  

 
15. “Council” means the Town of Olds municipal Council.  

 
16. “Dog” means a domestic member of the Canidae family.   

 
17. “Heat” means a recurring period of sexual receptivity in many female mammals.  

 
18. “Hen” means a domesticated female chicken.  

  
19.  “Highway” means any thoroughfare, street, road, trail, avenue, parkway, driveway, viaduct, 

lane, alley, square, bridge, causeway, trestle way or other place or any part of any of them, 

10

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 3 of 31 
 

whether publicly or privately owned, that the public is ordinarily entitled or permitted to use 
for the passage or Parking of Vehicles and includes:  
  

i.  a Sidewalk, including a Boulevard adjacent to the Sidewalk, and 
  

ii. if a ditch lies adjacent to and parallel with the Roadway, the ditch, and  
  

iii. if a Highway right of way is contained between fences or between a fence and one side 
of the Roadway, all the land between the fences, or all the land between the fence and 
the edge of the Roadway, as the case may be,  

  
but does not include a place declared by provincial regula�on not to be a Highway.   

 
20. “Impound” means to take possession of and arrange for the lodging of and caring for 

a Dog, or a Cat, at a facility contracted to the Town for that purpose. 
 

21. “Leash” means any material that is less than 2 meters in length capable of humanely 
restraining a Dog, or a Cat. 

 
22. “Licence” means a Dog, or Urban Hen Licence issued by the Town to the Owner of a Dog or 

Urban Hen. 
 

23. “Livestock” includes, but is not limited to:  
 

i. horse, mule, ass, swine, emu, ostrich, llama, alpaca, sheep, or goat;  
 

ii. domestically reared or kept deer, reindeer, moose, elk, or bison; farm-bred, fur-
bearing animals including foxes and mink; animals of the bovine species;  
 

iii. animals of the avian species including chickens, turkeys, ducks, geese, or pheasants;  
 

iv. and all other animals that are kept for agricultural purposes, but does not include cats, 
dogs, or other domesticated household pets.  

 
24.  “Minor Injury” means any physical injury to another domes�c animal or a person, caused by 

an animal, that results in bleeding, bruising, tearing of skin or any other injury that is not life-
threatening, disfiguring or debilita�ng.  
 

25. “Municipal Viola�on Ticket” means a Town-issued no�ce that alleges an offence and provides a 
person with the opportunity to pay an amount to the Town in lieu of prosecu�on for the 
offence.  
 

26. “Noise” means sound which in the opinion of the Peace Officer, having regard for all 
circumstances, including the �me of day and the nature of the ac�vity genera�ng the sound, is 
likely to unreasonably annoy or disturb persons or to injure, endanger or detract from the 
comfort, repose, health, peace, or safety of persons within the boundary of the Town. 

 

11

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 4 of 31 
 

27. “Off Leash Area” means an area established, by resolution of Council, as being an area where 
a Dog, that is under the control of a Competent Person, is permitted with such Dog being off 
a Leash.   

 
28. “Officer” means a person appointed by the Town to enforce the provisions of this bylaw 

including a Bylaw Enforcement Officer, Community Peace Officer, or a member of the RCMP.   
 

29. “Owner” or “Owners” in respect to a Dog, Cat, Hen, or Rooster means:  
 

i. a Person, partnership, association, or corporation owning, possessing, or having 
control over a Dog, Cat, Hen, or Rooster;  
 

ii. a Person permitting any Dog or Cat, to remain about his/her house or Premises; 
  

iii. a Person whom a Dog, or Urban Hen Licence has been issued; or  
 

iv. a Person who collects or assumes responsibility for a Dog, Cat, Hen, or Rooster that has 
been seized pursuant to the provisions of this Bylaw.  

  
30. “Payment in Lieu" means a voluntary payment made within 21 days of the offence date 

recorded on a Municipal Violation Ticket. 
  

31. “Peace Officer” means a Person employed for the purposes of preserving and 
maintaining the public peace, and includes: 
 

i) a Police Officer under the Police Act; 
 

ii) a Peace Officer appointed under the Peace Office Act for the purpose of the Act; and  
 
iii) a Bylaw Enforcement Officer or Community Peace Officer authorized to enforce 

this Bylaw in accordance with their appointment. 
 

32. “Person” means any individual, firm, partnership, associa�on, corpora�on, company, or 
society but, unless the context otherwise requires, does not include the Town. 

 
33. “Prohibited Animal” means any animal(s), as outlined in Schedule “2” contained 

in this bylaw. 
 

34. “Property” means any public or private land or Building located within the Town.  
 

35. “Roadway” means that part of a Highway intended for use by vehicular traffic. 
 

36. “Rooster” means a domesticated male chicken.  
 

37. “Schedule” means a schedule attached to and forming part of this Bylaw. 
  

38. “Service Dog” means a qualified Service Dog as defined in the Service Dogs Act, RSA 
2007, c. S-7.5 and the Service Qualifications Regulations AR 59/2017.  

12

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 5 of 31 
 

  
39. “Severe Injury” means any physical injury to another domes�c animal, or a person caused by a 

Dog that is life threatening or results in broken bones or lacera�ons requiring sutures or 
cosme�c surgery. 

40. “Threatening Behaviour” means a behaviour that creates a reasonable apprehension of a 
threat of physical injury and may include growling, lunging, snarling, or chasing in a menacing 
fashion. 

 
41. “Town” means the Town of Olds, a municipal corporation of the Province of Alberta, and 

includes, where the context so requires, the area contained within the boundaries of the Town 
of Olds.  
 

42. “Urban Hen” means a hen that is at least sixteen (16) weeks of age.  
 

43. “Urban Hen Licence” means a licence issued pursuant to this bylaw which authorizes the 
holder to keep Urban Hens on a specific property within the Town.  
 

44. "Veterinarian" means a registered Veterinarian as defined in the Veterinary Profession Act, 
R.S.A. 2000, c.V-2.  

 
45. “Vicious Dog” means a Dog that, whether on public or private Property, has: 

 
i. biten, atacked, chased, injured, or caused injury to a Person or other animal; 

 
ii. created the reasonable apprehension of a threat of physical injury to a Person or other 

Animals; 
 

iii. in the opinion of a Peace Officer, based on observa�on or based on facts gathered 
through an inves�ga�on, or which in the opinion of a Judge or Jus�ce of the Provincial 
Court who has entered a convic�on in respect of the Dog for a contraven�on of this 
Bylaw, presents a threat of serious harm to a Person or persons or other animals; or 
 

iv. been declared by a Court to be a “Dangerous Dog” or declared pursuant to a Bylaw of 
another municipal jurisdic�on to be a Vicious Dog or otherwise a danger or threat to 
persons or other animals. 

 
46. “Violation Ticket” means a Violation Ticket issued in accordance with the Provincial Offences 

Procedure Act R.S.A. 2000, c.P-34.   
 

 
PART 3 

STATEMENT OF TO WHOM AND TO WHAT THE BYLAW APPLIES 
 

47. This bylaw pertains to the regulation of Animal control within the Town of Olds, encompassing 
the management of domestic, livestock, and wildlife animals, as well as activities associated 
with them.  

 

13

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 6 of 31 
 

PART 4 
GENERAL RULES AND PROVISIONS 

  
License's Required   
  

48. No person shall own, keep, or cause to be kept any Prohibited Animal(s) in the Town of Olds.  
 

49. Any Animal except Urban Hens shall wear a Licence purchased for that Animal when the 
Animal is off the property of the Owner;  
 

50. The Owner of an Animal shall:  
  

i) be eighteen (18) years of age or older.  
 
ii) obtain a Town Licence for their Animal on the first day on which the Town office is 

open for business before the animal reaches 12 months of age; and forthwith notify an 
Officer of any change with respect to any information provided in an application for a 
Licence under this Bylaw.  

 
iii) Shall provide the necessary documentation, including, but not limited to, Veterinarian 

records, when requested by an Officer.  
  

51. When applying for a Licence under this Bylaw, the Owner shall provide the following:  
  

i) description of the Animal including breed, name, gender, and age;  
 

ii) the name, address, and telephone number of the Owner;  
 

iii) if the Owner is a body corporate, the name, address, and telephone number of the 
natural person responsible for the Animal;   

 
iv) information establishing that the Animal is spayed or neutered, if applicable;  

 
v) any other information which the Town of Olds may require; and purchase the 

annual Licence fee for each Animal, as set out in Town of Olds Rate Bylaw.  
 

52. No person shall give false information when applying for a Licence pursuant to this Bylaw.  
  

53. Animal License's shall be purchased once for the lifetime of the animal from the Town for each 
Animal owned, at the fee as set out in the Town of Olds Rate Bylaw:  

 
i) before the animal reaches 12 months of age; and  

 
ii) shall always be worn by the animal when the animal is off the owner’s property.  

  
54. No animal Licence shall be required for an animal that is accompanying a person who is  

  visiting the Town if they do not stay in the Town more than thirty (30) days:  
  

14

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 7 of 31 
 

i) The owner must be able to produce proof that they are visiting the Town not more 
than thirty (30) days;  

 
ii) This section includes animals brought into the Town for the purposes of a competition, 

parade, fair, exhibition, or other similar event, provided those animals are always 
under the care and supervision of a competent person. All other provisions of this 
Bylaw shall still apply.  

 
iii) The regulations of this bylaw shall not apply to Special Event activities under the Town 

of Olds Special Events Bylaw.  
 

55. A police service member shall not be required to obtain a Licence for their service animals.  
  
 Replacement of a Lost Licence  
  

56. Upon losing an Animal Licence, an Owner of an Animal may obtain a Licence replacement for a 
fee as set out in the Town of Olds Rate Bylaw.  

  
Non-Transferable  
  

57. An Animal Licence issued pursuant to this Bylaw is not transferable.  
  
Rebate  
  

58. No Owner shall be entitled to a Licence rebate under this Bylaw.  
  
Service Dog  
  

59. Where an individual with a disability is the Owner of a Service Dog trained and used to assist 
such individual, if that individual provides to the satisfaction of the Town, identification that 
identifies the individual and the individual’s (registered or qualified) Service Dog, then there 
shall be no fee payable by the Owner for a Licence for the registered Service Dog as set out in 
the Town of Olds Rate Bylaw.  

 
Keeping of Dogs and Cats 
 

60. No person shall keep or harbor more than six (6) dogs and six (6) cats on any premises with a 
Municipal address in the Town. This section does not apply:  

  
i) to dogs under the age of six (6) months;  
 
ii) if a person has a valid business Licence and development permit to operate a kennel 

facility, veterinarian clinic or hospital, animal breeding establishment, pet store, 
temporary dog show, humane society, or other similar approved business activity.  

 
 
 
 

15

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 8 of 31 
 

PART 5 
 RESPONSIBLE OWNERSHIP & CONTROL 

 
Animal Care Duties 

 
61. A person who owns or is in charge of an animal: 

 
(a) must ensure that the animal has adequate food and water, 

 
(b) must provide the animal with adequate care when the animal is wounded or ill, 

 
(c) must provide the animal with reasonable protec�on from injurious heat or cold, and 

 
(d) must provide the animal with adequate shelter, ventilation, and space. 

 
Animals in Off-Leash Area 
 

62. Unless a visible sign indicates that the area has been designated as an Off- Leash Area an 
Owner must keep the Owner’s dog on a Leash.   

  
63. An Owner must not allow an Animal other than a dog to enter or remain in an Off- Leash Area.  

   
64. Dogs must be under control in designate off-leash areas.    

  
65. Whether a dog is under control is a question of fact to be determined by a Court hearing a 

prosecution pursuant to this Section of the Bylaw, having taken into consideration any or all 
the following:   

  
i) Whether the dog is at such a distance from its Owner so as to be incapable of 

responding to voice, sound or sight commands;   
 
ii) Whether the dog has responded to voice, sound, or sight commands from the Owner;  
 
iii) Whether the dog has Bitten, Attacked, or done any act that injures a Person or another 

Animal;   
 
iv) Whether the dog chased or otherwise threatened a Person;  
 
v) Whether the dog caused damage to property.   

  
66. An Owner must not have more than 6 dogs off leash in an Off- Leash Area at one time.   

  
67. An Owner who fails to immediately restrain and remove a dog upon it engaging in any of the 

activities listed in Section 84 (threatening behaviour), by restraining the dog on a leash and 
removing the dog from the Off- Leash Area, is guilty of an offence.   

  

16

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 9 of 31 
 

68. No Owner of an Animal in Heat, Animal suffering from rabies or a Vicious Animal shall permit 
the Animal to be in an Off-Leash Area at any time.  
 

69. A Peace Officer may, upon a dog being in Heat or upon the Owner being in contravention of 
any provision of this Bylaw, order the Owner of an off-leash dog, in an Off-Leash Area, to: 

i) restrain the dog by means of a leash; or 
ii) remove the dog from an Off-Leash Area; 
iii) or both. 

  
70. Nothing in this Section relieves a person from complying with any other provisions of this 

Bylaw.  
  
Animals in Prohibited Areas  

  
71. The Owner of an Animal shall ensure that such Animal does not enter or remain in or on:  

  
i) A Playground, any school property play area, Sports Field, Splash Park, Storm Pond, 

Skate Park, Ice rinks; or 
 
ii) any other area where Animals are prohibited by posted signs.   

  
Control of Rabies 
  

72. An Owner of an Animal which is suffering from Rabies shall:  
  

i) Immediately report the matter to the Veterinarian Inspector of the Health or Animals 
Branch of the local office of the Federal department of Agriculture, and Officer or 
designate; and   

 
ii) confine or isolate the Animal, in such a manner as prescribed so as to prevent further 

spread of the disease;  and  
 
iii) not permit the Animal to be in any public place; and  
 
iv) not keep the Animal in contact with or in proximity to any other Animal.  

 
Noise  
  

73. The Owner of an animal must ensure that such Animal does not bark, howl, or otherwise 
make or cause a noise which disturbs any Person.  

 
74. If a complaint regarding noise is made in relation to this Bylaw, it will trigger an 

investigation process by administration which relies on the complainant making a 
statement and recording a “Bark Log” attached in schedule “6.”  

  
75. Whether any noise is excessive to the extent that it justifiably annoys or disturbs a 

person, is a question of fact to be determined by a court hearing and prosecution 
pursuant to this section of the Bylaw.  

17

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 10 of 31 
 

 Removing Excrement  
  

76. If an Animal defecates on any public or private property other than the property of its  
  Owner, the Owner shall remove such feces immediately.  

 
77. The Owner of an Animal shall ensure that feces left by it on the property of the Owner does 

not accumulate to such an extent that it seriously interferes with other property owners’ 
reasonable enjoyment of their property, due to excessive odor and/or unsightliness. 

 
Running at Large 
  

78. All dogs must be on a leash at all times, unless posted signs indicate otherwise, or on property 
where the owner of the dog has the right of occupation.  
 

79. The Owner of an Animal must ensure that their Animal is not Running at Large.   
 

80. Notwithstanding section (78), an Owner of a dog that is not a Vicious Animal is not 
required to have the dog on a leash in a designated Off- Leash Area.   

 
Securing Animals in Vehicles  
  

81. No person shall allow an Animal to be outside of the passenger cab of a motor vehicle on a 
roadway, regardless of whether the motor vehicle is moving or parked, unless the animal is:  

  
i) in a fully enclosed trailer;  
 
ii) in a fully enclosed cargo area of the bed of a motor vehicle;  
 
iii) contained in a ventilated kennel or similar device securely fastened to the cargo bed of 

the motor vehicle; or  
 
iv) securely tethered in such a manner that the Animal is not standing on bare metal, 

cannot jump or be thrown from the motor vehicle, is not in danger of strangulation, 
and cannot reach beyond the outside edges of the motor vehicle.  
 

82. The Owner of an Animal left unattended in a motor vehicle shall ensure:  
 

i) the Animal is restrained in a manner that prevents contact between the Animal and 
any member of the public or other Animal; and  
 

ii) the Animal is not confined in such a manner that places it in a life or health threatening 
situation by exposure to a period of extreme heat or cold, without proper ventilation 
or other protection from such heat or cold.   

 
 Scattering Garbage 
 

83. The Owner of a Dog shall ensure that it does not upset any waste receptacle or scatter garbage 
on public or private property not belonging to the Owner of the Dog. 

18

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 11 of 31 
 

Threatening Behaviors  
  

84. The Owner of any Animal must ensure that such Animal does not:  
  

i) Bark at, Bite, or chase other Animals, Livestock, or other domesticated household 
pets, in a threatening manner; 
 

ii) Bark at, or chase bicycles, motor vehicles or other vehicles;   
 
iii) Growl, lunge, snarl, chase or otherwise threaten a Person or Persons, whether on 

the property of the Owner or not;  
 
iv) Cause damage to property or other Animals, whether on the property of the Owner 

or not;  
 

v) Do any act that injures a Person or Persons, whether on the property of the Owner 
or not;  

 
vi) Bite a Person or Persons, whether on the property of the Owner or not;  

 
vii) Attack a Person or Persons, whether on the property of the Owner or not;   

 
viii) Attack another Animal causing Severe Injury, whether on the property of the Owner 

or not;  
 

ix) Cause death to another Animal; or   
 

x) Attack a Person or Persons, whether on the property of the Owner or not, causing 
Severe Injury.  

  
85. No Owner shall use or direct an Animal to atack, chase, harass or threaten a person, Animal, 

Wildlife, Livestock, or other domes�cated household pets. 
 

PART 6 
URBAN LIVESTOCK  

  
Keeping of Urban Hens  
 

86. No person in an urban area shall keep:  
  

i) a Rooster;  
ii) a hen, other than an Urban Hen for which a valid Licence has been issued; or  
iii) more than six (6) Urban Hens per Property.  

  
87. A person may keep up to six (6) Urban Hens upon:  

  
i) Issuance of Development Permit for a Coop;  
ii) Approval of an Urban Hen Licence application; and  

19

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 12 of 31 
 

iii) Paid an annual Urban Hen Licence fee as set out in the Town of Olds Rate Bylaw.  
  

88. An Urban Hen Licence may be issued or renewed if the Town is satisfied that:  
  

i) the applicant is the owner of the property on which the Urban Hens will be kept; or  
ii) that the owner of the property has provided written consent to the applicant;  
iii) the land use designation of the property on which the Urban Hens will be kept allows 

the placement of a Coop for the keeping of Urban Hens;  
iv) the applicant resides on the property on which the Urban Hens will be kept;  
v) all required information has been provided;  
vi) the applicant has taken a course on the safe handling of hens and eggs, prior to issuance 

of a licence;  
vii) the applicant has registered with Alberta’s Premises Identification Program (PID);  
viii) the applicant has complied with all other Provincial and Federal Regulations for the 

keeping of chickens; and  
ix) the applicable licence fee has been paid.  

  
89. The maximum number of Urban Hen Licences that may be issued shall be one Urban Hen 

Licence per two hundred fifty (250) persons based on the population of the Town of Olds as 
determined in the most recent municipal or federal census.  

  
90. An Urban Hen Licence is valid for the period of January 1 to December 31 of the year in  

which it is issued and must be renewed annually prior to February 28 of each 
subsequent year:  

 
i) Urban Hen Licence fees shall not be reduced or prorated no matter the month of 

purchase; and  
ii) Urban Hen Licence fees shall not be refunded or rebated.   

a. An Urban Hen Licence is not transferable from one person to another.  
  

91. An Urban Hen Licence is not transferable from one property to another except:  
  

i) when a licence holder has moved to a new property within the Town, then:  
ii) the licence holder may apply to transfer the licence; and  
iii) an inspection of the new property must be carried out to determine the licence holder is 

still able to meet all requirements for an Urban Hen Licence at such a property.  
  

92. A person to whom an Urban Hen Licence has been issued shall produce the licence upon  
the demand of an Officer.  

  
93. An Urban Hen Licence may be revoked or may not be renewed by the Town if:  

  
i) the applicant or licence holder does not meet or no longer meets the requirements;  
ii) for an Urban Hen Licence as set out in this Bylaw;  
iii) the applicant or licence holder furnishes false information or misrepresents a Bylaw, fact 

or circumstance required pursuant to this Bylaw;  

20

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 13 of 31 
 

iv) the applicant or licence holder has, in the opinion of the Officer, based on reasonable 
grounds, contravened any part of this Bylaw whether the contravention has been 
prosecuted or not  

v) the applicant or licence holder fails to pay a fine imposed by a court for a contravention 
of this Bylaw or any other applicable Bylaw related to the keeping of animals/livestock;  

vi) the applicant or licence holder fails to pay any fee required by this Bylaw;  
vii) the applicant fails to comply with any applicable Provincial and Federal Regulations for 

the keeping of chickens; or 
viii)  in the opinion of the Town, based on reasonable grounds, it is in the public interest to 

do so.  
  

94. In the case of a refusal or revocation of an Urban Hen Licence, the applicant will be given the 
reasons, in writing, within ten (10) days of the refusal. The revocation or refusal may be 
appealed pursuant to the provisions of this Bylaw.  

  
Responsibilities of Owners Keeping of Urban Hens  
  

95. A person who keeps Urban Hens must:  
 

i) must ensure that Coop size meets the Land Use Bylaw;  
ii) ensure that each Coop is located as a structure within the Land Use Bylaw;  
iii) Always keep each Urban Hen in a Coop or pen, and shall not be free range in the yard;  
iv) provide each Urban Hen with food, water, shelter, light, ventilation, care, and 

opportunities for essential behaviours such as scratching, dustbathing, and roosting, all 
sufficient to maintain the urban hen in good health; 

v) maintain the Coop in good repair and sanitary condition, and free from vermin and 
noxious or offensive smells and substances;  

vi) construct and maintain the Coop to prevent any rodent from harbouring underneath, 
within, or within its walls, and to prevent entrance by any other animal;  

vii) keep a food container and water container in the Coop;  
viii) keep the Coop and pen secured at all times;  
ix) remove leftover feed, trash, and manure in a timely manner;  
x) store feed within a fully enclosed container;  
xi) store manure within a fully enclosed container, and store no more than 85 litres (3 cubic 

feet) of manure at any time;  
xii) remove all other manure not used for composting or fertilizing and dispose of such in 

accordance with Town Bylaws;  
xiii) follow biosecurity procedures outlined by the Canadian Food Inspection Agency to 

reduce potential for disease outbreak; and  
xiv) keep Urban Hens for personal use only. 

 
96. No person who keeps Urban Hens shall:  

  
i) sell manure, meat, or other products except eggs derived from an Urban Hen;  
ii) slaughter any Urban Hen on the property;  
iii) dispose of an Urban Hen except by delivering it to a farm, abattoir, veterinarian, 

or other operation that is lawfully permitted to dispose of such; and  

21

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 14 of 31 
 

iv) keep an Urban Hen in a cage, kennel, or any other form of shelter other than a Coop as 
designated by the Land Use Bylaw.  

 
PART 7 

PROHIBITED ANIMALS 
 
Prohibited Animals  
  

97. Apiculture (beekeeping) or keep an apiary (bees) in any area of the Town of Olds is 
not permitted and shall follow the Bee Act of Alberta 2000 Chapter B-2 as amended.  

 
98. No person shall keep an Animal deemed dangerous or objectionable in the opinion of 

the Medical Officer of Health. 
 

99. No person shall keep Pigeons in any area of the Town of Olds for any purpose.   
 

100. No person shall keep a prohibited animal(s), as outlined in Schedule “2”, unless  
authorized by the Town in writing. The Town shall specify the number of Animals permitted, 
including any other conditions with such authorization and must obtain a valid prohibited 
animal licence, as outlined in Town of Olds Rate Bylaw:  

 
i) The Owner of a prohibited animal is guilty of an offence if they fail to comply with the 

written conditions specified by the Town pursuant to this bylaw.  
ii) Prohibited animals are permitted within the Town of Olds if they are involved in 

a competition, parade, fair, exhibition, zoo, or other similar event, provided that prior 
written permission is obtained from the Town, and the animals are always kept secure 
and under control of a competent person.  

 
101. No person shall keep or harbor any animal defined as “Livestock” unless the person holds 

a development permit that authorizes such activities. 
  

102. The Town, may give written notice to the Owner of a prohibited animal, specifying that  
the Animal(s) be removed from the Town by a specified date.  

 
i) The Owner of a prohibited Animal is guilty of an offence if they fail to remove the prohibited 

Animal by the date specified by a Peace Officer.  
 

PART 8 
VICIOUS ANIMALS 

  
Hearing and Order  
  

103. An Animal may be declared to be a Vicious Animal by the Officer or designate:  
  

i) The Owner of an Animal alleged to be a Vicious Animal shall be provided a Notice of 
the animal being deemed vicious. The Notice shall set out the reasons and the process 
of appeal to the Animal Owner;  
 

22

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 15 of 31 
 

ii) The Officer or designate may order the Owner of an Animal alleged to be a Vicious 
Animal to surrender the Animal to a Peace Officer and the Animal shall be taken and 
held in an Animal Shelter at the Owner’s cost pending the outcome of the Hearing and 
any appeals; or  
 

iii) The Officer or designate may allow the Owner to keep possession of an Animal alleged 
to be a Vicious Animal, pending the outcome of the Hearing and any related appeals, 
with contain and control conditions, which in the opinion of the Officer or designate, 
ensures the safety of the public.  

 
104. Upon hearing the evidence, the CAO may make an order declaring the Animal to be a  

Vicious Animal or order the Animal destroyed, or both, if in the opinion of the CAO the Animal 
is likely to cause serious damage or injury to persons, property or other animals, Wildlife, 
Livestock, or other domesticated household pets, considering the following factors:  

 
i) whether the Animal, when unprovoked, has shown a tendency to pursue, chase or 

approach in a menacing fashion any person or persons or other Animal, Wildlife, 
Livestock or other domesticated household pets upon the street, sidewalk or on any 
public or private property;  

 
ii) whether the Animal has attempted to Bite, or has bitten any person or Animal, 

Wildlife, Livestock, or other domesticated household pets;  
 

iii) whether the Animal has injured, attacked, or caused Severe Injury to any person or 
Animal, Wildlife, Livestock, or other domesticated household pets;  

 
iv) the Aggression Scale Classification made by a Peace Officer pursuant to Schedule 3;  

 
v) the circumstances surrounding any previous biting, attacking, or injuring incidents; 

and  
 

vi) whether the Animal has caused death to another Animal, Wildlife, Livestock, or 
other domesticated household pet.  

  
105. A Vicious Animal order pursuant to this Bylaw continues to apply if the Animal is sold,  

given, or transferred to a new Owner and the new Owner must be made aware of the  
order.  

  
106. The Owner of a Vicious or dangerous Animal must immediately notify the Officer or designate 

upon relocating in the Town. The Officer or designate may take cognizance of an order issued 
in another jurisdiction and direct that the order applies within the Town.  

  
107. The Owner of an Animal alleged to be a Vicious Animal shall comply with a surrender  

order made by the Officer or designate, any contain, and control conditions prescribed  
by the CAO, Officer, or designate or Justice pursuant to this bylaw.  

  
Vicious Dog Regulations  
  

23

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 16 of 31 
 

108. The Owner of a Vicious Animal shall within five (5) days after the Animal has been  
declared vicious by a CAO or Justice:  

  
i) have a licenced veterinarian tattoo or implant an electronic identification microchip 

in or on the Vicious Animal identifying the Animal with a unique identifier to the 
Animal; 

 
ii) provide the information contained on the tattoo or in the microchip to an Officer; 

and 
 

iii) have the Vicious Animal spayed or neutered if such a procedure has not yet been 
carried out on the Animal.  

  
109. The Owner of a Vicious Animal shall:  

  
i) forthwith notify an Officer should the Vicious Animal be sold, gifted, or transferred 

to another person or die; and  
 
ii) remain liable for the actions of the Vicious Animal until formal notification of sale, 

gift, or transfer is given to an Officer.  
  

110. With regards to the behavior of a Vicious Animal, the Owner of a Vicious Animal shall:  
  

i) ensure that such Vicious Animal does not engage in any threatening behaviors 
prohibited by this Bylaw;  

 
ii) ensure that such Vicious Animal does not damage or destroy public or private 

property;  
 

iii) ensure that such Vicious Animal is not Running at Large; and  
 

iv) forthwith notify an Officer of the Vicious Animal Running at Large in the event of 
escape.  

  
111. The Owner of a Vicious Animal shall ensure that when such Vicious Animal is confined  

indoors on the property of the Owner and such Vicious Animal is:  
 

i) under the control of a person eighteen (18) years of age or older.  
  

112. The Owner of a Vicious Animal shall ensure that when such Vicious Animal is confined  
outdoors on the property of the Owner such Vicious Animal is:  

 
a) in a locked pen or other structure, constructed to prevent the escape of the Vicious 

Animal, and capable of preventing the entry of any person not in control of the Vicious 
Animal. The locked pen or structure shall:  
 

24

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 17 of 31 
 

i) have secure sides and a secure top, and if it has no bottom secured to the sides, the 
sides must be embedded in the ground to a minimum depth of thirty (30) 
centimeters;  

ii) provide the Vicious Animal with shelter from the elements;  
iii) be of the minimum dimensions of one and one-half (1.5) meters by three (3) meters 

and be a minimum one and one-half (1.5) meters in height; and  
iv) not be within one (1) meter of the property line or within five (5) meters of a 

neighbouring dwelling unit.  
 

b) Securely muzzled, and under the control of a person eighteen (18) years of age or older 
by means of a Leash not exceeding one (1) meter in length in a manner that prevents it 
from being in contravention of this Bylaw.  

  
113. The Owner of a Vicious Animal shall always ensure that, when off the property of the  

Owner, such Vicious Animal is securely:  
 

i) muzzled;  
 

ii) harnessed or leashed on a lead, which length shall not exceed one (1) meter in a 
manner that prevents it from being in contravention of this Bylaw, as well as 
preventing damage to public and private property; and  
 

iii) under the control of a person eighteen (18) years of age or older.  
  

114. The Owner of a Vicious Animal shall, within five (5) days of the date of the order declaring the 
Animal to be vicious, display a sign on his premise warning of the presence of the Vicious 
Animal in the form illustrated in Schedule “5”:  

 
i) The sign shall be placed at each entrance to the premises where the Vicious Animal is 

kept and, on the pen, or other structure in which the Vicious Animal is confined;  
 

ii) The sign shall be posted to be clearly visible and capable of being seen by any person 
accessing the premises; and  
 

iii) Sign purchase is the responsibility of the Vicious Animal owner.  
 
No�ce to Contain and Control 
 

115. The Officer or designate may allow an Owner to keep possession of an Animal 
alleged to have been engaged in any threa�ng behavior as set out in this Bylaw by 
serving no�ce with contain and control condi�ons which, in the opinion of the Officer or 
designate, ensures the safety of the public. 

 
116. The contain and control condi�ons shall be reviewed annually by the Officer or 

designate, considering any further contraven�ons of this Bylaw, and may be con�nued, 
revised, or revoked. 

 
117. The Owner of an Animal shall comply with contain and control condi�ons set out in a 

25

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 18 of 31 
 

notice issued by the Officer or designate pursuant to this section. 
 
Aggression Scale Classifica�on 
 

118. An Officer inves�ga�ng a complaint involving the threatening behavior of an Animal 
shall classify the behavior by means of reference to the Dr. Ian Dunbar’s Aggression 
Scale, as set out in Schedule “3” of this Bylaw. 

 
Seizure 
 

119. A Peace Officer may seize, retain, and take to an Animal Shelter any Animal, or Vicious Animal: 
 

i) which is found Running at Large; 
 

ii) which is alleged to have engaged in any threatening behaviors as set out in this Bylaw; 
 

iii) pending the outcome of an applica�on to declare the Animal to be a Vicious Animal or 
to destroy the Animal; 

 
iv) which is required to be impounded pursuant to the provisions of any Statue of Canada, 

or of the Province of Alberta, or any Regula�on made thereunder; or 
 

v) which has been le� unsupervised while tethered or �ed on private property not owned 
by the Animal’s Owner; and 

 
vi) Animal’s owner shall be responsible for all fees associated to the animal being 

impounded. 
 

120. An Officer may enter onto any property surrounding any building, whether such property is 
enclosed by a fence or other such enclosure and seize any Animal which has been observed 
Running at Large and is alleged to have been exhibi�ng threatening behavior as set out in this 
Bylaw and to take such reasonable measures necessary to subdue any such Animal, including 
the use of tranquilizer equipment and other capture devices. 

 
Obstruc�on and Interference 
 

121. No person, whether that person is the Owner of an Animal, or Vicious Animal which is being or 
has been pursued or seized shall: 

 
i) interfere with or atempt to obstruct a Peace Officer who is atemp�ng to seize or who 

has seized an Animal which is subject to seizure; 
 

ii) open any vehicle in which seized animals have been placed; or 
 

iii) remove, or atempt to remove, from the possession of a Peace Officer, any Animal 
which has been seized. 

 
122. No person shall: 

26

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 19 of 31 
 

 
i)  un�e, loosen, or otherwise free an Animal which has been �ed or otherwise 

restrained; 
 

ii) negligently or willfully open a gate, door or other opening in a fence or enclosure in 
which an Animal has been confined and thereby allow the Animal to run at large in the 
Town of Olds; 
 

iii) en�ce an Animal to Run at Large; 
 

iv) tease an Animal caught or confined in an enclosed space; 
 

v) throw or poke any object into an enclosed space when an Animal is caught or confined 
therein; 
 

vi) provide false informa�on to an Officer. 
 

123. The above sec�ons shall not apply to an Officer who is atemp�ng to seize or who has seized 
an Animal which is subject pursuant to this Bylaw. 

 
No�fica�on to Owner 
 

124. If an Officer knows or can ascertain the name of the Owner of any seized Animal, 
he shall serve the Owner with a copy of the No�ce in Schedule “4” of this Bylaw, either 
personally, or by leaving it with any adult person at, or by mailing it to or by leaving it at, 
the last known address of the Owner: 

 
a.  An Owner of an Animal to whom a No�ce is mailed is deemed to have received a 

No�ce within seven (7) days from the date it is mailed. A No�ce personally 
delivered to the Owner or any adult person at the last known address of the 
Owner shall be deemed to be served on the day of service. 

 
Reclaiming 
 

125. The Owner of any seized Animal, or Vicious Animal may reclaim the Animal, or Vicious Animal 
by:  

 
i) paying to the Town the costs of impoundment, any care, subsistence, or veterinary 

charges incurred as set out in Town of Olds Rate Bylaw; 
 

ii) obtaining the licence for such Animal, and Vicious Animal where a licence is required 
pursuant to this bylaw; and 
 

iii) complying with any all provisions which may by imposed in accordance with this Bylaw. 
 

126. Where an Animal, or Vicious Animal is claimed, the Owner shall provide proof of 
ownership. 

27

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 20 of 31 
 

Inspections 
 

127. Subject to the entry no�ce provisions of the Municipal Government Act, R.S.A. 2000 c.M-26, an 
Officer of the Town, bearing proper iden�fica�on, may enter a premises to conduct an 
inspec�on in order to determine whether or not this Bylaw or an order issued pursuant to this 
Bylaw is being complied with and, where it is determined that this Bylaw or an order has been 
contravened, may, seize and remove from the premises an Animal: 

  
i) No person shall interfere with or atempt to obstruct a Peace Officer who is atemp�ng 

to conduct an inspec�on or seizure of an Animal. 

Appeal 

128. The Owner of an Animal who has received a no�ce that their Dog is declared a Vicious Dog 
pursuant to Part 8 of this bylaw, or their Licence has been refused or revoked pursuant to this 
Bylaw within fourteen (14) days a�er the date the decision was communicated to the Person or 
Owner respec�vely, may by writen no�ce request the Chief Administra�ve Officer to review the 
decision. A�er reviewing the decision, the Chief Administra�ve Officer may confirm, contrast, 
add to, or cancel the decision.  

 
PART 9 

AUTHORITY 
 
Authority of the Officer (or designate) 
 

129. The Peace Officer or designate, shall not sell, euthanize, or otherwise dispose of a 
seized Animal un�l an Animal is retained for: 

 
i) Ten (10) days a�er the Owner has received no�ce or is deemed to have received 

no�ce that the Animal has been seized; or 
 

ii) Seventy-two (72) hours, if the name and address of the Owner is not known: and 
 

iii) The Officer may retain a seized Animal for a longer period if in his opinion the 
circumstances warrant the expense or there are reasonable grounds to believe that 
the seized Animal is a con�nued danger to a person, Animal, Wildlife, Livestock, or 
other domes�cated household pets, or property. 

 
Euthanizing Due to Injury 
 

130. At the expira�on of the seventy-two (72) hour period, the Town is authorized to; 
i) Surrender the animal to a Licenced adop�on facility such as a Humane Society or SPCA. 
ii) Con�nue to impound the animal for an indefinite period or such further period of �me 

as a Peace Officer, in his or her discre�on, may decide. The owner will be liable to pay 
the Town all costs incurred by the Town under this Bylaw in respect of such ac�ons; or 

iii) Destroy the animal in a humane manner. 
 

131. Any veterinarian, being properly and fully qualified as required by the province of 

28

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 21 of 31 
 

Alberta, may destroy any Animal delivered to the veterinarian a�er injury to the Animal, 
providing the injury is determined by the veterinarian to be such serious nature, based 
upon their professional opinion, that the Animal must be destroyed immediately and such 
costs of the destruc�on may be billed to the Town, and the Town is at liberty to take all 
steps considered necessary to recover such costs from the Owner of the Animal. 

 
Fee for Euthanizing 
 

132. When the Officer or designate, decides to euthanize a seized Animal pursuant to this Bylaw, 
the Owner shall pay to the Town of Olds, Veterinary fees as set out in the Town of Olds Rate 
Bylaw.  

Require Spay/Neuter 

133. The Peace Officer may, before selling an unclaimed seized Animal, require that the Animal be 
spayed or neutered. 

 
Full Right and Title 
 

134. The purchaser of a seized Animal pursuant to the provisions of this Bylaw shall obtain full right 
and �tle to the Animal and the right and �tle of the Former Owner of the Animal shall cease 
thereupon.   

 
  

PART 10 
EXEMPTIONS 

 
135. Nothing in this Bylaw shall apply to: 

 
i) Officers ac�ng in accordance with their official employment du�es; or 
ii) A Town Employee ac�ng in accordance with their official employment du�es. 

 
 PART 11 

ENFORCEMENT AND OFFENCES 
 
Enforcement  
 

136. A Peace Officer is hereby authorized and empowered to issue a Notice, Municipal Violation 
Ticket to any Person who the Peace Officer has reasonable and probable grounds to believe 
has contravened any provision of this Bylaw. The Peace Officer may commence proceedings 
against such Person.  
  

137. Municipal Violation Tickets and Violation Tickets will be issued in accordance with the 
Provincial Offences Act and the Town’s General Penalty Bylaw.  

  
Continuing Offence  
  

29

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 22 of 31 
 

138. In the case of an offence that is of a continuing nature, a contravention of a provision of this 
Bylaw constitutes a separate offence with respect to each day, or part of a day, during which 
the contravention continues, and a person guilty of such an offence is liable to a fine in an 
amount not less than that established by this Bylaw for each such separate offence.  
   

Fines and Penalties  
 

139. Any person who contravenes any provision of this Bylaw is guilty of an offence and liable on 
summary conviction to a fine of not more than TWO THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS 
($2500.00) and not less than FIFTY ($50.00).   
  

i) The specified fines for an office committed pursuant to this bylaw are set out in the 
attached Schedule “1”.  

  
Interference With Duties  
  

140. It is an offence to interfere, obstruct, or hinder any person authorized by the Town, including 
Officers and other authorized persons, in the exercise or performance of the person’s powers 
pursuant to this bylaw.  

  
Recovery of Enforcement Costs  
  

141. The expenses and costs incurred by the Town in the enforcement of this bylaw may be 
collected as a civil debt that is the subject of the enforcement proceedings under this bylaw.  

  
Miscellaneous  
  

142. Nothing in this bylaw relieves a person from complying with any federal, provincial, or 
municipal law or regulation, other bylaw or any requirements of any lawful permit, order, 
consent, or other direction.  

  
143. Where this bylaw refers to another act, regulation, or agency, it includes reference to any act, 

regulation, or agency that may be substituted.  
  

PART 12 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Severability  
 

144. If any provision of these bylaws shall be held invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or 
unenforceability shall attach only to that provision and shall not in any manner affect or render 
invalid or unenforceable any other provision, and these bylaws shall be interpreted and enforced 
as if the invalid or unenforceable provision were not contained herein. 

 
Effective Date  
 

145. This Bylaw shall come into effect at such time as it has received third reading and has been 
signed in accordance with the Municipal Government Act RSA 2000 C M-26, as amended from 
time to time.   

30

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 23 of 31 
 

READINGS 
 
Read for the first time on the ____ day of _________ 2024.   
 
Read for a second time on the ____ day of _________ 2024.  
 
Read for a third and final time on the ____day of ___________ 2024.  
  
 
SIGNATURE LINE   
  
 
 
 
 
________________________________   ___________________________________  
Judy Dahl,       Brent Williams,  
Mayor        Chief Administrative Officer  
  
 
 
SIGNED by the Chief Elected Official and the Chief Administrative Officer this ____ day of _____, 2024.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

31

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 24 of 31 
 

SCHEDULE “1” 
FINES AND PENALTIES 

 
 
Unless otherwise noted all offences of the Community Standards Bylaw have the following 
specified penalties.  
  

Penalty in lieu of 
Prosecution (PLP)  

1st   
Offence  

2nd  
Offence  

3rd  
Offence   

$125  $250  $500  $750  
  
  
SPECIFIC PENALTIES ARE AS FOLLOWS:  
  
Part   Section  PLP  1st Offence 2nd Offence 3rd Offence 

4  48  $250  $500  $1000  $1500  
4  49  $250  $500  $1000  $1500 
5  61  $250  $500  $1000  $1500 
5  62-71  $250  $500  $1000  $1500 
5  72  $500  $1000  $2000  $2500 
5  76-82  $250  $500  $1000  $1500 
5  84-85  $500  $1000  $2000  $2500 
7  97-102  $250  $500  $1000  $1500 
8  105-117 $500  $1000  $2000  $2500 
8  122  $500  $1000  $2000  $2500 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

32

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 25 of 31 
 

SCHEDULE “2” 
PROHIBITED ANIMALS 

 
1. All protected or endangered animals whose possession or sale is prohibited because they are designated 

as protected or endangered pursuant to interna�onal, federal, or provincial law, unless the animal has 
been obtained in accordance with interna�onal, federal, or provincial law. 
 

2. All dogs, other than domes�cated dogs (Canis Familiaris) including but not limited to 
       wolf, coyote, fox, hyena, dingo, jackal, raccoon dog, bush dog, and any hybrid offspring 
       of a wild dog and a domes�cated dog. 
 

3. All cats, other than domes�cated cats (Felis Catus) including but not limited to lion, �ger, 
leopard, ocelot, jaguar, puma, panther, mountain lion, cheetah, wild cat, cougar, bobcat, 
lynx, serval, and any hybrid offspring of a wild cat and a domes�cated cat. 

 
4. All bears. 

 
5. All fur bearing animals of the family Mustelidae including but not limited to weasel, 

marten, mink, badger, ermine, skunk, oter, pole cat, wolverine, but not including the 
domes�c ferret (Putorius Furo). 

 
6. All Procyonidae including raccoon, kinkajou, cacomistle, cat-bear, panda, and 

coa�mundi. 
 

7. All carnivorous mammals of the family Viverridae including but not limited to: civet, 
mongoose, and genet. 

 
8. All bats. 
 
9. All non-human primates. 
 
10. All squirrels. 
 
11. All rats, including the Norway rat. 
 
12. Rep�les (Rep�lia): 
 

a. All Heloderma�dae (Gila monster and Mexican bearded lizard); 
 

b. All front-fanged venomous snakes, even if de-venomized, including, but not limited to: 
 

i) All Viperidae (viper, pit viper); 
 
ii) All Elapidae (cobra, mamba, krait, coral snake); 
 
iii) All Atractaspididae (African burrowing asp); 
 

33

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 26 of 31 
 

iv)  All Hydrophiidae (sea snake); and 
 
v) All La�caudidae (sea krait). 
 
vi) All venomous, mid-, or rear-fanged, Duvernoy-glanded members of the 
family Colubridae, even if de-venomized; 

 
c.   Any member or hybrid offspring of the family Boidae, including but not limited to 

the common or green anaconda and yellow anaconda, save and except 
members of the family Boidae reaching an adult length of no greater than two (2) 
meters; 

 
d.   Any member of the family Pythonidae, including but not limited to the African rock 

python, the Indian or Burmese python, the Amethys�ne or scrub python, save 
and except members of the family Pythonidae reaching an adult length of no 
greater than two (2) meters; 

 
e.   Any member of the family Varanidaew, including but not limited to the white 

throated monitor, the water monitor, the Komodo monitor or dragon, the Bomean 
earless monitor, the Nile monitor, the crocodile monitor, save and except 
members of the family Varanidae reaching an adult length of no greater than one 
meter; 
 

d. Any member of the family Iguanidae, including the green or common iguana; 
 

e. Any member of the family Teiidae, including but not limited to the golden, 
common, or black and white tegu; 

 
h.  Members of the family Chelydridae, including snapping turtle and alligator 

snapping turtle; 
 
i.   All members of the order Crocodylia, including, but not limited to alligator, 

caiman, and crocodile; 
 
j.  All other snakes that reach an adult length larger than three meters; and 
 
k. All other lizards that reach an adult length larger than two meters. 

 
13. Birds (Aves) 
 

a. All predatory or large birds (Accipitrids, Cathar�ds), including but not limited to eagle, hawk, 
falcon, owl, vulture, and condor; 

 
b. Anseriformes including but not limited to ducks, geese, and swans; 

 
c. Galliformes including but not limited to pheasants, grouse, guinea fowl and turkeys; and 

 

34

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 27 of 31 
 

d. Struthioniformes including but not limited to flightless ra�tes such as ostriches, rheas, 
cassowaries, emus, and kiwis; 
 

e. Subsec�ons (a) to (d) inclusive in subsec�on do not apply if the birds are kept as livestock on 
land zoned as agricultural. 

 
14. All large rodents (Roden�a), including, but not limited to gopher, muskrat, paca, 
       groundhog, marmot, beaver, prairie dog, viscacha, and porcupine. 
 
15. All even-toed ungulates (Ar�odactyla) other than domes�c sheep, including but 
     not limited to antelope, giraffe, and hippopotamus. 
 
16. All odd-toed ungulates (Perissodactyla), including but not limited to zebra, 
      rhinoceros, and tapir. 
 
17. All marsupials, including but not limited to, Tasmanian devil, bandicoot, 
      kangaroo, wallaby, opossum, wombat, koala bear, cuscus, numbat, and pigmy, 
      sugar, and greater glider. 
 
18. Sea mammals (Cetacea, Pinnipedia and Sirenia), including but not limited to, 
      dolphin, whale, seal, sea lion and walrus. 
 
19. All elephants (Proboscides). 
 
20. All hyrax (Hyracoidea). 
 
21. All pangolin (Pholidota). 
 
22. All sloth and armadillo (Edentala). 
 
23. All insec�vorous mammals (Insec�vora), including aardvark (Tubulidentata), 
      anteater, shrew, oter shrew and mole. 
 
24. Gliding lemur (Dermoptera). 
 
25. All other venomous or poisonous animals. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 28 of 31 
 

SCHEDULE “3” 
DR. IAN DUNBAR’S AGGRESSION SCALE 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

36

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 29 of 31 
 

SCHEDULE “4” 
ANIMAL SEIZURE AND IMPOUNDMENT FORM 

 
 
 

Take notice that 20

1 4
2 5
3 6

Other:

the animal(s) may placed for adoption, given away, or in accordance with with the bylaw, destroyed.

Signature of Peace Officer

If the animal(s) is/are not claimed or the payment of expenses is not made by, 

Reason for animal(s) to be taken into custody:

The animal(s) was/were delivered to:

Olds, AB T4H 1R5

Phone: (403) 507-4859

Veterinary Clinic: ________________________________________ 

4512 46 Street

Bylaw and amendments et al, the following animal(s) was/were taken into custody:

Town of Olds

By: Peace Officer                                                                                           Reg#

Municipal Enforcement
Notice of Seizure/Impoundment of Animal or Urban Hen

File Number:

, under the Town of Olds Community Standards

 
 
 
 
 

37

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 30 of 31 
 

SCHEDULE “5” 
VICIOUS ANIMAL SIGN 

 
Required for a Vicious Animal pursuant to the Bylaw. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

38

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Animal Bylaw 2024-05 

Page 31 of 31 
 

 

SCHEDULE ‘6’ 
BARK LOG 

 

The ‘Barking Dog Log’ Is available on the Town of Olds website www.olds.ca or by contacting 
the Municipal Enforcement Department at 587-796-1193. 

 

The Barking Dog Log is in reference to a grievance reported to the Town of Olds regarding a barking 
dog(s).  Once completed, this record will be kept on file at the Town of Olds.  

There is no guarantee a summons will be issued.  The grievance will ini�ally be dealt with at an 
educa�onal and warning level, based on overall circumstances. The decision to issue a summons will be 
at the discre�on of the Community Peace Officer. 
 
If further ac�on is required, this record may be required when issuing a summons to the dog-owner or 
dog-caregiver on your behalf.  If the file is taken to Court, your appearance in Court will be required to 
state for the record that this is your tes�mony.   

DOG BARKING LOG  
DATE  START 

TIME  
STOP TIME  REMARKS (ie: dog in 

yard/on deck/ at fence etc.)  

    

  

 

 

    

 

THIS IS A SAMPLE OF THE DOG BARKING LOG. 

39

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024

http://www.olds.ca/


 

Page 1 of 2 

  
2024 FCSS External Grant Allocation 

Request for Decision 

2024 FCSS External Grant Allocation 

February 12, 2024    
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council approves Family Community Support Services (FCSS) grants for 2024 as recommended by 
administration.  
 

ORGANIZATION RECOMMENDED 
BGC of Olds and Area  
The Zone Youth Centre Programming 
Babysitting / Home Alone Course 
Summer Programming 
After School Programming 
 

$22,000.00 
$1,000.00 
$1,500.00 
$2,500.00 
TOTAL - $27,000.00 

Chinooks Edge – YES Program $15,000.00 
Hope for 4 MV Kids $500.00 
Mountain View Emergency Shelter Society – Resiliency 
Programs 

$6,500.00 
 

Mountain View Moccasin House  $4,000.00 
Mountain View Regional Libraries – Books for Babies $464.00 
Olds & District Hospice Society $1,000.00 
Special Family Voices 
 $1,500.00 
TOTAL 
 $55,964.00 

 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
Our thriving community is built on sound and collaborative relationships. 
Sound fiscal practices will be balanced with a commitment to prioritizing value for citizens.  

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

Municipal Government Act & FCSS Provincial Act and Regulations 

BACKGROUND  

The FCSS program is a cost-share program between the Town of Olds and the Province of Alberta 
administered through the Department of Human Services. A municipality or Metis Settlement chooses 
whether to sign an annual agreement with the Government of Alberta to jointly fund eligible services. 
They must provide at least 20% of the joint funding each year and the Alberta government will provide 
up to 80%. The Town of Olds FCSS meets with other regional FCSS providers (Mountain View County, 
Carstairs, Cremona, Didsbury). By coordinating efforts, it ensures that funding duplication across 
different groups and initiatives is minimized. This prevents resources from being unnecessarily spread 
thin across similar projects within the region. 

40

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

Page 2 of 2 

Through review of the applications and assessment of community needs, the projects recommended for 
funding are meant to serve a preventative social purpose. Each application is reviewed by the 
Community Development Supervisor to ensure it meets the eligibility criteria of the Family and 
Community Support Services, which is available here: https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/18ffaf4e-db3b-
476c-8901-9a9d825c366b/resource/2589adce-09c5-4830-9ba2-406c5ae4f4c7/download/2010-family-
and-community-support-services-fcss-program-handbook.pdf  
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☒ Operating  ☐ Capital ☐ Not Applicable 
Details: FCSS Grant and Operating Funds.  
 
KEY MESSAGES 
The Town of Olds is proud to support local community organizations with $55,464 through the 
2024 External FCSS Grant Program. These organizations provide preventative social 
programming and volunteer opportunities in our community. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. 2024 Program Descriptions 
 

CAO Review: Brent Williams  Date: 9 Feb 2024 

 
 

41

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024

https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/18ffaf4e-db3b-476c-8901-9a9d825c366b/resource/2589adce-09c5-4830-9ba2-406c5ae4f4c7/download/2010-family-and-community-support-services-fcss-program-handbook.pdf
https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/18ffaf4e-db3b-476c-8901-9a9d825c366b/resource/2589adce-09c5-4830-9ba2-406c5ae4f4c7/download/2010-family-and-community-support-services-fcss-program-handbook.pdf
https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/18ffaf4e-db3b-476c-8901-9a9d825c366b/resource/2589adce-09c5-4830-9ba2-406c5ae4f4c7/download/2010-family-and-community-support-services-fcss-program-handbook.pdf


                                        TOWN OF OLDS FCSS 2024 

                            Project Descriptions 

 

   
 

 
 

Group Name Project Description Recommended 
Amount for 
Funding in 2024 

BGC of Olds & 
Area 

The Zone Youth Centre 
BGC of Olds and Area have secured a new space 
within the Community Connection Centre to deliver 
programming for youth 10-21.  
Monday to Friday: 3:30 pm – 5:30 pm Youth ages 
10-14 
                                   5:30 -9:30 pm Youth ages 14-21  
 
After School Programs 
For children 5-12 Years 
Free program that provides after school care. 
Children participate in various activities designed to 
foster social–emotional development and promote 
leadership skills. Runs Monday to Thursdays during 
the school year.  
 
Home Alone / Babysitting Course 
These programs foster the development of life skills 
and social responsibility through fun and interactive 
training. This training will take place at the Zone 
Youth Centre. 
 
Summer Programming 
Summer programming takes place in July & August, 
for children 5-12 & 12-18 years of age. These 
programs give children and youth an opportunity to 
connect with their peers, in a fun, engaging and 
inclusive environment. Both of our summer 
programs aim at developing attendees’ capacity to 
make healthy choices, engage in positive 
behaviours, practice leadership skills, connect with 
their community and build meaningful relationships.  
 
Anticipated number of participants: 425 
 
 

$27,000.00 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chinooks Edge 
School Division -

Social Emotional Learning (SEL) for Olds Elementary, 
Deer Meadow School and Olds High School. 

$15,000.00 
 

42

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



   
 

2 
 

Youth 
Empowerment 
and Support 
Program (YES) 

Kindergarten – Grade 8 – minimum of 10 lessons per 
classroom to create common language around 
mental health issues, such as: 
- how to identify and manage strong feelings 
 -cope with and overcome challenges 
-develop self-regulation skills 
-develop empathy for others 
-develop healthy problem solving and responsible 
decision-making skills 
- manage peer conflict.  
 
YES, also provides support in smaller targeted 
groups at lunch, after school and when the schools 
are closed, as well as throughout the summer. 
Anticipated number of participants: 1402 
 

Hope 4 MVC Kids 
Society 

Promotions and Marketing 
FCSS funding can be used to increase the 
community’s knowledge of the services that Hope 
for MVC Kids offers.  This community group support 
parents and families with children in medical need.  
Anticipated number of participants: 70 
 

$500.00 

Mountain View 
Emergency 
Shelter 

Community Outreach and Education 
Community Outreach in Olds:   
The main office of MVESS is located in the 
Community Connection Centre in Olds and is 
open for drop in or appointments on Mondays, 
Tuesdays, Wednesdays and Fridays.   
Anticipated Group Programs:  
All programs are FREE, and childcare can be 
provided if required.    
  
1x - H.E.A.R.T Program (adults): This is a FREE 
6-week creative healing journey designed to 
help women rediscover themselves through 
different forms of creativity, art, self-awareness, 
and self-exploration. We will learn about 
Gratitude, Building Resilience, Self-Love and Self 
Esteem, Releasing Guilt and Shame and 
Mindfulness.  
1x - Building Better Boundaries 
(adults):  develop boundaries, strengthen 
existing boundaries, understand why they are 
so important and how they can help you with 
your current relationships, along with much 

$6,500.00 

43

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



   
 

3 
 

more...  
 1x – Grief Recovery Method (adults): 8-week 
program with a Certified Grief Recovery 
Specialist that explores the Action Program for 
Moving Beyond Grief. Specially formulated for 
anyone dealing in loss/trauma and wanting to 
move on.   
 1x- Finding our Voices: A 6-week group 
program that focuses on issues related to self-
esteem and the importance of effective 
communication. Participants share their 
experiences and learn from each other. Topics 
include self-image, shame, compassion and the 
significance of healthy relationships – both with 
ourselves and others.  
 1x- Beautiful Me (youth specific): Beautiful me 
is an educational self-esteem program for youth 
identifying as female.  
 1x- Financial Literacy – ONLINE ONLY  
 
Anticipated number of participants: 125 
 

Mountain View 
Moccasin House 
 

Indigenous Cultural Awareness 
MVMH will provide and promote culturally based 
activities, increasing awareness of Indigenous 
knowledge systems, and increasing the personal 
well-being and pride for people residing in the Olds. 
Planned activities for Olds are: 
Ribbon Shirt Making 
Monthly Drum Circles at the Community Connection 
Centre 
Ribbon Skirt Making 
Indigenous demonstration and instruction  
Anticipated number of participants: 100 
 

$4,000.00 
 

Mountain View 
Regional Libraries 
 

Books for Babies  
A partnership between MV regional libraries and 
public health nurses, this program provides a bag 
full of information on healthy parent/child 
relationships, local support agencies and activities 
that support the bond between parent/ child.  
Anticipated number of participants: 100 Families 
 
 

$464.00 

Olds & District 
Hospice Society 

Nav Care & Bereavement Support 
 

$1,000.00 

44

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



   
 

4 
 

Funding being requested for 
-Promotions and Marketing 
-Volunteer Training and Recognition 
 
Nav-CARE ‘s specially trained volunteer navigators 
help improve the lives of people living with 
chronic/terminal illness by creating connections to 
community services and resources and providing 
caring, compassionate emotional and social support. 
 
Bereavement Support team offers one on one 
support to those experiencing a loss of a loved one 
and seeking help through their journey.  
Anticipated number of participants: Group did not 
reply. 

Olds & District 
Special Family 
Voices 

Inclusive Community Connections for Persons with 
Disabilities 
Bi-weekly events for families who manage care of 
their children with disabilities and adults who live 
with a disability to participate in community 
activities that promote inclusion of diverse abilities, 
provide social engagement, and help build 
relationships. 
Anticipated number of participants: 80 
 

$1,500.00 
 

RECOMMENDATION TOTAL :  $55,964 
 

45

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

Page 1 of 1 

  
2023 Annual Report  

Request for Decision 

2023 Annual Report 

February 12, 2024    
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council accepts the Town of Olds 2023 Annual Report as presented.  
 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
Our residents and town staff actively communicate and engage with us through open dialogue. 
Our community is supported and enabled through skillful governance. 
Our thriving community is built on strong and collaborative relationships. 
Sound fiscal practices are balanced with a commitment to prioritizing value for our citizens. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

1. Municipal Government Act 

BACKGROUND  

The 2024 Annual Report is a change from our usual process. This year, the report is being released in 
February as opposed to June in the hopes of keeping 2023 in better context for the reader. More 
importantly, the 2024 Annual Report has been structured around Council's Strategic Plan and 
corresponding goals. We hope this provides a clearer understanding to readers of the relationship 
between Council’s governance and vision setting for the municipality and those operational priorities 
carried out on a day-to-day basis by Town staff.  
 
Through the Annual Report, the mid-year Corporate Report, and other communication efforts, the Town 
seeks more robust engagement with its citizens and a higher level of transparency of Town decision-
making and finances.  

 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☒ Operating  ☐ Capital ☐ Not Applicable 
Details: 

ATTACHMENTS – n/a 

 

CAO Review: Brent Williams Date:    February 5, 2024 

 
 

46

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



2023 Annual Report

47

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Table of ContentsRecognition of  
Treaty Territory

Olds is on the traditional territories of the people  
of the Treaty 7 region of Alberta which includes the 

Blackfoot Confederacy (Siksika, Piikanni, and  
Kainai First Nations), as well as the  

Tsuut’ina First Nation and the Stoney  
Nakoda Nations (Chiniki, Bearspaw and  
Wesley First Nations).  This area is also  

home to the Métis Nation  
of Alberta, Region 3.

Town Profile .......................................................1

Organizational Structure ............................... 2

Message from the Mayor ........ ..................... 3

Alive With Opportunity
Strategic Plan: 2022 - 2032 .............................. 5

Progress on Strategic Goal #1 ...................... 7

Progress on Strategic Goal #2 ...................... 9

Progress on Strategic Goal #3 .................... 11

Progress on Strategic Goal #4 ....................13

Financial Performance ................................................................................15

2023 Spotlight .................................................19

Looking Ahead -  2024 Priorities ...............21

48

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Organizational Structure

2023 Annual Report - Town of Olds Page 1 Page 2

Town Council 
Town Council is the governing body of the Town of Olds, elected every four years by residents. Council is granted  
authority under Alberta’s Municipal Government Act (MGA) and is tasked with providing strategic direction to 
administration. Council accomplishes this mandate primarily through strategic planning, policy development, and 
bylaws. The next municipal election will occur in October 2025. 

Town Administration
Town administration is comprised of all municipal staff and is led by the Town’s Chief Administrative Officer (CAO). 
The CAO is Council’s sole employee and is charged with both actioning Council direction and providing advice and 
operational updates to Council. 

The Town of Olds is comprised of five divisions, with each comprising several departments:

RESIDENTS            COUNCIL                CAO        DIRECTORS         MANAGERS          MUNICIPAL STAFF

DIVISION DEPARTMENTS
Office of the CAO Economic Development

Executive Support
Human Resources
Legislative Services

Community Services Communications and Engagement
Community Development
Parks and Recreation

Corporate Services Finance
Grants and Procurement
Records Management

Infrastructure Planning and Infrastructure
Operations

Protective Services Emergency Management
Fire Department
Municipal Enforcement
Liaison to RCMP

Town Profile
Olds is a town of just under 10,000 residents located  
between Red Deer and Calgary on the Highway 2 
Corridor. 

While benefitting from our ideal geography and rocky 
mountain views, Olds is also home to Olds College of  
Agriculture and Technology, a century’s old institution 
and the top agriculture research college in Canada. 

With over 3,000 students and 400 staff on campus 
throughout the year, Olds College brings social and 
economic diversity to our town, making it one of the 
most dynamic places in rural Alberta.

Olds is proud to be a Fair Trade Town,  
promoting fair trade concepts in businesses  

and personal lives of citizens.

OLDSThe Town of Olds is a resilient and resourceful  
community with citizens who care about each  

other, interact with one another, and has a strong  
volunteer base. Olds is proud of its small-town charm 

that offers big city amenities, opportunities  
and services.

49

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Welcome!

I am grateful to present the 2023 Annual Year in Review on behalf of the  
Town of Olds Council. 

2023 was a busy year for Council and the Town. Through an update to our  
Strategic Plan, Council goes ‘back to basics’, focusing on infrastructure,  
core service levels, and community engagement. As such, the following report  
is presented to you with our 4 strategic goals as the centrepiece. 

1. Our residents and town staff actively communicate and engage with us  
through open dialogue. 

 Council works for the community, setting a course for staff to follow to ensure the 
 Town of Olds remains a vibrant place to live and work. Success in this area is impossible without actively engaging with  
 our citizens and our staff to hear concerns, problems, solutions, kudos, and everything in between. In 2023, we attempted  
 to attain this goal through several initiatives that you will read about in this annual report that include Coffee with 
 Councillor sessions, which occurred in the summer and winter; our spring traffic survey; and our 2024 budget survey.  

2. Our community is supported and enabled through skillful governance. 

 Council recognized a need for improvement with strategic planning. A key priority of this goal is for council to direct   
 administration to build organized service levels. Creating these service levels with departmental business plans allows us  
 to demonstrate how actions will be executed and measured. Some results of this include the service level changes  
 residents may have already noticed in our solid waste schedule, our mowing program, and at the Olds Sportsplex. 

3. Our Thriving Community is built on sound and collaborative relationships.

 Community and regional partners are fundamental to many things the Town and Council do and accomplish. Olds College  
 and Mountain View County are two of our most important relationships, with both lending their support to our ongoing  
 economic strategy and appointing members to the Economic Development Action Committee (EDAC). However, Olds   
 would not be Olds without the strong community organizations that do so much for our citizens and region, and Council  
 recognizes the need to nurture and grow these relationships. This report will speak to some of recent examples and to  
 how we are looking to achieve even more together. 

4. Sound fiscal practices are balanced with a commitment to prioritizing value for our citizens. 

 Council understands the responsibility and accountability in managing public dollars and we are always looking to  
 ensure fiscal practices are keeping pace with best practices, that spending always has the community’s best interests 
 first, and that financial decisions are communicated effectively with citizens. Council has strived to improve transparency 
 in 2023, through new and recurring engagement efforts. That being said, the Town is facing some significant financial  
 challenges that need to be confronted head on. This will not make everyone happy, but we hope that we can provide   
 enough information for people to make an informed opinion on these matters.

In closing, Council thanks the citizens for all their community efforts and engagement with the Town this past year; the support 
and feedback from those living here is highly valued. Our community is made up of those that live, work, play and educate 
here and we as a Council also acknowledge that this past year involved many changes and some difficult challenges. We assure 
you that Council and administration are working hard to make sound decisions for the Town. Olds is truly a gem of Central 
Alberta. We look forward to what is to come in 2024. 

With Gratitude,

Her Worship,
Mayor Judy Dahl

Message from the Mayor

2023 Annual Report - Town of Olds Page 3 Page 4

"Our community is made 
up of those that live, 

work, play and educate 
here...Olds is truly a gem 

of Central Alberta."
Mayor Judy Dahl

50

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Alive with Opportunity
Strategic Plan: 2022 – 2032

2023 Annual Report - Town of Olds Page 5 Page 6

Council’s Strategic Plan was developed in May of 2022 and updated in February 2023. It is a living document that  
conveys Council’s key priorities to improve the quality of life for residents and provide guidance to administration.  

Strategic Goals:

Our residents and town staff actively communicate and  
engage with us through open dialogue. 

Our community is supported and enabled through skillful 
governance. 

Our thriving community is built on strong and collaborative  
relationships. 

Sound fiscal practices are balanced with a commitment to 
prioritizing value for our citizens. 

1
2
3
4

From the strategic plan, Council established priorities for administration to focus on that will help achieve each goal. 

Strategic Priorities:

Create and implement a communications and  
marketing Plan.

Build corporate and departmental business plans.

Engage with our community and regional partners on  
a consistent and meaningful basis.

Create service level standards. 

1
2
3
4
5 Establish policies that strengthen capital reserves. 

All these priorities are in the process of being actioned by administration and are on track to be completed and meaningfully 
addressed by the end of Council’s current term. This Annual Report will provide examples of progress made in 2023. 

Budgeting
The annual budget is a fundamental piece of achieving Council’s strategic plan. With an annual spend between $35 and $40 
million, Council and Administration take care and pride in managing the public purse in a prudent and sustainable manner. 

Budget preparation in Olds begins in late summer and wraps up in mid-December. With hundreds of staff and Council hours 

devoted to its preparation and passing, it is the largest single effort the Town undertakes on an annual basis. 

51

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Our residents and town 
staff actively communicate 
and engage with us through 
open dialogue. 

Results Achieved in 2023:
• Coffee with Councillors 
 Through 7 sessions in the July and August and 2 in November, councillors and the mayor set up shop at several local 
 businesses and welcomed residents who had questions, concerns, or were curious about Town operations and business.  
 While attendance was lower than we had hoped, there were many positives to build on and we will continue these efforts  
 in 2024. 

• Community Connection Centre
 The ‘CCC’ opened on September 1st 2023, creating a physical space for residents to meet, engage, and receive support  
 to community resources such as Family and Community Support Services (FCSS) , the Mountain View Emergency Shelter  
 Society, and Olds BGC (formerly Boys and Girls Club). In its first 4 months of operation, the CCC welcomed over 330 visitors,  
 providing a welcoming space for citizens and service groups alike. It is already showing benefits to our robust social service  
 offerings in Olds, and we look forward to developing the CCC into a core community asset.  

• Public Surveys
	 ○	 2024 Budget Survey: The budget survey ran from August 15 to September 18 and had a record number of respondents  
  at 300. Residents rated the overall effectiveness of the services provided by the Town as “Average”. Coming out of the  
  survey a decision was made to increase the solid waste service level beginning in January 2024.

	 ○ Traffic Survey: A comprehensive review and public consultation saw the change of school zones into playground zones  
  in various locations as well as the creation of a new zone surrounding Centennial Park.  This was initiated due to 
  concerns voiced by residents and businesses for pedestrian safety. 

	 ○ Housing Survey: Prior to the kick-off of the Housing Needs Assessment, the Town conducted an online survey of 
  residents’ opinions on housing in the Olds market. Many of our assumptions were further supported by this survey, with  
  most respondents having concerns with both the availability and affordability of certain types of homes in Olds. 

• Event Coordination
	 ○ Special Events: The Town of Olds hosts or helps host many community events throughout the year, with support of our  
  many volunteers. These include Canada Day, Olds Fashioned Christmas, Volunteer Appreciation, Community Showcase,  
  Youth Week, Seniors Week, and Culture days. With just these 7 events, the Town had support from 183 volunteers and  
  attracted over 6,200 participants. 

	 ○ Economic Development Week: On May 9th, Economic Development Week was celebrated in the Town of Olds with the  
  official launch of the Invest Olds brand and website. This event was attended by over 50 local citizens, businesses, and  
  investors and was hosted at Olds College. Economic growth is a primary focus for the Town and the success of this event,  
  measured by enthusiasm from and about our community, is inspiring. 

Progress on Strategic Goal 1

2023 Annual Report - Town of Olds Page 7 Page 8

Better informed decision making 

Improved communication with citizens 

Broader Council presence in the community

Anticipated Outcomes:

52

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



2023 Annual Report - Town of Olds Page 9 Page 10

Progress on Strategic Goal 2

Results Achieved in 2023:

Throughout 2023, Council met in four separate sessions to review many of the Town's core service levels and discuss frequency, 
quality and cost of the following:

• Solid Waste • Sportsplex • Municipal Enforcement
• Snow Clearing • Mowing • Street Sweeping
• Aquatics • Sportsfields • Road and Sidewalk Repair

   
In these sessions, Council compared our current service level efforts to the resources we were devoting to them and either  
confirmed each was suitable or directed administration to bring forward a policy adjustment. Some of the core services that 
were adjusted in 2023 include:

• Solid Waste: 
  The Service Level was increased to have more collection days per month for both black and blue bins, and a 
  seasonal increase to green bins. 

• Green Space Maintenance: 
   The Service Level was reduced for certain green spaces to a bi-weekly mowing and maintenance schedule, primarily  
   in areas that did not receive public use or foot traffic. 

• Aquatics:
   The Olds Aquatic Centre (OAC) experienced a reduction in operating hours in 2023, which was instituted as a cost  
   savings measure. This equates to an ~$80,000 annual savings to the Town and was largely decided based on 
   program utilization. This will be reviewed on an annual basis by the Town. 

• Communications Strategy
 Also related to Strategic Goal #1, the communications strategy fits here because it represents the first recent attempt to  
 bring structure to the communications function at the Town. As a core priority of Council, administration drafted this 
 strategy to delineate responsibilities and expectations of staff when it comes to communicating internally and with our 
 public and improve transparency. 

 Through this initial step, the Town of Olds is committed to becoming a leader in citizen engagement and communication. 

Our community is  
supported and enabled 
through skillful governance.
 

• Organizational Review
 Started in 2022, an Organizational Review of Town Operations was finalized in early 2023, with 78 recommendations 
 offered to Council and administration to improve the effectiveness of our service delivery to citizens. In 2023, most of   
 these goals are in progress towards completion with 26 being deemed complete.

• Organizational Changes
 Following the organizational review, Town administration experienced a large reorganization in 2023, resulting in both   
 needed and difficult changes. During 2024 budget deliberations, Council made the decision to cut 4 full-time positions  
 from the Town’s staffing compliment, resulting in layoffs. While other decisions by the CAO led to changes to senior  
 leadership, with administration welcoming two new directors in late 2023. Adrian Pedro joined as the Director of  
 Infrastructure and Lorraine O’Brien as the Director of Community Services. Throughout these and other changes in  
 2023, Town staff yet again demonstrated their professionalism and work ethic by embracing change and enabling new  
 processes and people to be integrated into our organization.

• Housing Needs Assessment 
 Housing shortages and affordability issues are affecting the entire province and country, with Olds being no exception.  
 To address this, Council funded a housing needs assessment to provide Olds specific data to help the Town better  
 understand  our position and to provide developers with baseline data to hopefully support their interest to build  
 housing here. 

Long-term plans in place 

Vision for the future

Improved citizen trust in local government

Anticipated Outcomes:

i

i

i

53

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



2023 Annual Report - Town of Olds Page 11 Page 12

Progress on Strategic Goal 3

Our thriving community  
is built on strong and  
collaborative relationships. 

Results Achieved in 2023:
• Intermunicipal Relationships
	 ○	 Mountain View County: With Olds being the hub for much of the Mountain View County region, it is no surprise that  
  our most important municipal partnership is with the County. In 2023, the Town and County implemented a revised  
  Fire Service Agreement, appointed members to both Olds and Area Health Professionals Attraction and Retention  
  Committee and the Town-led Economic Development Action Committee (EDAC). The Town of Olds is fortunate to have a  
  strong partner in the county supporting our region.

	 ○ Community Lifestyles Committee: Olds is a designated Age-Friendly Community, meaning that we have committed to  
  making our Town a better and safer place to live for senior citizens. The Community Lifestyles Committee leads this 
  initiative and updates the Town frequently on needs and issues facing our senior community, from accessible sidewalks  
  to health care delivery. 

	 ○ Public Art Committee: After a brief hiatus, the Public Art Committee was reformed with some previous and new 
  members. The PAC is a group of local art enthusiasts who want to promote various artistic efforts in Olds. From murals  
  to sculptures to music and theatre, public art enriches a community, and we are grateful for these volunteers who keep  
  that vision alive in Olds.   
 
Provincial and Federal Governments
	 ○ Relationships and advocacy with both orders of government have been maintained in 2023, with several meetings with  
  our local MLA and MP, as well with Provincial Ministers in Edmonton. The Town of Olds advocacy priorities include:

	 	 ○	 Restoration of Capital Funding for Core Infrastructure 

  ○	 Improvements to Health Care Delivery in Olds, specifically at the Olds Hospital

  ○	 Affordable Housing Advocacy for Rural Areas

  ○	 Advocacy on behalf of Olds College to support funding for a new trades building and to change the current tiered  

   compensation structure for educational institutions.

Community cohesiveness 

Improved regional collaboration 

Better decision making

Anticipated Outcomes:

54

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



2023 Annual Report - Town of Olds Page 13 Page 14

Progress on Strategic Goal 4

Sound fiscal practices  
are balanced with a  
commitment to prioritizing 
value for our citizens. 

Results Achieved in 2023:
• Infrastructure Renewal

The primary focus for Town administration is improving our core infrastructure. The key component of this focus is the
correction of our issues in our water and sanitary systems, which significantly affect the Town’s financial performance
and resulting in controlled releases from our sanitary lift station into the surrounding environment.

○ Vapour Testing
In 2023, the entire sanitary system in the Town of Olds was tested for leaks and cross connections by injecting non-

  hazardous vapour into manholes. This allowed us to identify several dozen areas of concern, and repairs are underway. 

○ 52nd Street Replacement
The multi-year effort to replace the entirety of 52nd Street’s underground infrastructure from 57th to 50th Avenues
was complete. This infrastructure was approximately 70 years old and at the end of its useful life.

○ Water Meter Pilot Program
The Town of Olds has over 4,000 water meters it is responsible for maintaining, and most of them require upgrading or
replacing. In 2023, we began a 100-meter pilot program using meters equipped with ultrasonic technology for leak
detection. If this trial is successful, the full-scale replacement program could commence in 2025.

○ 2023 Repair and Maintenance Program

Better service delivery 

Reduced utility expenses

Meaningful capital plans

Anticipated Outcomes:

• 15 catch basin repairs • 55 tonnes of hot mix asphalt repairs
• 16 mahole relines • 3 large paving repairs

• 8 utility dig repairs • 22 sidewalk locations replaced

• 1 water vault meter installation

• Planning and Economic Development

○ Planning for Future Growth & Managing Current Growth
• Permit Approvals

2023 was the busiest year since 2015 for new housing starts (28), number of building permits issued (138), and
total dollar value of permits ($16,188,667). While it is reassuring seeing the momentum, given the challenging
economic climate for builders and developers, we hope to see continued growth in these numbers.

• Areas Structure Plans (ASP)
An area structure plan is one of the initial phases of planning the future growth and servicing of an area. In 2023,
the Town and Council focused on 3 ASPs:
• Northeast ASP: The Town is creating this new ASP in partnership with Mountain View County in the recently

annexed lands to the NE of Olds.
• Miller Meadows ASP: Located at the south end of Town, between 57th and 53rd Avenues, this land has now

been rezoned for multi-unit dwellings. We expect construction to begin in spring 2024. 
• Vistas ASP: This ASP was amended to rezone a large potion of the remaining land for duplex development.

• Sanitary Modelling Study
To ensure we’re able to handle new growth areas and infill growth, an engineering assessment of our sanitary
system’s capacity was undertaken to ensure capacity exists for further connections.

○ Economic Development Strategy
• In 2023, the Economic Development Action Committee (EDAC) was appointed with both elected and public-at-  

   large members. A primary goal of this committee is to steer the creation of our Economic Development Strategy. 
To date, we have partnerships with Olds College and Mountain View County, with both organizations appointing 
one  member to this committee. 

○ Grant Funding
• The Town frequently applies for grants to help offset costs of planned projects and to enable new projects. In

2023, the Town was successful in soliciting over $4.8 million grants from various agencies within the provincial and
federal governments. 

• Olds Aquatic Centre Retrofit
After a 4-month shutdown, the Olds Aquatic Centre reopened in November 2023. The purpose of this closure was to
replace the mechanical systems, roof, and windows with more energy efficient options. This was a $2.75 million project,
funded with a $2.2 million federal grant, a $130,000 contribution from Mountain View County, and a $420,000 from the
Town of Olds. This will give this facility an additional 20-years of anticipated life while reducing utility costs by up to 40%.

55

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



2023 Annual Report - Town of Olds Page 15 Page 16

Financial Performance
Complete 2023 financial data will be available May 2024, after the 2023 annual report is published. The audited financial  
statements will be released at that time.  However, we can still capture key trends and important milestones of the past year.

Revenue
The Town of Olds, like all municipalities, has limited revenue sources:

In 2023, the Town’s largest taxpayer, SNDL (formerly Sundial Growers), closed its operations in Olds. This resulted in a tax loss of 
over $400,000 and a yet unknown amount in franchise fee revenue loss. Town Council pivoted during budget deliberations to 
make difficult but necessary cuts to ease the burden on remaining taxpayers. 

How did your tax dollars get spent in 2023?

• Risks and Challenges

 ○ Capital Funding Decrease
• Since 2019, the Province of Alberta has reduced capital funding to municipalities by 33%. This affects our ability  
 to replace infrastructure and puts additional pressure on operating budgets, as aging capital assets become   
 more expensive to maintain. 

	 ○ Water Loss
• The Town has battled water loss for many years, with ~30% of water purchased regionally lost to broken  
  infrastructure or to malfunctioning water meters. We estimate this dollar loss at $750,000 annually. 

	 ○ Inflow and Infiltration (I&I)
• Since the switch to the regional wastewater commission in 2014, the issue of storm and groundwater getting   
 into our sanitary system has become a much larger issue. Prior to 2014, the water simply went to our lagoons,   
 where it sat. Now, it gets pumped to the City of Red Deer and treated, which is a substaintial cost. The    
 estimated cost of I&I in 2023 is $1.45 million. 

The municipal portion of your property taxes is based on the Town’s budgeted revenue requirements. 

PROPERTY TAXES 40% 
Within this total, residential property owners account 

for 71% of property taxes while non-residential property 

owners pay the remaining 29%.

SALES AND USER FEES 42%
These amounts include utility fees for water,  

wastewater, and solid waste and user fees charged  

at recreational facilities.

OTHER REVENUE 4%
This includes penalties, investment 

income, and other income. 

GOVERNMENT TRANSFERS 6%
These amounts are operating funds  

received from the Provincial Government 

and Mountain View County under cost 

sharing agreements. 

FRANCHISE FEES 8%
These are municipal fees charged on all  

electricity and natural gas accounts. 

Included on your property tax bill are taxes that the 
Town collects on behalf of the Provincial government  
for education and Mountain View Seniors Housing; 
these together account for 31% of property tax bills. 

The municipal portion, just over $10.5 million in total, is 
used to pay for amenities and services, such as roadways, 
fire, parks, recreation facilities and much more! 

56

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



2023 Annual Report - Town of Olds Page 17 Page 18

Business and Development Stats
Business licenses are a leading indicator of business health and confidence in the Town of Olds, especially for small 
businesses. As seen below, 2023 was our best year for business licenses, following a decrease during and following the 
pandemic. 

Development statistics are also trending upwards for residential development and overall development permits. While we 
are below industrial permits in recent years, it is important to clarify that the $100 million SNDL (formerly Sundial Growers) 
facility construction does heavily influence the period from 2016 - 2019. 

Residential / Non-Residential  
Assessment Comparison

Assessment Growth
The total value of property in a municipality is referred to as its  
Assessment. The Town of Olds is looking for annual growth in this 
metric. 

While recent growth is fueled largely by inflation in the housing 
market, we are on the cusp of achieving tangible growth through new 
development plans and initiatives. 

Known as the ‘Split’, this is as an indicator of municipal financial 
health. Ideally, an urban municipality like Olds would see  
consistent growth in the proportion of non-residential assessment 
(i.e., private business properties) compared to its residential  
assessment (i.e., houses). 

As of 2023, that split is 74%  - 26%, which is a healthy ratio.

143
DEVELOPMENT 

PERMITS

HOME OCCUPATIONS 
21 Permits

RESIDENTIAL
(includes additions, residential accessory 
buildings & secondary suites)
52 Permits

CHANGE OF USE
19 Permits

NEW RESIDENTIAL
18 Permits

NON-RESIDENTIAL
(includes commericial, industrial, & signage)
23 Permits

DAY HOME/DAY CARE
3 Permits

DEMOLITIONS
5 Permits

VARIANCES 
2 Permits

109
BUILDING  
PERMITS  
IN 2023

BUILDING PERMITS

57

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



2023 Annual Report - Town of Olds Page 19 Page 20

2023 Spotlight
Key developments this past year
1. Mountain View Power (MVP)
 The Town took ownership of MVP in early 2023 following the closure of the Olds Institute, whose volunteers started the  
 program over a decade ago. MVP is an energy marketer that sells electricity and natural gas to customers of Olds and area.  
 Most importantly, all profits from MVP are invested into the community through direct and indirect funding. The largest  
 source of this funding is the MVP Community Grants Program, which distributed $120,000 over 2 grant intakes to 6 local  
 community groups in 2023.

2. Invest Olds
 The Town of Olds’ economic development arm launched its investment attraction website www.investolds.ca in 2023. 
 Interested investors and developers can now quickly source available lands and properties in Olds as well as access local  
 supplier lists, GIS maps, incentive programs, and more. In 2023, Invest Olds, through the provincial RRS and RES programs  
 attracted 30 immigrant workers to local businesses and 2 new immigrant entrepreneurs who opened businesses in Olds.  
 Additionally, 758 business licenses were sold which included 75 new business starts. Following the housing needs 
 assessment, a promotional campaign ensued profiling 27 potential properties available for multi-unit development.  
 Invest Olds attracted the attention of Business View Magazine and international recognition as a place to invest in Canada.  
 And, closing the year strong, the Globe and Mail ranked Olds as the 52nd most livable city in Canada, adding even more  
 excitement for the potential of 2024!

 

3. Olds Fire Department (OFD)
 OFD had a remarkable 2023. With 464 calls for service, this marked the department’s busiest year to date. This does not  
 include the wildfire responses that saw members deployed to Drayton Valley, Peace River, and Rainbow Lake to support  
 other communities in their times of need, or the tornado event that occurred in Mountain View County this summer, or  
 the  December 15th incident on highway 2 that saw several motor vehicle incidents involving over 40 vehicles. The Town  
 owes a huge debt of gratitude to OFD members. 

4. Planning and Development 
 The Town reorganized its Planning and Development department in 2023, creating a manager to oversee both our 
 engineering and planning functions. While we continuously strive to improve our processes, this team has done an 
 exceptional  job leading projects, processing permit applications, and demonstrating results. With the average approval time  
 for development and building permits issued by administration under 5 business days, we are streamlining our own internal  
 processes while helping applicants navigate the provincially regulated safety codes regime that all municipalities follow.  

5. O-NET
 After issues with the TV platform, O-NET has undergone significant changes in leadership and is now focused on having  
 its subscriber base converted to the cloud-based television provider, ESPIAL. Further improvements will be made to the  
 core infrastructure supporting the network to improve the O-NET offering and keeping it a competitive local provider of  
 internet and TV.  As the sole shareholder of O-NET, the Town of Olds Is thankful for the patience of loyal customers during  
 this transition and to the staff at O-NET who have worked hard to support this forward movement. 

58

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



2023 Annual Report - Town of Olds Page 21 Page 22

Looking  Ahead - 2024 Priorities

Utility Repair
2024 will be focused on investigating and repairing our water and sanitary system to reduce the financial burden and  

environmental liability of water loss and I&I. Our target is a 10% reduction in each by the end of 2024. This will not be an  

easy task, but 2024 will see the people and plans prepared to achieve this goal. 

Service Level Reviews
We will move into phase 2 of our service level reviews by adopting more accurate costing methods for our services and  

projects, as well as establishing clearer performance indicators and measurement. This will allow us to both track our own  

operational and financial performance and demonstrate a stronger level of accountability to our citizens. 

Council has communicated the need to have stronger capital planning and reserve strategies for renewing our core assets, 

including infrastructure, equipment, and facilities. This will occur in 2024 with the first draft plans being created by the end  

of Q2. Capital planning involves scheduling and costing the full lifecycle of assets from purchase through to replacement;  

from fire trucks to computers, and splash parks to graders, establishing an accurate ‘cost of ownership’ of our core assets  

will allow us to spend tax dollars more effectively.  

  

Capital Planning

The Town of Olds understands that in order confront the challenges we face and to take advantage of the opportunities we 

have, we must grow our economic base. That means more new houses, more new businesses, and more new taxpayers, but 

also stronger existing businesses, more affordable homes and rentals, and less financial pressure on current taxpayers. 

The Town of Olds has a strategic advantage over much of rural Alberta in that it is a community where people want to live  

and to do business. With our ideal geography, strong commercial sector, Olds College, robust heath care network, and a  

burgeoning arts and culture scene, the Town has many things working its favour to to enable sustainable economic growth. 

By working with our local and regional partners, 2024 will set the stage for 

long-term progress in our housing sector, commercial developments, and 

industrial parks.

Economic Growth

We outlined on Page 7 the creation of the CCC and its early successes. But what we are most excited about is what it will 

become. By centralizing the Town’s social services functions and providing office and programming space for complimentary 

non-profit organizations to operate, we believe our community will turn this space into a hub for wellness and connection. 

This is only the beginning of the CCC and its positive impact on our Town and region.   

  

Community Connection Centre

Corporate Report

Following the completion of our  

audited financial statements for 2023,  

the Town will release a mid-year  

corporate update in 2024 to report  

on the final results of 2023 and  

comment on 2024 progress.  

Stay tuned!

59

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



4512-46 Street, Olds, AB  T4H 1R5

admin@olds.ca

403-556-6981

60

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

Page 1 of 1 

  
Notice of Motion  

Request for Decision 

Notice of Motion 

February 12, 2024    
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council accept the notice of motion and direct the CAO to return with a report on potential options 
within 60 days.  
 
OR 
 
That Council receive the notice of motion for information.  

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
Sound fiscal practices are balanced with a commitment to prioritizing value for our citizens. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

1. Municipal Government Act 
2. Town of Olds Procedural Bylaw 

BACKGROUND  

At the January 22, 2024, regular council meeting – Councillor Wilson’s Notice of Motion was presented to 
Council for information:  

 
A recommended salary program would not replace work to be done by the remuneration committee and 

subsequent recommendations. As such, any adopted salary program would comply with current council 
compensation policy, guidelines, and operating budget. 

 
Rationale: quick, nimble, agile, and efficient. Streamline preparation, review/approval, and processing of 

council monthly time sheets (less payroll processing time). Stated annual council salary could be 
beneficial encouraging residents to be candidates in future municipal elections.  

 
Intent would be to implement any salary recommendations, if/once approved by council, for the remaining 

term.  
 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
Details:  

ATTACHMENTS – n/a 

 

CAO Review: Brent Williams Date:    February 2, 2024 

 
 

61

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

Page 1 of 1 

  
Dirt Jump Track 

Request for Decision 

Dirt Jump Track 

February 12, 2024   
 

RECOMMENDATION 
That Council direct the Chief Administrative Officer to engage with volunteers interested in a dirt 
jump track to further explore its potential in Olds, and to update Council by June 30th, 2024.  

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
Our residents and town staff actively communicate and engage with us through open dialogue. 
Our thriving community is built on strong and collaborative relationships. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
Municipal Government Act 
Town of Olds Procedural Bylaw 

BACKGROUND  
At the Regular Council Meeting held on January 22, 2024, Mr. Clinton Pederson delivered a 
comprehensive presentation to Council, introducing the idea of establishing a dirt jump track in the 
town of Olds. Mr. Pederson's presentation covered crucial aspects of this proposed project, shedding 
light on potential locations within the town, the physical footprint of the dirt jump track, and a viable 
plan for securing funding. 

While there are still many details to discuss and research to undertake, administration feels that this 
effort aligns with Council’s strategic plan, including building relationships and engaging with the 
community. As such, administration proposes that Council permit staff to work with Mr. Pederson and 
other sport enthusiasts to better demonstrate the feasibility of a dirt pump track in Olds. This would 
involve further community engagement, high-level costing, and venue exploration.  
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
Details: Staff time 
 
KEY MESSAGES 
The Town of Olds seeks to encourage and enable community volunteers to find ways to make Olds a 
stronger community. While not committing to a dirt jump track, the Town is supporting volunteers to 
engage the community, build support, and identify resources to move this idea project forward.  

ATTACHMENTS  - N/A 

CAO Review: Brent Williams Date:  February 2, 2024 

 
 

62

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

Page 1 of 2 

  
DP24-008 

Request for Decision 

DP24-008 – 4102 50 Avenue – Residential Addition 

February 12, 2024    
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council approve Development Permit application DP24-008 as presented, subject to the 
conditions listed in the attached draft Development Permit. 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 

In Council’s Strategic Plan for 2022-2032, the second strategic goal is: “The Olds community is supported 
and enabled through skillful governance.”  

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

1. Municipal Government Act – Chapter M-26, Part 17, Division 3 Section 623(a) Subject to 
section 641, a council must by bylaw provide for a development authority to exercise 
development powers and perform duties on behalf of the municipality.  

  
BACKGROUND  
 
The subject parcel is located at 4102 50 Avenue and is zoned Urban Reserve (UR). The applicant is seeking 
approval for an addition to the existing principal dwelling. The addition consists of living space and an 
attached garage. 
 
This application requires Council approval for: 
 

Discretionary Use – Uses that will not, in the opinion of the development authority, 
 

1) Materially alter the use of the land from that existing 
 

2) Conflict with future urban expansion 
 

The UR district provides minimal guidance for the development authority for applications such as this. 
Administration views this property as being similar to the Country Residential district (R5) and 
recommends that this application be reviewed in that context. The application therefore meets the 
following regulations as set out in the Land Use Bylaw: 
 

Topic R5 District Regulation Proposed Addition 
Maximum Parcel Coverage 35% 9.29% 

Minimum Side Yard 4.5m 18.57m 
Minimum Front Yard 15m 50.33m 
Minimum Rear Yard 12m 57.25m 

Maximum Building Height 8.5m 7m 
 

63

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

Page 2 of 2 

Adjacent property owners were notified of this application. No comments for or against the application 
have been received by Administration.  

 
Administration recommends approval of the draft Development Permit 24-008 as presented. 

 
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
Details: 
 
KEY MESSAGES 
 
Council is the development authority for this application only due to the subject property’s Urban Reserve 
zoning. Should the property be rezoned to Country Residential in the future in alignment with adjacent 
properties, Administration will have the authority to render decisions on similar applications. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Site Context/Aerial Imagery  
2. Survey and Site Plan 
3. Floorplans of existing dwelling and proposed addition 
4. Urban Reserve and Country Residential District excerpts from Land Use Bylaw  
5. Draft Development Permit 24-008 

 

Approved By: James Crozier  Date: Feb. 7, 2024 

CAO Review: Brent Williams  Date: 8 February 2024 

 
 

64

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



0.3

THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Kilometers0.3

Notes

© Town of Olds

Legend

This map is a user generated static output from an Internet mapping site and is for

reference only. Data layers that appear on this map may or may not be accurate,

current, or otherwise reliable.

0.130

1: 5,000

4102 50 Avenue

Town Boundary

Hwy 2A Symbol

Hwy 2A

Hwy 27 Symbol

Hwy 27

Railway

Road Labels

Title Linework

65

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



66

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



ext3 ext1

CONSTRUCTION ABOVE FOUNDATION 
USE ONLY SURFACE DRIED, GRADE STAMPED LUMBER. 
END BEARING OF JOISTS AND RAFTERS TO BE NOT LESS THAN 38 MM (1 1/2”). 
WOOD SIDING IS NOT TO EXTEND WITHIN 200 MM (8") OF FINISHED GRADE. 
FLASHING SHALL BE INSTALLED AT EVERY HORIZONTAL JUNCTION BETWEEN 2 DIFFERENT EXTERIOR FINISHES, 

EXCEPT WHERE THE UPPER FINISH OVERLAPS THE LOWER FINISH. 
•        FLASHING SHALL BE APPLIED OVER EXTERIOR WALL OPENINGS WHERE THE VERTICAL DISTANCE FROM THE BOTTOM OF THE EAVE TO THE TOP
OF THE TRIM IS MORE THAN ONE-QUARTER OF THE HORIZONTAL OVERHANG OF THE EAVE. 
•        FLASHING SHALL BE INSTALLED SO THAT IT EXTENDS UPWARDS NOT LESS THAN 50 MM BEHIND THE SHEATHING PAPER AND FORMS A DRIP ON
THE OUTSIDE EDGE. 
•        FLASHING SHALL CONSIST OF NOT LESS THAN 
A)             0.73 MM THICK SHEET LEAD, 
B)             0.33 MM THICK GALVANIZED STEEL, 
C)             0.46 MM THICK COPPER, 
D)             0.46 MM THICK ZINC, 
E)             0.48 MM THICK ALUMINUM. STAIRS, GUARDS & HANDRAILS 

STAIRS

STAIRS ARE TO HAVE A MAXIMUM RISE OF 200 MM (7 7/8”), MINIMUM RUN OF 255 MM (10"), MINIMUM TREAD WIDTH OF 280 MM (11"), A STAIR WIDTH OF

LEAST 860 MM (34") AND A HEADROOM CLEARANCE OF AT LEAST 1.95 IN (6’ 4”). CLEAR HEADROOM OVER STAIRS, BELOW BEAMS AND DUCTING IS 1.85

M. CURVED STAIRS AND WINDERS SHALL CONFORM TO ARTICLE 9.8.5. 

STAIRS MAY CONTAIN WINDERS PROVIDED THE WINDERS MEET AT A CENTER POINT THROUGH AN ANGLE OF NOT MORE THAN 90° AND THE
INDIVIDUAL TREADS TURN THROUGH A 30° ANGLE, OR A 45° ANGLE, WITH NO DEVIATIONS ABOVE OR BELOW THOSE ANGLES.  ONLY ONE SET OF
WINDERS IS PERMITTED BETWEEN EACH FLOOR LEVEL. 
AT LEAST ONE STAIR BETWEEN EACH FLOOR LEVEL WITHIN A DWELLING UNIT AND EXTERIOR STAIRS SERVING THE DWELLING UNIT ARE TO HAVE A
WIDTH OF NOT LESS THAN 800 MM (31") 
INTERIOR AND/OR EXTERIOR STAIRS WITH MORE THAN 3 RISERS ARE TO HAVE A HANDRAIL MOUNTED BETWEEN 865 MM (34”) AND 965 MM (38”) ABOVE
THE LINE OF STAIR NOSING. 
A LANDING IS TO BE PROVIDED AT THE TOP OF STAIRS FROM AN ATTACHED GARAGE TO A DWELLING UNIT WHERE THERE ARE MORE THAN 3 RISERS
OR THE DOOR SWINGS TOWARDS THE STEPS. 
SECONDARY ENTRANCES TO THE DWELLING THAT ARE OVER 3 RISERS IN HEIGHT REQUIRE A LANDING AT THE TOP OF THE STAIRS. 
A GUARD FOR STAIRS IS TO BE NOT LESS THAN 900 MM (36") HIGH MEASURED VERTICALLY FROM A LINE DRAWN THROUGH THE OUTSIDE EDGES OF
THE STAIR NOSING, AND 900 MM (36") IN HEIGHT AT LANDINGS. 
AN EXTERIOR RAISED DECK OR BALCONY IS TO BE PROTECTED ON ALL OPEN SIDES THAT ARE BETWEEN 600 MM (24”) AND 1.8 M (6’) ABOVE
ADJACENT GROUND LEVEL BY GUARDS 900 MM (36") IN HEIGHT. IF THE ADJACENT GROUND LEVEL IS MORE THAN 1.8 M (6’) A 1,070 MM (42") HIGH
GUARD IS REQUIRED. 

  
INSULATION 

INSULATION IS TO BE PROVIDED IN ASSEMBLIES BETWEEN HEATED AND UNHEATED SPACES AND THE BUILDING EXTERIOR. 
A CONTINUOUS 0.15 MM (6 MIL) VAPOR BARRIER, CGSB APPROVED, IS TO BE PROVIDED ON THE WARM SIDE OF THE INSULATION. 
INSULATION TO FOLLOW THE REQUIREMENTS SET OUT IN ABC 2014, 9.36  

 •        FOAMED PLASTIC INSULATION IS TO BE PROTECTED BY AN APPROVED THERMAL BARRIER (I.E., 12 MM (1/2") GYPSUM WALLBOARD) WHICH IS TO
BE INSTALLED AT THE WARM SIDE OF THE INSULATION. 

WHERE INSULATION IS EXPOSED TO THE WEATHER AND SUBJECT TO MECHANICAL DAMAGE, IT IS TO BE PROTECTED WITH AT LEAST 6 MM (1/4")
ASBESTOS-CEMENT BOARD OR 12 MM (1/2") CEMENT PARGING ON WIRE LATH. 
INSULATION AND VAPOR BARRIER IN AN UNFINISHED BASEMENT THAT IS CLOSE TO LAUNDRY AREAS, FURNACES OR OTHER AREAS WHERE IT IS
SUBJECT TO PHYSICAL DAMAGE, MUST BE PROTECTED WITH DRYWALL OR EQUIVALENT MATERIAL. 

  
 
 

FLOOR AND ROOF SYSTEMS 
- ALL PRE MANUFACTURED FLOOR SYSTEMS INCLUDING BEAMS, FLOOR JOISTS, OR ANY OTHER COMPONENT IN THE
FLOOR MUST BE ENGINEERED BY SUPPLIER. 
-ALL ROOF TRUSSES MUST BE DESIGNED AND ENGINEERED BY A PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER REGISTERED IN THE LOCAL
BUILDING AREA 
-ANY OTHER STRUCTURAL COMPONENTS REQUIRED MUST BE CHECKED AND VERIFIED BY LOCAL BUILDING AUTHORITY
AND/OR STRUCTURAL ENGINEER REGISTERED IN THE LOCAL BUILDING AREA. AND ANY CHANGES REQUIRED MUST BE
REPORTED TO THIS OFFICE 
  
-IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE FLOOR JOIST AND ROOF TRUSS DESIGNER TO CONFIRM ALL OVER HANGS, ROOF
SLOPES AND GENERAL ROOF AND FLOOR DESIGN AGAINST THE MOST CURRENT SET OF BUILDING PERMIT PLANS PRIOR
TO ANY FACTORY PRODUCTION 
-IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE ROOF AND FLOOR SUPPLIERS DESIGNERS TO CONTACT THE PROJECT DESIGNER
WITH ANY QUESTIONS OR CONCERNS PRIOR TO FACTORY PRODUCTION COMMENCING 
  
FLOOR JOISTS AND PRE-MANUFACTURED BEAMS OTHER THAN DIMENSIONAL LUMBER ARE TO BE DESIGNED AND
INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE MANUFACTURERS SPECIFICATIONS AND DETAILS 

PROFESSIONAL INVOLVEMENT 
•THE FOLLOWING CONCRETE FOUNDATIONS ARE TO BE DESIGNED BY A PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER OR ARCHITECT,
REGISTERED TO PRACTICE IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA; PILE FOUNDATIONS, PILE AND GRADE BEAM FOUNDATIONS,
FOUNDATIONS WITH A DEPTH OF LESS THAN 1.2 M (4’), AND COMPLICATED FOUNDATIONS DEEMED NECESSARY BY THE
BUILDING SAFETY OFFICER. 
  
FOUNDATION AND FLOOR SLABS 

•FOUNDATIONS ARE TO BE PLACED ON SOIL WITH A MINIMUM BEARING CAPACITY OF 75 KPA AS BEFORE THE FOOTINGS
ARE POURED AND THE OWNER MUST PROVIDE A COPY OF THE BEARING CERTIFICATE FROM THE GEO-TECHNICAL
ENGINEER WHEN REQUESTING THE INSPECTION OF THE FOUNDATION. 
•FOUNDATIONS THAT ARE UNHEATED OR HAVE LIMITED EXPOSURE TO HEAT, SUCH AS ATTACHED GARAGES AND COLUMN
PADS FOR DECKS ARE TO BE A MINIMUM OF1.2M OR 2M BELOW FINISHED GRADE AS REQUIRED BASED ON BUILDING ZONE.
•EXCAVATIONS AND FOUNDATIONS SHALL BE KEPT FREE FROM WATER AND SHALL BE HEATED AS NECESSARY TO
PREVENT THE FREEZING OF SOILS BENEATH   FOUNDATIONS. 
•WHEN A CONCRETE FOUNDATION IS BEING POURED AND THE TEMPERATURE IS BELOW 5 C THE FOUNDATION MUST BE
KEPT AT 10 C FOR MINIMUM 72 HOURS. NO EXCEPTIONS. 
•SOFFIT PROTECTION IS REQUIRED WHERE EAVES ARE NEARER THAN 1.2 METERS TO PROPERTY LINE. MAY BE ACHIEVED
BY INSTALLING UN-VENTED SOFFIT OR BY INSTALLING 1/2” DRYWALL OR PLYWOOD OR .38MM SHEET STEEL UNDER SOFFIT.
EXTRA ATTIC VENTILATION MAY BE REQUIRED. ENSURE THE 1/300 VENTILATION AREA TO ROOF AREA IS MAINTAINED. 
•INTERIOR OF ATTACHED GARAGE IS TO BE FINISHED AS PER 9.35.4.1. (TYPICALLY ELECTRICAL INSTALLATION, INSULATION,
6M POLY, & 1/2"DRYWALL). 
•MINIMUM 34” X 34" LANDING REQUIRED IN ATTACHED GARAGE AT PASSAGE DOOR INTO HOUSE IF MORE THAN THREE
RISERS AND STAIRS WITH GRASP-ABLE HANDRAIL SHALL BE PROVIDED. ALBERTA BUILDING CODE 2014 SECTIONS 9.8.6.2.4,
9.8.7.1.3 
  
·ANY EXCAVATION FOR FOUNDATIONS IS TO EXTEND TO UNDISTURBED SOIL AND BELOW THE DEPTH OF FROST
PENETRATION A MINIMUM OF 1.2 M (4’) OR 2.0M (6'6-3/4") AS REQUIRED BY BUILDING ZONE. 
·THE CONSTRUCTION OF ICF (INSULATED CONCRETE FORM) FOUNDATION AND WALLS MUST CONFORM TO THE NATIONAL
BUILDING CODE 2019 - ALBERTA EDITION AND TO THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS: 
•MUST MEET REQUIREMENTS OF CCMC EVALUATION REPORT AND USED IN ACCORDANCE WITH LIMITATIONS AND
CONDITIONS STATED IN THIS REPORT. 
•MUST BE ERECTED UNDER DIRECT SUPERVISION OF THE MANUFACTURER OR BY A CERTIFIED INSTALLER. 
•MUST BE IN STRICT COMPLIANCE WITH THE MANUFACTURER’S TECHNICAL MANUAL. 
•MUST BE PROTECTED FROM THE INSIDE BY A THERMAL BARRIER, I.E.1/2" DRYWALL. 

FOUNDATION WALL CONTAINING OPENINGS MORE THAN 1.2 M LONG OR CONTAINING OPENINGS IN MORE THAN 25% OF
ITS LENGTH, THAT PORTION OF THE WALL BENEATH SUCH OPENINGS SHALL BE CONSIDERED LATERALLY
UNSUPPORTED, UNLESS THE WALL AROUND THE OPENING IS REINFORCED TO WITHSTAND THE EARTH PRESSURE. 
WHEN THE LENGTH OF SOLID WALL BETWEEN WINDOWS IS LESS THAN THE AVERAGE LENGTH OF THE WINDOWS, THE
COMBINED LENGTH OF SUCH WINDOWS SHALL BE CONSIDERED AS A SINGLE OPENING FOR THE PURPOSE OF
DETERMINING IF A WALL IS LATERALLY UNSUPPORTED. 
FOUNDATION WALLS ARE TO BE REINFORCED WHERE STAIR WELLS ARE ADJACENT TO STAIR OPENINGS AND ARE NOT
LATERALLY SUPPORTED. 
FOOTINGS ARE TO REST ON UNDISTURBED SOIL, ROCK, OR COMPACTED GRANULAR FILL. 
SULPHATE RESISTING CEMENT IS TO BE USED FOR CONCRETE IN CONTACT WITH SULPHATE SOILS DELETERIOUS TO
NORMAL CEMENT. 
SULPHATE RESISTANT CONCRETE IS TO HAVE A MINIMUM COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH OF 32 MPA (2,175 PSI). 
WHERE A FOUNDATION RESTS ON GRAVEL, SAND OR SILT IN WHICH THE WATER TABLE IS LESS THAN THE WIDTH OF THE
FOOTINGS BELOW THE BEARING SURFACE, THE FOOTING IS TO BE NOT LESS THAN TWICE THE WIDTH NORMALLY
REQUIRED.  
IN AREAS WHICH SOIL MOVEMENT CAUSED BY CHANGES IN SOIL MOISTURE CONTENT IS KNOWN TO OCCUR TO THE
EXTENT THAT IT MAY CAUSE SIGNIFICANT DAMAGE TO A BUILDING, MEASURES ARE TO BE TAKEN TO MINIMIZE THIS
EFFECT. 

WHEN A FOUNDATION IS LOCATED IN AN AREA WHERE SOIL MOVEMENT CAUSED BY CHANGES IN SOIL BY CHEMICAL-
MICROBIOLOGICAL OXIDATION (PYRITE OR BENTONITE MATERIAL) IS KNOWN TO OCCUR, A SUBSURFACE INVESTIGATION
SHALL BE CARRIED OUT AND SUBMITTED BY A PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER AND SUBMITTED TO THE AUTHORITY HAVING
JURISDICTION PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF FOUNDATION WORK. 
•UNLESS SHOWN TO BE UNNECESSARY, FOUNDATION DRAINAGE IS TO BE INSTALLED. IT IS TO BE AT LEAST 100 MM (4")
DIAMETER WEEPING TILE LAID ON UNDISTURBED OR WELL COMPACTED SOIL WITH NOT LESS THAN 150 MM (6")
GRANULAR COVER ON THE TOP AND SIDES; DRAINING TO A BUILDING DRAIN, STORM DRAIN, DRAINAGE DITCH, DRY WELL
OR TO THE GROUND SURFACE (CHECK YOUR LOCAL BYLAWS FOR LOCAL REQUIREMENTS). 
FOUNDATION DRAINS ARE TO DRAIN TO A SEWER, DRAINAGE DITCH OR DRYWELL. 
•WHERE A SUMP PIT IS REQUIRED TO BE PROVIDED, IT IS TO BE: 
A) NOT LESS THAN 750 MM (30") DEEP, 
B) NOT LESS THAN 0.25 M° (2.7 FT°) IN AREA, AND 
C) BE PROVIDED WITH A COVER. 
COVERS FOR SUMP PITS ARE TO BE DESIGNED TO RESIST REMOVAL BY CHILDREN. 

CONCRETE SLABS-ON-GROUND ARE TO BE AT LEAST 75 MM (3”) THICK EXCLUSIVE OF TOPPING ON TOP OF 0.15 MM (6
MIL) POLYETHYLENE OR TYPE “S” ROLL ROOFING DAMP-PROOFING. 
WHEN STEP FOOTINGS ARE USED, THE VERTICAL RISE BETWEEN HORIZONTAL PORTIONS IS NOT TO EXCEED 600 MM (2’)
AND HORIZONTAL DISTANCE BETWEEN RISERS IS NOT TO BE LESS THAN 600 MM (2’). 

  

HEATING AND VENTILATION 
FACTORY-BUILT FIREPLACES AND THEIR CHIMNEYS ARE TO HAVE A LABEL SHOWING THAT THEY CONFORM TO ULC S610, “STANDARD FOR FACTORY
BUILT FIREPLACES”. 
WOOD STOVES, RANGES AND SPACE HEATERS WHICH ARE CERTIFIED AND HAVE A LABEL, ARE TO BE INSTALLED AS PER THE MANUAL SUPPLIED. 

UNCERTIFIED WOOD STOVES, RANGES AND SPACE HEATERS ARE TO BE INSTALLED WITH CLEARANCES OF AT LEAST 
1.2 M (4’ 0”) ON ALL SIDES AND FRONT, PLUS 1.5 M (5’ 0”) AT THE TOP UNLESS OTHERWISE APPROVED; AND ON A NON-COMBUSTIBLE FLOOR SURFACE. 
•        COMBUSTION AIR IS REQUIRED FOR ALL FUEL FIRED APPLIANCES, INCLUDING FIREPLACES; INTRODUCED BY AIR INTAKES OTHER THAN A DOOR
OR WINDOW. 
•        THE COMBUSTION AIR INLET IS NOT TO BE LOCATED WITHIN AN ATTIC OR ROOF SPACE, NOR WITHIN A CRAWL SPACE. 
•        CHIMNEYS ARE TO EXTEND AT LEAST 900 MM (36”) ABOVE ANY CONNECTING ROOF SURFACE AND 600 MM (24”) ABOVE ANY ROOF SURFACE WITHIN
3 M (10’ 0”) AND THEY ARE TO BE EQUIPPED WITH A WATERPROOF CAP. 
•        THE ROOF OR ATTIC SPACE IS TO BE PROVIDED WITH AN UNOBSTRUCTED VENT AREA OF NOT LESS THAN 1/300 OF THE INSULATED CEILING AREA,
DISTRIBUTED TO PROVIDE GOOD CROSS VENTILATION. 
•        WHEN VENTILATING A CATHEDRAL CEILING, IT IS TO HAVE A 75 MM (3”) AIR SPACE BETWEEN THE INSULATION AND THE ROOF SHEATHING, OR
SHALL HAVE AT LEAST 38 MM X 38 MM (2” X 2”) CROSS PURLINS APPLIED ACROSS THE TOP OF THE JOIST AND THE INSULATION SHALL BE 25 MM (1")
BELOW THE TOP OF THE JOISTS. 
•        CRAWL SPACES ARE TO BE VENTILATED BY NATURAL OR MECHANICAL MEANS. NATURAL VENTILATION IS TO BE NOT LESS THAN 0.1 IN° (1 FT.) OF
UNOBSTRUCTED VENT FOR EVERY 50 M° (538 FT°.) OF FLOOR AREA. 
•        DUCTWORK FOR RANGE HOODS AND RANGE-TOP FANS ARE TO: 
A)             BE OF NONCOMBUSTIBLE, CORROSION —RESISTANT MATERIAL, 
B)             LEAD DIRECTLY TO THE OUTDOORS WITH NO CONNECTIONS TO OTHER EXHAUST FANS OR DUCTS, AND 
C)              BE EQUIPPED WITH A GREASE FILTER AT THE INTAKE END. 
•        EXHAUST FROM KITCHEN OR WASHROOM FANS IS TO BE DUCTED DIRECTLY TO THE OUTSIDE AND THE DUCT IS TO BE INSULATED TO NOT LESS
THAN RSI 0.5 (R-2.85), WHERE PASSING THROUGH AN UNHEATED SPACE. 
•        ALL SUPPLY AIR DUCTS NOT FITTED WITH ADJUSTABLE DIFFUSERS ARE TO HAVE ADJUSTABLE DAMPER FITTED WITH AN EXTERNAL POSITION
INDICATOR. 
•        JOINTS IN SUPPLY, RETURN AND MAKE-UP AIR DUCTS ARE TO BE SEALED WITH MASTIC, METAL FOIL DUCT TAPE OR THE MANUFACTURER’S
APPROVED SEALANT. 
•        HOMES INTENDED FOR USE IN THE WINTER MONTHS ON A CONTINUING BASIS MUST BE EQUIPPED WITH HEATING FACILITIES CAPABLE OF
MAINTAINING THE FOLLOWING INDOOR AIR TEMPERATURES AT THE OUTSIDE WINTER DESIGN TEMPERATURE: 
A)             22° C FOR ALL LIVING SPACES, 
B)             18° C IN UNFINISHED BASEMENTS, AND 
C)              15° C IN HEATED CRAWL SPACES. 
•        EACH HABITABLE ROOM OR SPACE IS TO HAVE THE CAPACITY OF EXHAUSTING AND REPLACING AIR IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 9.32.2., AND
9.32.3. THE SYSTEM IS TO CONSIST OF SUFFICIENT PRINCIPAL AND SUPPLEMENTARY EXHAUST FANS, OR BE VENTILATED BY USING A HRV (HEAT
RECOVERY VENTILATOR). 
•        THE DWELLING UNIT IS TO INCORPORATE PROVISIONS FOR THE NON-HEATING SEASON VENTILATION. IF SUPPLIED WITH ELECTRICAL POWER,
VENTILATION IS TO BE SUPPLIED BY THE HEATING APPLIANCE SUCH AS A FURNACE INTERCONNECTED WITH SUFFICIENT PRINCIPAL AND
SUPPLEMENTARY EXHAUST FANS, OR BE VENTILATED BY USING A HRV (HEAT RECOVERY VENTILATOR). 
•        DWELLINGS ARE TO BE EQUIPPED WITH HIGH EFFICIENCY APPLIANCES OR HAVE SUFFICIENT MAKE-UP/COMBUSTION AIR FOR PROTECTION
AGAINST DEPRESSURIZATION. 
•        CLOTHES DRYER VENTS ARE TO BE DUCTED TO THE OUTSIDE. 
•        THE PRINCIPAL VENTILATION FAN CONTROL IS TO BE WIRED SO THAT THE ACTIVATION OF THE PRINCIPAL VENTILATION FAN AUTOMATICALLY
ACTIVATES THE FORCED AIR HEATING SYSTEM’S CIRCULATION FAN TO PROVIDE AN AIRFLOW NOT GREATER THAN THE SPACE-HEATING AIRFLOW. 
•        IF THE HOME IS HEATED WHOLLY OR PARTIALLY BY HYDRONIC RADIANT FLOOR HEATING, ENGINEERED DRAWINGS ARE TO BE SUBMITTED OF THE
SPECIFIC LAYOUT. BEDROOMS LOCATED IN HYDRONICALLY HEATED AREAS ARE TO BE PROVIDED WITH A SOURCE OF FRESH AIR OTHER THAN
OPENING A WINDOW.   THE FRESH AIR IS TO BE PREHEATED     IN WINTER. VENTILATION SYSTEMS IN A HOUSE AND SECONDARY SUITE MUST BE
SEPARATE AND INDEPENDENT 
  
 

BUILDING ANCHORAGE TO BE PROVIDED BY EMBEDDING IN CONCRETE TWO 38 MM X 89
MM (2”X 4”) SILL PLATES PLACED ON EDGE AND SEPARATED BY BLOCKING SPACED 1.2 M
(4’) O.C., OR FASTENING THE SILL PLATE TO THE FOUNDATION WITH NOT LESS THAN 12.7
MM (1/2”) ANCHOR BOLTS SPACED NOT MORE THAN 2.4 M (8’) O/C, OR EMBEDDING ENDS
OF THE FIRST FLOOR JOISTS IN CONCRETE 
ALL WALL, FLOOR AND ROOF ASSEMBLIES SEPARATING CONDITIONED SPACE FROM
GROUND SHALL BE PROTECTED BY AN AIR BARRIER SYSTEM CONFORMING TO ABC 
2014 9.25.3 AND SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH A ROUGH IN FOR FUTURE INSTALLATION OF A
RADON EXTRACTION SYSTEM CONFORMING TO ABC 9.13.40.3 

  

General Notes and Specifications

  
-THIS OFFICE SHALL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CONSTRUCTION MEANS AND METHODS,
ACTS OR OMISSIONS OF THE CONTRACTOR OR SUBCONTRACTOR, OR FAILURE OF ANY OF
THEM TO CARRY OUT WORK IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS. AND
DEFECT DISCOVERED IN THE CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE
ATTENTION OF THIS OFFICE BY WRITTEN NOTICE BEFORE PROCEEDING WITH WORK. 

DESIGN CRITERIA: THE NATIONAL BUILDING CODE 2019 - ALBERTA EDITION 
ROOF: SNOW LOAD TO BE VERIFIED BY TRUSS SUPPLIER 
10 PSF DEAD LOAD. 
FLOOR: 40 PSF LIVE LOAD. 
10 PSF DEAD LOAD. 
SOIL: 2,000 PSF ALLOWABLE (ASSUMED). TO BE AT TIME OF EXCAVATION 
ASSUMED FROST DEPTH: 4'-0"(1.2M)  ZONE 6 & ZONE 7A, 6'6-3/4" (2.0M) ZONE 7B  
  
-THIS STRUCTURE SHALL BE ADEQUATELY BRACED FOR WIND LOADS UNTIL THE ROOF,
FLOOR AND WALLS HAVE BEEN PERMANENTLY FRAMED TOGETHER AND SHEATHED. 
  
-INSTALL FOAM TYPE INSULATION AT FLOOR AND PLATE LINES, OPENINGS IN PLATES,
CORNER STUD CAVITIES AND AROUND DOOR AND WINDOW ROUGH OPENING CAVITIES. 
  
-INSTALL WATERPROOF GYPSUM BOARD AT ALL WATER SPLASH AREAS TO MINIMUM 70"
ABOVE SHOWER DRAINS. 
  
-PROVIDE SOLID BLOCKING UNDER ALL BEARING WALLS PERPENDICULAR TO JOISTS AND
OTHER BEARING POINTS NOT OTHERWISE PROVIDED WITH SUPPORT. 
  
-ALL STRUCTURAL FRAMING SHALL CONFORM TO 9.23 WOOD FRAME CONSTRUCTION THE
NATIONAL BUILDING CODE 2019 - ALBERTA EDITION
  
-ENSURE FINISHED GRADE SLOPE AWAY FROM STRUCTURE AT MIN 2% SLOPE 
  
RESISTANCE TO FORCED ENTRY 
  
ALL WINDOWS WITHIN 2m (6'-7") OF ADJACENT GROUND LEVEL 
AND ALL ENTRANCE DOORS TO DWELLING UNITS ARE TO BE 
RESISTANT TO FORCED ENTRY AS PER ABC 2014, DIV. B PART 9.7.5.3 
  

MISCELLANEOUS NOTES: 

PROFESSIONAL INVOLVEMENT 

•        THE FOLLOWING PROJECT MAY NEED TO BE DESIGNED BY A PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER
OR ARCHITECT  REGISTERED TO PRACTICE IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA UPON THE
DETERMINATION OF THE LOCAL BUILDING AUTHORITY AND SECTION 2.4 OF THE NATIONAL
BUILDING CODE 2019 - ALBERTA EDITION 

NOTE: 

-DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS 
  
-ALL FLOOR PLAN DIMENSIONS ARE TO FACE OF STUDS 
  
-ALL CONSTRUCTION SHALL CONFORM TO THE NEW HOME CONSTRUCTION PART OF THE
LOCAL BUILDING CODE AND ANY OTHER CODES AND REQUIREMENTS 
  
-ALL DIMENSIONS AND SPECIFICATIONS MUST BE CHECKED AND VERIFIED BY CONTRACTOR
AND/OR OWNER BEFORE ANY CONSTRUCTION STARTS. ANY CORRECTIONS AND/OR
OMISSIONS MUST BE REPORTED TO PARK AVENUE CONTRACTING BEFORE CONSTRUCTION
STARTS 
  
- CONTRACTOR IS TO ENSURE ALL POSTS AND BEARING POINTS ARE PROPERLY 
PLACED ACCORDING TO ALL FLOOR JOISTS & ROOF TRUSS LAYOUTS SUPPLIED BY THE
FLOOR AND TRUSS SUPPLIERS -ALL BEAMS, POSTS, FOOTINGS, AND ANY OTHER
STRUCTURAL COMPONENT INVOLVED IN THIS PROJECT ARE SUGGESTED ONLY AND ARE TO
BE CHECKED AND VERIFIED BY A LOCAL BUILDING AUTHORITY AND/OR A STRUCTURAL
ENGINEER REGISTERED IN YOUR LOCAL BUILDING AREA 
  
- ALL WINDOWS AND DOORS SHOWN ARE SHOWN IN APPROXIMATE FRAME SIZES ONLY
ACTUAL ROUGH OPENINGS WILL VARY DEPENDING ON SUPPLIER. CONSULT SUPPLIERS
ROUGH OPENINGS FOR EXACT FRAMING REQUIREMENTS 
  
-THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL FULLY COMPLY WITH THE NATIONAL BUILDING CODE
2019 - ALBERTA EDITION AND ALL ADDITIONAL PROVINCIAL AND LOCAL CODE REQUIREMENTS.
  
-THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ASSUME FULL RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY WORK KNOWINGLY
PERFORMED CONTRARY TO SUCH LAWS, ORDINANCES, OR REGULATIONS. THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL ALSO PERFORM COORDINATION WITH ALL UTILITIES AND PROVINCIAL
SERVICE AUTHORITIES. 
  
-WRITTEN DIMENSIONS ON THESE DRAWINGS SHALL HAVE PRECEDENCE OVER SCALED
DIMENSIONS. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY AND IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL
DIMENSIONS (INCLUDING ROUGH OPENINGS) AND CONDITIONS ON THE JOB AND MUST
NOTIFY THIS OFFICE OF ANY VARIATIONS FROM THESE DRAWINGS. CONTRACTOR SHALL
CONTACT THIS OFFICE WITH ANY DISCREPANCIES. 

WINDOW PERFORMANCE 
  
RATINGS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE NATIONAL BUILDING CODE
2019 - ALBERTA EDITION, 
DIV. B PART 9.7.2 & 9.7.4 TO BE PROVIDED BY WINDOW SUPPLIER 
  
MAX. U- VALUE/ MIN TEMPERATURE INDEX (1) BASED ON 2.5% 
JANUARY DESIGN TEMPERATURE: 
CONSULT REGULATIONS FOR YOUR CLIMACTIC ZONE 
  
THE FOLLOWING MINIMUM PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS ARE BASED ON 
AAMA/WDMA/CSA 101/1S. 2/A440-08 (NAFS-08) AND CSA A440S1-09 
WITH UPDATE NO. 1 (CANADIAN SUPPLEMENT TO NAFS-08) 

TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE, THESE PLANS ARE DRAWN TO COMPLY WITH OWNER'S
AND/OR 
BUILDERS SPECIFICATIONS AND ANY CHANGES MADE ON THEM AFTER PRINTS ARE MADE
WILL BE DONE AT THE OWNERS AND/OR BUILDERS EXPENSE AND RESPONSIBILITY. 

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS AND ENCLOSED DRAWINGS. 

PARK AVENUE CONTRACTING IS NOT LIABLE FOR ERRORS ONCE CONSTRUCTION HAS
BEGUN.  

WHILE EVERY EFFORT HAS BEEN MADE IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS PLAN TO 
AVOID MISTAKES, THE DESIGNER CAN NOT GUARANTEE AGAINST HUMAN ERROR. 

THE CONTRACTOR OF THE JOB MUST CHECK AND DIMENSIONS AND OTHER 
DETAILS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AND BE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE THEREAFTER. 
  

,   

A
1

41
02

-5
0 

A
V

E
O

LD
S

, A
B

.

  A
R

K
   

  V
E

N
U

E
   

  O
N

T
R

A
C

T
IN

G
A

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

U
R

A
L 

D
E

S
IG

N
 A

N
D

 D
R

A
F

T
IN

G
S

E
R

V
IC

E

S
H

EE
T:

FI
LE

:

JA
M

ES
 A

D
D

 O
N

PAC

3/
16

" 
=

 1
'-

0"
G

E
N

E
R

A
L 

N
O

T
E

S

S
C
A
LE

:
PR

EP
AR

ED
 F

O
R
:

S
H

EE
T:

D
EA

N

D
A
TE

:
D

N
 B

Y:
PR

O
JE

C
T 

AD
D

R
ES

S

20
24

-0
1-

08
49

12
-4

9 
A
VE

N
U

E 
- 

SA
N

G
U

D
O

, 
AL

B
ER

TA
T0

E 
2A

0 
- 

78
0-

87
0-

27
92

P
C

C
U

S
TO

M
ER

 N
A
M

E:

JA
M

E
S 

R
O

SE
N

B
E

R
G

E
R

67

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



S

S

S

S

SS

S

S

S S

SS

83
68

UP

S2
A7

S2
A7

S2
A7

S2
A7

..

S1
A7

S1
A7

S1
A7

S1
A7

.

S5S5

C
ro

ss
 S

ec
tio

n 
5

S3
A7

S3
A7

S3
A7

S3
A7

...

11'-0" 10'-0" 10'-0" 11'-8"

26
'-0

"
10

'-0
"

10
'-0

"

11'-0" 13'-6" 7'-6"

10'-8" 32'-0"

2'
-6

"
7'

-6
"

2'
-6

"
7'

-6
"

8'-0" 8'-0"

13'-0" 16'-0" 13'-8"

20
'-0

"

46
'-0

"

16'-0"

10
'-0

"

10
'-0

"

42'-8"

32'-0"

3'
-0

"

4'
-0

"
12

'-0
"

30'-8" X 25'-4"
GARAGE

3-2x10 SPF#2 BEAM ON STUBBY STEEL TELEPOSTS

2X
10

 S
P

F
 J

O
IS

T
S

 @
 1

6"
 O

.C
.

2X
10

 S
P

F
 J

O
IS

T
S

 @
 1

6"
 O

.C
.

2X10 SPF JOISTS @ 16" O.C.

4" REINFORCED CONC. FLOOR
6mil POLY
GRANULAR FILL

4" CONC. FLOOR
6mil POLY
GRANULAR FILL

2X
10

 S
P

F
 J

O
IS

T
S

 @
 1

6"
 O

.C
.

3-2X10 BEAM ON
STEEL TELEPOSTS ON
30"X30"X10" CONC. FTG
r/w 4 ROWS 10M e/w

8"X24" CONC. GRADE BEAM
ON 12" DIA CONC. PILES
REFER TO ENG. SPECS

8" CONC. FROST WALL ON 20"X8" CONC FOOTING
ENSURE FOOTING EXTENDS BELOW FROST LEVEL

8" CONC. FROST WALL ON 20"X8" CONC. FOOTING

OVERHEAD DOOR BUCKS

CHANGE JOIST
DIRECTION

EXISTING RETAINING WALL FOR STAIRWAY

1
A2
1

A2 SCALE:3/16" = 1'-0"    

BASEMENT PLAN

,   

A
2

41
02

-5
0 

A
V

E
O

LD
S

, A
B

.

  A
R

K
   

  V
E

N
U

E
   

  O
N

T
R

A
C

T
IN

G
A

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

U
R

A
L 

D
E

S
IG

N
 A

N
D

 D
R

A
F

T
IN

G
S

E
R

V
IC

E

S
H

EE
T:

FI
LE

:

JA
M

ES
 A

D
D

 O
N

PAC

3/
16

" 
=

 1
'-

0"
FO

U
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 P

LA
N

S
C
A
LE

:
PR

EP
AR

ED
 F

O
R
:

S
H

EE
T:

D
EA

N

D
A
TE

:
D

N
 B

Y:
PR

O
JE

C
T 

AD
D

R
ES

S

20
24

-0
1-

08
49

12
-4

9 
A
VE

N
U

E 
- 

SA
N

G
U

D
O

, 
AL

B
ER

TA
T0

E 
2A

0 
- 

78
0-

87
0-

27
92

P
C

C
U

S
TO

M
ER

 N
A
M

E:

JA
M

E
S 

R
O

SE
N

B
E

R
G

E
R

68

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



DN

48"/48" DC

60"/60" DC

48
"/4

8"
 D

C

48
"/4

8"
 D

C

S2
A7
S2
A7

..

S1
A7
S1
A7

.

S5S5

C
ro

ss
 S

ec
tio

n 
5

S3
A7

S3
A7

S3
A7

S3
A7

...

10
'-0

"
5'

-0
"

5'
-0

"
10

'-3
 1

/2
"

7'-4 1/2" 8'-7 1/2" 8'-7 1/2" 7'-4 1/2"

1'-0"

10
'-0

"
5'

-0
"

5'
-0

"
6'

-5
 1

/2
"

3'
-4

 1
/2

"

7'-4 1/2" 8'-7 1/2" 8'-7 1/2" 7'-4 1/2"

16'-0" 8'-7 1/2" 7'-4 1/2"

30
'-3

 1
/2

"

32'-0"

13'-0" X 3'-4"
OPEN BELOW

VOID

VOIDVOID

VOID

LOFT

LINE OF 8' CEILING

4' HIGH WALL

LINE OF 8' CEILING

4' HIGH WALL

DN

30
"/6

0"
 S

C
30

"/6
0"

 S
C

72"/60" DC

30
"/4

8"
 S

C
24

"/3
6"

 S
C

808016080

42"/48" LS3068

2668

2868

2068

30
68

30
68

40
68

40
68

50
68

50
68

60"/60" DC 60"/60" DC

60
"/6

0"
 D

C

3068 30"/48" SC

UP

N

S2
A7
S2
A7

..

S1
A7

S1
A7

S1
A7

S1
A7

.

S5S5

C
ro

ss
 S

ec
tio

n 
5

S3
A7

S3
A7

S3
A7

S3
A7

...

0'-8"

12
'-0

"
27

'-0
"

4'
-0

"

8'-4" 10'-0" 14'-4" 10'-0"

11
'-6

 1
/2

"
8'

-5
 1

/2
"

26
'-0

"

3'-3" 4'-8" 2'-9" 11'-0" 13'-6" 7'-6"

3'
-0

"

26'-1" 2'-7" 14'-0"

10'-8" 32'-0"

5'-0" 4'-4"

5'
-0

"
5'

-0
"

3'
-6

"
6'

-0
"

4'-8" 5'-4" 13'-5" 6'-7" 12'-0"

3'
-1

1 
1/

2"
6'

-1
"

9'
-1

1 
1/

2"

13'-0" 16'-0" 13'-8"

2'
-1

1 
1/

2"

26
'-0

"
20

'-0
"

3'
-3

"
5'

-0
"

3'
-9

"
4'

-0
"

11
'-6

"

5'
-0

"
5'

-0
"

4'-3" 7'-6" 4'-3"

5'-6 3/4"6'-5 1/4"

10
'-6

"
4'

-0
"

5'
-6

"

19
'-0

"
4'

-0
"

3'
-1

0"

6'-7"3'-6 3/8"9'-11 1/8"5'-3 1/2"5'-4"

16'-0"

0'
-0

 1
/2

"0'
-0

 3
/4

"
4'

-8
"

0'
-2

 3
/4

"
3'

-3
"

0'
-4

 1
/2

"
0'

-1
 1

/2
"

0'
-9

"
0'

-0
 1

/2
"

10
'-0

"

13'-2" X 13'-8"

31'-0" X 25'-6"

15'-0" X 9'-6"

MASTER BDRM

GARAGE

WASHER/DRYER

738 SQ.FT.

STORAGE

2X
6 

W
A

LL

2X
6 

W
A

LL

SUNROOM

ENTRY

DINING
KITCHEN

ENSUITE
ACCESS TO
EXISTING HOUSE
BASEMENT

2X
6 

S
TA

C
K

2X6 WALL

2X4 PLUMBING WALL

TUB/SHWR

LINEN

10' HIGH CEILING

8' HIGH CEILING

LINE OF UPPER FLOOR

D/W

REF

16X8 OH DOOR 8X8 OH DOOR

ENGINEERED HEADER ENGINEERED HEADER

ENGINEERED ATTIC TRUSSES ABOVE

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
E

D
 3

/1
2 

S
LO

P
E

 T
R

U
S

S
E

S
 @

 2
4"

 O
.C

.

ENG. HDR

,   

A
3

41
02

-5
0 

A
V

E
O

LD
S

, A
B

.

  A
R

K
   

  V
E

N
U

E
   

  O
N

T
R

A
C

T
IN

G
A

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

U
R

A
L 

D
E

S
IG

N
 A

N
D

 D
R

A
F

T
IN

G
S

E
R

V
IC

E

S
H

EE
T:

FI
LE

:

JA
M

ES
 A

D
D

 O
N

PAC

3/
16

" 
=

 1
'-

0"
FL

O
O

R
 P

LA
N

S

S
C
A
LE

:
PR

EP
AR

ED
 F

O
R
:

S
H

EE
T:

D
EA

N

D
A
TE

:
D

N
 B

Y:
PR

O
JE

C
T 

AD
D

R
ES

S

20
24

-0
1-

08
49

12
-4

9 
A
VE

N
U

E 
- 

SA
N

G
U

D
O

, 
AL

B
ER

TA
T0

E 
2A

0 
- 

78
0-

87
0-

27
92

P
C

C
U

S
TO

M
ER

 N
A
M

E:

JA
M

E
S 

R
O

SE
N

B
E

R
G

E
R

MAIN FLOOR PLAN1
A3
1

A3

LOFT ABOVE2
A3
2

A3

SCALE:3/16" = 1'-0"    

SCALE:3/16" = 1'-0"    

MAIN FLOOR HOUSE AREA - 1008 SQ.FT.
GARAGE AREA - 832 SQ.FT.
SUNROOM - 160 SQ.FT.
UPPER LOFT AREA - 658 SQ.FT.

69

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



60"/60" DC

42"/48" LS

Gas Meter

60"/60" DC

42"/48" LS

Gas Meter

24"/36" SC

48"/48" DC

60"/60" DC
30"/48" SC

2'-0"

2.56/12 SLOPE

12

3

24"/36" SC

48"/48" DC

60"/60" DC
30"/48" SC

1
A4
1

A4

,   
EAST ELEVATION

2
A4
2

A4
NORTH ELEVATION

A
4

41
02

-5
0 

A
V

E
O

LD
S

, A
B

.

  A
R

K
   

  V
E

N
U

E
   

  O
N

T
R

A
C

T
IN

G
A

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

U
R

A
L 

D
E

S
IG

N
 A

N
D

 D
R

A
F

T
IN

G
S

E
R

V
IC

E

S
H

EE
T:

FI
LE

:

JA
M

ES
 A

D
D

 O
N

PAC

3/
16

" 
=

 1
'-

0"
E

LE
V

A
T

IO
N

S
C
A
LE

:
PR

EP
AR

ED
 F

O
R
:

S
H

EE
T:

D
EA

N

D
A
TE

:
D

N
 B

Y:
PR

O
JE

C
T 

AD
D

R
ES

S

20
24

-0
1-

08
49

12
-4

9 
A
VE

N
U

E 
- 

SA
N

G
U

D
O

, 
AL

B
ER

TA
T0

E 
2A

0 
- 

78
0-

87
0-

27
92

P
C

C
U

S
TO

M
ER

 N
A
M

E:

JA
M

E
S 

R
O

SE
N

B
E

R
G

E
R

SCALE:3/16" = 1'-0"    

SCALE:3/16" = 1'-0"    

70

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



72"/60" DC60"/60" DC

48"/48" DC

30"/48" SC
60"/60" DC

2'-0"

9/12 SLOPE

2.56/12 SLOPE

72"/60" DC60"/60" DC

48"/48" DC

30"/48" SC
60"/60" DC

30"/60" SC30"/60" SC

48"/48" DC

Gas Meter

30"/60" SC30"/60" SC

48"/48" DC

Gas Meter

,   

1
A5
1

A5
SOUTH ELEVATION

A
5

41
02

-5
0 

A
V

E
O

LD
S

, A
B

.

  A
R

K
   

  V
E

N
U

E
   

  O
N

T
R

A
C

T
IN

G
A

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

U
R

A
L 

D
E

S
IG

N
 A

N
D

 D
R

A
F

T
IN

G
S

E
R

V
IC

E

S
H

EE
T:

FI
LE

:

JA
M

ES
 A

D
D

 O
N

PAC

3/
16

" 
=

 1
'-

0"
E

LE
V

A
T

IO
N

S
C
A
LE

:
PR

EP
AR

ED
 F

O
R
:

S
H

EE
T:

D
EA

N

D
A
TE

:
D

N
 B

Y:
PR

O
JE

C
T 

AD
D

R
ES

S

20
24

-0
1-

08
49

12
-4

9 
A
VE

N
U

E 
- 

SA
N

G
U

D
O

, 
AL

B
ER

TA
T0

E 
2A

0 
- 

78
0-

87
0-

27
92

P
C

C
U

S
TO

M
ER

 N
A
M

E:

JA
M

E
S 

R
O

SE
N

B
E

R
G

E
R

1
A5
1

A5
WEST ELEVATION

SCALE:3/16" = 1'-0"    

SCALE:3/16" = 1'-0"    

71

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Clothes Washer Clothes Dryer

Top of Garage Slab
Grade Level 4"

Top of Wall

10
'-0

"

Top of Subfloor - 2nd Floor 8"

Highest Rough Ceiling

8'
-0

"

Highest Ridge

4'
-5

 1
/8

"

4'
-0

"
0'

-1
0"

8'
-1

 1
/8

"

5'
-0

 5
/8

"

10
'-0

"

12

3

GARAGE

LOFT

MASTER BEDROOM SUNROOM

CRAWLSPACE CRAWLSPACE

Clothes Washer Clothes Dryer

Top of Subfloor - 1st Floor

5'
-0

 1
1/

16
"

Grade Level

Rough Ceiling - 1st Floor

10
'-0

"

Top of Subfloor - 2nd Floor8"

Highest Rough Ceiling

8'
-0

"

Highest Ridge

4'
-5

 1
/8

"

5'
-0

 1
1/

16
"

8'
-1

 1
/8

"

12

2.562

LOFT

GARAGE
ENTRY

10
'-8

"

7'
-0

 1
3/

16
"

STAIR SPECS:
UNIT RISE - 7 1/2"
UNIT RUN - 10"
TREAD DEPTH - 11"

,   

A
6

41
02

-5
0 

A
V

E
O

LD
S

, A
B

.

  A
R

K
   

  V
E

N
U

E
   

  O
N

T
R

A
C

T
IN

G
A

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

U
R

A
L 

D
E

S
IG

N
 A

N
D

 D
R

A
F

T
IN

G
S

E
R

V
IC

E

S
H

EE
T:

FI
LE

:

JA
M

ES
 A

D
D

 O
N

PAC

3/
16

" 
=

 1
'-

0"
C

R
O

S
S

 S
E

C
T

IO
N

S
C
A
LE

:
PR

EP
AR

ED
 F

O
R
:

S
H

EE
T:

D
EA

N

D
A
TE

:
D

N
 B

Y:
PR

O
JE

C
T 

AD
D

R
ES

S

20
24

-0
1-

08
49

12
-4

9 
A
VE

N
U

E 
- 

SA
N

G
U

D
O

, 
AL

B
ER

TA
T0

E 
2A

0 
- 

78
0-

87
0-

27
92

P
C

C
U

S
TO

M
ER

 N
A
M

E:

JA
M

E
S 

R
O

SE
N

B
E

R
G

E
R

2
A6
2

A6
CROSS SECTION 2

1
A6
1

A6
CROSS SECTION 1

3
A6
3

A6
STAIR DETAIL

SCALE:3/16" = 1'-0"    

SCALE:3/16" = 1'-0"    

SCALE:3/16" = 1'-0"    

72

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



CONSTRUCTION ASSEMBLIES:
ALL CONSTRUCTION TO ADHERE TO THESE PLANS AND SPEC'S AND TO
CONFORM TO THE ALBERTA BUILDING CODE 2014 AND ALL OTHER
APPLICABLE CODES AND AUTHORITIES HAVING JURISDICTION.  
THESE REQUIREMENTS ARE TO BE TAKEN AS MINIMUM SPECIFICATIONS.

ENERGY EFFICIENCY 
ALL CONSTRUCTION ASSEMBLIES HAVE BEEN DESIGNED TO COMPLY WITH 
THE PRESCRIPTIVE REQUIREMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH  A.B.C. 9.36.2.
TO 9.36.4. THIS BUILDING IS TO BE FITTED WITH AN HRV UNIT.

PRESCRIPTIVE COMPLIANCE DETAILS & CONSTRUCTION NOTES:
CLIMATE ZONE: ZONE 7B
AIR TIGHTNESS: PRESCRIPTIVE DETAILS
GAS FIRED FURNACE: 92% AFUE
GAS FIRED WATER HEATER: EF > 67%

HEAT RECOVERY VENTILATOR UNIT: HRV 3-095-GDX - EFF 88% (60cfm) @ 0°C
         EFF = 68% (61 cfm) @ -25°C

(OPTIONAL HRV UNIT - IF TO BE FITTED WITH OR WITHOUT AS NOTED ABOVE )

WINDOW PERFORMANCE REQUIRMENTS
MINIMUM PERFORMANCE GRADE: 25 (PG)B
MINIMUM POSITIVE DESIGN PRESSURE: 1200 PA
MINIMUM NEGATIVE DESIGN PRESSURE: 1200 PA
MINIMUM WATER PENETRATION: 260 PA
RESISTANCE TEST PRESSURE MINIMUM
CANADIAN AIR INFILTRATION/ EXFILTRATION: A2

THERMAL CHARACTERISTIC OF FENESTRATION AND DOORS  
FENESTRATION & DOORS - MAX U VALUE  = 1.60
FENESTRATION & DOORS - MIN. ENERGY RATING = 25

OVERALL THERMAL TRANSMITTANCE OF SKYLIGHTS
SKYLIGHTS = 2.70

11

33 44 5522

EFFECTIVE VALUE

RSI VALUES FOR INDIVIDUAL
CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS USED IN 
ASSEMBLY WERE OBTAINED FROM 
ABC 2014 TABLE A-9.36.2.4 (1) D

R
UNHEATED CONCRETE FLOOR IN A CONDITIONED SPACE

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE VAPOUR BARRIER

STC:  -

1.08

N/AN/A

UNDISTURBED SOIL (MIN. 2500psf)

N/A

6" (150mm) COMPACTED GRAVEL FILL

4" (100mm) POURED CONCRETE (MIN 20Mpa) 

N/A

INTERIOR AIR FILM

0.00

0.00

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:

N/A

RSI

FRR: -

CENTER OF CAVITY RSI / R VALUE 

EFFECTIVE RSI / R VALUE OF ENTIRE ASSEMBLY

55

1111

66

CF1CF1

1010

99

33

44

11

88

77

22

N/A

0.19

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:

0.00

0.00 0.00

0.03

0.16

0.17

0.91

0.00

11

33 44 5522

EFFECTIVE VALUE

RSI VALUES FOR INDIVIDUAL
CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS USED IN 
ASSEMBLY WERE OBTAINED FROM 
ABC 2014 TABLE A-9.36.2.4 (1) D

R
UNHEATED CONCRETE FLOOR IN A CONDITIONED SPACE

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE VAPOUR BARRIER

STC:  -

1.08

N/AN/A

UNDISTURBED SOIL (MIN. 2500psf)

N/A

6" (150mm) COMPACTED GRAVEL FILL

4" (100mm) POURED CONCRETE (MIN 20Mpa) 
W/ 10M BAR @ 24" O/C E/W

N/A

INTERIOR AIR FILM

0.00

0.00

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:

N/A

RSI

FRR: -

CENTER OF CAVITY RSI / R VALUE 

EFFECTIVE RSI / R VALUE OF ENTIRE ASSEMBLY

55

1111

66

CF2CF2

1010

99

33

44

11

88

77

22

N/A

0.19

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:

0.00

0.00 0.00

0.03

0.16

0.17

0.91

0.00

11

22

66

33 44 55

EFFECTIVE RSI / R VALUE OF ENTIRE ASSEMBLY 12" JOIST

EFFECTIVE RSI / R VALUE OF ENTIRE ASSEMBLY 14" JOIST

0.11 0.62

0.00

  11.5  
2.56

  88.5 
0.18

RSI =

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:
11 7/8" ENG. WOOD I-JSTS. @
19.2 O/C

+
=0.20

         100         

FLOOR - CONDITIONED SPACE OVER CONDITIONED SPACE

1/2" (12.7mm) GYPSUM BOARD TAPED & SANDED

3/4"  T&G T&G or OSB SUBFLOOR CAULKED AT 
JOINTS (GLUED & SCREWED TO JOISTS)

11 7/8" ENG. WOOD JOISTS @ 19.2" O/C

INTERIOR AIR FILM

INTERIOR AIR FILM

FINISH: 1 COAT LATEX PRIMER AND LATEX PAINT

1.14

0.450.08

0.20

0.00

0.16 0.91

0.16 0.91

14" ENG. WOOD JOISTS @ 19.2" O/C 1.140.20

4.030.71

N/A N/A

N/AN/A

33

44

55

77

11

88

66

99

FS1FS1 22

EFFECTIVE VALUE

RSI VALUES FOR INDIVIDUAL
CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS USED IN 
ASSEMBLY WERE OBTAINED FROM 
ABC 2014 TABLE A-9.36.2.4 (1) D

RRSI

FRR:  - 

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:

CENTER OF CAVITY RSI / R VALUE 

CWC: N/A

N/A

STC:  -

4.030.71

33

22

11

33

44
77

55

66

3/8" OSB (9.53mm) OSB SHEATHING
0.09

R VAULE = RSI X 5.678

19.073.36

3.37 19.13

15.562.74

0.28

11 7/8" ENG. WOOD JOISTS @ 19.2" O/C  C/W 
SPRAY FOAM MED. DENSITY @ 3" (76mm)

2.73

EXTERIOR AIR FILM

15.50

1.59

0.03

  7.5  
2.56

  92.5 
2.74

RSI =

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:
11 7/8" ENG. WOOD I-JSTS. @
19.2 O/C

+
=2.73

         100         

RIM JOISTS SPACE - VINYL SIDING

33

44

55

77

1111

11

88

66

99

RM1RM1

22

1010

EFFECTIVE VALUE

RSI VALUES FOR INDIVIDUAL
CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS USED IN 
ASSEMBLY WERE OBTAINED FROM 
ABC 2014 TABLE A-9.36.2.4 (1) D

RRSI

FRR: -

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:

CENTER OF CAVITY RSI / R VALUE 

CWC: N/A

EFFECTIVE RSI / R VALUE OF ENTIRE ASSEMBLY

N/A
INSTALLED INSULATION RSI / R VALUE (NOMINAL)

STC:  -

1 1/8" (29mm) RIM BOARD X 0.0098 PER MM

INTERIOR AIR FILM 0.12 0.68

0.17

VINYL SIDING - (NO AIR SPACE)

1 LAYER BUILDING PAPER (TAPED & SEALED):
PER CAN/CGSB-51.32

0.11 0.62

0.000.00

0.51

1010

11

33 44 55 66 77 88 9922

7/16" OSB (11mm) OSB SHEATHING
0.11

R

0.00

N/A
EFFECTIVE RSI / R VALUE OF ENTIRE ASSEMBLY

CENTER OF CAVITY RSI / R VALUE 

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:
ENG. ROOF TRUSS @ 24" O/C

   89  
1.67

EFFECTIVE VALUE

   11  
0.76

1/2" (12.7mm) GYPSUM BOARD TAPED & SANDEDSTC:  -

+

0.12

0.08

10.85

11.01

CWC: N/A

=1.48

11

88

55

RS1RS1

62.51

0.17

0.08 0.45

60.24

61.60

INSTALLED INSULATION RSI / R VALUE (NOMINAL)

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE VAPOUR BARRIER

0.00

1.48

0.00

         100         0.68

RSI

0.00

0.03

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:

FINISH: 1 COAT LATEX PRIMER AND LATEX PAINT

0.62

0.45
ASPHALT SHINGLES 

8.40

INTERIOR AIR FILM

1 LAYER SYNTHETIC ROOFING UNDERLAYMENT

RSI VALUES FOR INDIVIDUAL
CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS USED IN 
ASSEMBLY WERE OBTAINED FROM 
ABC 2014 TABLE A-9.36.2.4 (1) D

0.00

FRR:  - 

ROOF OVER A CONDITIONED SPACE 

10.61

RSI =

ROOF TRUSS @ 24" O/C + 89MM BLOWN
INSULATION

EXTERIOR AIR FILM

0.00

99

77

33

1111

1010

44

66

22

CONTINUOUS INSULATION (0.01875 RSI PER mm X
477mm )

8.95 50.81

77

1111

11

33 44 55 66 88 99 101022

3/8" OSB (9.53mm) OSB SHEATHING
.09

R

0.00

N/A
EFFECTIVE RSI / R VALUE OF ENTIRE ASSEMBLY

CENTER OF CAVITY RSI / R VALUE 

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:
ENG. ROOF TRUSS @ 24" O/C

   89  
2.11

EFFECTIVE VALUE

   11  
0.76

1/2" (12.7mm) GYPSUM BOARD TAPED & SANDED

STC:  -

+
0.12

0.08

5.72

N/A

CWC: N/A

=1.77

11

88

55

RS2RS2

N/A

0.17

0.08 0.45

N/A

32.48

INSTALLED INSULATION RSI / R VALUE (NOMINAL)

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE VAPOUR BARRIER

0.00

1.77

0.00

         100         

0.68

RSI

0.00

0.03

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:

FINISH: 1 COAT LATEX PRIMER AND LATEX PAINT

0.51

0.45
ASPHALT SHINGLES 

10.05

INTERIOR AIR FILM

1 LAYER SYNTHETIC ROOFING UNDERLAYMENT

RSI VALUES FOR INDIVIDUAL
CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS USED IN 
ASSEMBLY WERE OBTAINED FROM 
ABC 2014 TABLE A-9.36.2.4 (1) D

0.00

FRR:  - 

ROOF - VAULTED - OVER A CONTAINED SPACE 

N/A

RSI =

ROOF TRUSS @ 24" O/C + 89MM (R12) BATT GLASS
FIBER - PARALLEL WITH ROOF TUSSES 

EXTERIOR AIR FILM

R VALUE = RSI X 5.678

0.00

99

77

33

1111

1010

44

66

22

CONTINUOUS INSULATION (R-20) BATT INSUL.
- PERPENDICULAR TO ROOF TRUSS 

3.52 19.99

EXTERIOR AIR FILM
0.170.03

11

22

33

44

55

66

77

88

1010

99

R VAULE = RSI X 5.678

   80  
4.23

   20  
1.19 +

=2.65

         100         

RSI =

0.18 1.02
1" AIR SPACE 

2X4 FRAMING FILLED WITH R-24 BATT @24"O/C OR
2X6 FRAMING FILLED WITH R-24 BATT @24"O/C

0.00

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:
2X4 #2 SPF @ 24" O/C

   84  
4.23

   16  
1.19 +

=3.09

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE VAPOUR BARRIER

         100         

RSI =

0.00

3.09 17.54

0.00
3/8" (9.53mm) PARGING - ABOVE GRADE 

R

0.00

EFFECTIVE RSI / R VALUE OF ENTIRE ASSEMBLY

CENTER OF CAVITY RSI / R VALUE 

EFFECTIVE VALUE

1/2" (12.7mm) GYPSUM BOARD TAPED & SANDEDSTC:  -

0.12

3.58

4.72

CWC: N/A

11

88

55

EF1EF1

26.80

0.17

0.08 0.45

24.00

20.33

INSTALLED INSULATION RSI / R VALUE (NOMINAL)

0.00

0.08

0.00

0.68

RSI

0.03

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:
2X6 #2 SPF @ 24" O/C

FINISH: 1 COAT LATEX PRIMER AND LATEX PAINT

0.00

0.45

INTERIOR AIR FILM

1 LAYER DAMP PROOFING 

RSI VALUES FOR INDIVIDUAL
CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS USED IN 
ASSEMBLY WERE OBTAINED FROM 
ABC 2014 TABLE A-9.36.2.4 (1) D

0.00

FRR:  - 

EXTERIOR FOUNDATION WALL 

4.23

8" (203mm) POURED CONCRETE 
(SEE ENGINEERING FOR REINFORCEMENT)

EXTERIOR AIR FILM

99

77

33

1111

1010

44

66

22

N/A

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:

2" EXTRUDED POLYSTYRENE TYPE 3/4
CAN/ULC-S701

0.08 0.45

N/A N/A

0.00
3/8" (9.53mm) PARGING - ABOVE GRADE 

R

N/A
EFFECTIVE RSI / R VALUE OF ENTIRE ASSEMBLY

CENTER OF CAVITY RSI / R VALUE 

EFFECTIVE VALUE

STC:  -

1.87

1.87

CWC: N/A

11

88

55

EF3EF3

10.62

0.17

9.99

10.62

INSTALLED INSULATION RSI / R VALUE (NOMINAL)

0.00

1.76

RSI

0.03

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:

0.00

0.00

INTERIOR AIR FILM

1 LAYER DAMP PROOFING BELOW GRADE

RSI VALUES FOR INDIVIDUAL
CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS USED IN 
ASSEMBLY WERE OBTAINED FROM 
ABC 2014 TABLE A-9.36.2.4 (1) D

9.99

FRR:  - 

EXTERIOR FOUNDATION WALL - GARAGE FROST WALL

1.76

8" (203mm) POURED CONCRETE 
(SEE ENGINEERING FOR REINFORCEMENT)

EXTERIOR AIR FILM

99

77

33

1111

1010

44

66

22

11

22

33

44

55

66

11 99

22

33

44

55

66

77

88

3/8" OSB (9.8mm) OSB SHEATHING
0.09

R

0.00

N/A
EFFECTIVE RSI / R VALUE OF ENTIRE ASSEMBLY

CENTER OF CAVITY RSI / R VALUE 

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:
2X6 #2SPF @ 16" O/C

   77  
4.23

EFFECTIVE VALUE

   23  
1.19

1/2" (12.7mm) GYPSUM BOARD TAPED & SANDED

STC:  -

+

0.12

0.11

3.09

4.68

CWC: F6.S16.I24.0.N2.V.BP.PE.1

=2.66

11

88

55

W1W1

26.54

0.17

0.08 0.45

24.00

17.53

INSTALLED INSULATION RSI / R VALUE (NOMINAL)

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE VAPOUR BARRIER

0.00

2.66

0.00

         100         

0.68

RSI

0.00

0.03

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:

FINISH: 1 COAT LATEX PRIMER AND LATEX PAINT

0.51

0.62
VINYL SIDING - (NO AIR SPACE)

15.10

INTERIOR AIR FILM

1 LAYER BUILDING PAPER (TAPED & SEALED):
PER CAN/CGSB-51.32

RSI VALUES FOR INDIVIDUAL
CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS USED IN 
ASSEMBLY WERE OBTAINED FROM 
ABC 2014 TABLE A-9.36.2.4 (1) D

0.00

FRR:  - 

EXTERIOR WALL - VINYL SIDING 

4.23

RSI =

2X6 FRAMING FILLED WITH R-24 BATT @ 16" O/C

EXTERIOR AIR FILM

0.00

99

77

33

1111

1010

44

66

22

36.276.39

7.41 42.09

40.007.04

0.03 0.17

3/4" P.T. T&G PLY. SUBFLOOR CAULKED AT 
JOINTS (GLUED & SCREWED TO JOISTS)

11 7/8" ENG. WOOD JOISTS @ 16" O/C -9% framing/
91% insulation WITH R20 BATT INSULATION

INTERIOR AIR FILM

EXTERIOR AIR FILM

17.002.99

0.18 1.02

0.16 0.91

RSI =

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:
11 7/8" ENG. WOOD I-JSTS. @ 16
O/C

+

         100         

FLOOR - CONDITIONED SPACE OVER UNHEATED SPACE

0.00 0.00
6 MIL POLYETHYLENE VAPOUR BARRIER

33

44

55

77

1111

11

88

66

99

FS2FS2 22

1010

EFFECTIVE VALUE

RSI VALUES FOR INDIVIDUAL
CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS USED IN 
ASSEMBLY WERE OBTAINED FROM 
ABC 2014 TABLE A-9.36.2.4 (1) D

RRSI

FRR: -

MATERIALS IN ASSEMBLY:

CENTER OF CAVITY RSI / R VALUE 

CWC: N/A

EFFECTIVE RSI / R VALUE OF ENTIRE ASSEMBLY

N/A
INSTALLED INSULATION RSI / R VALUE (NOMINAL)

STC:  -

2x6 DROPPED CEILING @ 24" O.C. WITH R19 BATT
INSULATION 2.94 16.72

1/2" (12.7mm) GYPSUM BOARD 0.08 0.45

11

22

77

33 44 55 66

- A REDUCTION IN THE THERMAL RESISTANCE OF THE CEILING ASSEMBLY IN ATTICS UNDER SLOPED ROOFS IS     
  PERMITTED FOR A LENGTH OF NO GREATER THAN 1200mm BUT ONLY TO THE EXTENT IMPOSED BY THE ROOF
  SLOPE AND MINIMUM VENTING CLEARANCE, PROVED THE NOMINAL THERMAL RESISTANCE OF THE
  INSULATION DIRECTLY ABOVE THE EXTERIOR WALL IS NOT LESS THAN R-20 / RSI - 3.52

- THE ATTIC HATCHES AND ALL PLUMBING/ELECTRICAL PENETRATIONS INTO THE ATTIC SPACE ALONG ANY
  GAPS, SPACES, PENETRATIONS, IRREGULARITIES THAT COULD ALLOW LEAKAGE MUST BE SEALED

- WHEN AN INTERIOR ELEMENT PENETRATES AN EXTERIOR ELEMENT AND BREAKS THE PLANE OF 
  INSULATION, THE INTERIOR ELEMENT SHALL BE: 
      - INSULATED ON BOTH SIDES OF A LENGTH 4X THE THICKNESS OF THE PENETRATED ASSEMBLY, OR 
      - INSULATED WITHIN THE PLANE OF INSULATION OF THE PENETRATED ELEMENT TO AND EFFECTIVE 
        THERMAL RESISTANCE NOT LESS THAN 60% OF THAT REQUIRED FOR THE PENETRATED ELEMENT, OR 
      - INSULATED WHITEN ITSELF TO AN EFFECTIVE THERMAL RESISTANCE NOT LESS THAN THE REQUIRED
        FOR THE PENETRATED ELEMENT. 

- MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL, AND PLUMBING COMPONENTS PLACE WITHIN AN EXTERIOR WALL MUST BE
  INSULATED BEHIND TO THE EFFECTIVE THERMAL RESISTANCE REQUIRED FOR THE ABOVE OR BELOW GRADE
  WALL ASSEMBLY.

- A FOUNDATION WALL IS CONSIDERED TO BE BELOW GRADE FOR THE PURPOSE OF USING BELOW GRADE
  RSI WHEN THE TOP OF THE SECTION OF FOUNDATION IS ON AVERAGE LESS THAN 600mm (24") ABOVE THE 
  ADJOINING GROUND LEVEL WHERE THE WALL IS GREATER THAN 600mm, THE ABOVE GROUND PORTION OF
  WALL SHALL BE INSULATION TO THE ABOVE GRADE REQUIREMENTS. 

- JOINTS AND JUNCTIONS BETWEEN WALLS AND OTHER BUILDING ENVELOP COMPONENTS SHALL BE
  INSULATED IN A MANNER THAT PROVIDES AN EFFECTIVE THERMAL RESISTANCE THAT IS NOT LESS THAN
  THE LOWER ON MINIMUM VALUES REQUIRED FOR THE RESPECTIVE ADJOINING COMPONENTS. 

INSULATION CONTINUITY GENERAL NOTES - ABC 9.36.2.5

- AIR BARRIERS TO BE CONTINUOUS:
     - ACROSS CONSTRUCTION, CONTROL AND EXPANSION JOINTS.
     - ACROSS JUNCTIONS BETWEEN DIFFERENT BUILDING MATERIALS AND ASSEMBLIES. 
     - AROUND PENETRATION THROUGH ALL BUILDING ASSEMBLIES. 

- SEALING IS REQUIRED BETWEEN ALL JOINTS AND JUNCTIONS BETWEEN THE STRUCTURAL COMPONENTS,
  AND OR COVERING THE STRUCTURAL COMPONENTS WITH AN AIR BARRIER MATERIAL AND SEALING IT TO
  THE ADJACENT AIR BARRIER MATERIAL 

- WINDOWS, DOORS AND SKYLIGHTS AND THEIR COMPONENTS SHALL COMPLY WITH MINIMUM AIR LEAKAGE
  REQUIREMENT STATED IN NAFS AND CSA A440S1.

- WHERE THE AIR TIGHT MATERIAL USED IN THE AIR BARRIER SYSTEM IS INSTALLED TOWARDS THE
  EXTERIOR OF BUILDING ENVELOP, ITS LOCATION AND PROPERTIES SHALL CONFORM TO 9.25.5

- WHEN POLY BOOTS ARE USED ON EXTERIOR WALLS AND CEILINGS FOR ELECTRICAL BOXES AND POT
  LIGHTS THEY MUST BE SEALED TO THE AIR/ VAPOR BARRIER AND STRUCTURALLY SUPPORTED

- CANTILEVERED FLOORS AND ALL JUNCTIONS REQUIRE CONTINUOUS AIR BARRIER. 

- JUNCTIONS BETWEEN THE FLOOR AND RIM JOISTS AND RIM JOIST TO FOUNDATION MUST BE SEALED.

AIR TIGHTNESS GENERAL NOTES - ABC 9.36.2.9 AND 9.36.2.10

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE 

CAULKING/SEALANT 

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE 

EXTERIOR BUILDING PAPER AIR BARRIER 
TO WRAP EXTERIOR OF FLOOR ASSEMBLY 

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE 

CAULKING/SEALANT 

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE 

CAULKING/SEALANT 

STARTER PLATE INSTALLED OVER 
SILL GASKET AND AIR FLOW 
RETARDER 

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE 

CAULKING/SEALANT 

AIR BARRIER SYSTEM 

WINDOW UNIT IS AIR BARRIER 

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE 

EXTERIOR BUILDING PAPER 
AIR BARRIER 

EXTERIOR BUILDING PAPER
AIR BARRIER 

EXTERIOR BUILDING PAPER
AIR BARRIER 

EXTERIOR BUILDING PAPER AIR BARRIER 
TO WRAP EXTERIOR OF FLOOR ASSEMBLY 

SEALED POLYETHYLENE / LIQUID APPLY SHEATHING 
MEMBRANE 

COMBINED CONSTRUCTION 

PEEL "N" STICK BARRIER TO 
WRAP AROUND TOP & 
BOTTOM OF WINDOW 

EXTERIOR WALL INSULATION 
AS PER DETAIL SE1

EXTERIOR WALL INSULATION 
AS PER DETAIL SE1

SPRAY FOAM IN 
RIM JOIST CAVITY

SPRAY FOAM IN 
RIM JOIST CAVITY

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE 

SLOW EXPANSION FOAM 

SLOW EXPANSION FOAM 

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE 

CAULKING/SEALANT 

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE 

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE 

= NOMINAL RSI 
> 3.52 (M² K)/W (R20)

AREA OF CEILING ASSEMBLIES IN ATTICS PERMITTED TO HAVE REDUCED
THERMAL RESISTANCE AS PER A.B.C. 9.36.2.6.(3)

VENTING CLEARANCE -
INSULATION BAFFLE

1200MM MAXIMUM OFFSET TO REACH
 FULL INSULATION VALUE 

SOIL GAS (RADON) CONTROL - 2014 ABC SUMMARY 
- CONTINUOUS AIR BARRIER WITH ALL PENETRATIONS SEALED UNDER SLAB. (INCLUDING AIRTIGHT SUMP COVER)
- 100mm CLEAN COMPACTED GRANULAR FILL, OR GAS PERMEABLE LAYER BETWEEN AIR BARRIER AND GROUND.
- SLAB PERIMETER SEALED.
- ROUGH-IN FOR UNDER SLAB DEPRESSURIZATION, LABELED AND CAPPED.
- REQUIRED FOR ALL BUILDINGS INTENDED TO BE OCCUPIED FOR MORE THAN 4 HOURS A DAY

SOIL GAS (RADON) CONTROL - 2014 ABC SUMMARY 
THE AIR BARRIER MUST BE PLACED DIRECTLY BELOW 
THE SLAB, OR APPLIED TO THE TOP OF THE SLAB, 
PROVIDED A SEPARATE FLOOR IS INSTALLED OVER THE 
SLAB
- IF A POLYETHYLENE MEMBRANE IS USED, IT SHALL 
CONFORM TO CAN/CGSB-51.34-M. JOINTS MUST BE
LAPPED A MINIMUM 300mm (1'-0"). AND:
- SEALED TO THE TOP OF PERIMETER FOOTING OR
FOUNDATION WALL WITH APPROVED SEALANT. 
- ALL PENETRATIONS SHALL BE SEALED.  THIS INCLUDES 
PLUMBING ROUGH-INS, SUMP PIT OPENINGS ETC.
- SEALANTS ARE TO CONFORM TO ARTICLE 9.27.4.2

9.25.3.6. - SLAB TO WALL JOINT MUST BE SEALED  
- SEALED TO THE FOOTING OR FOUNDATION WALL WITH 
APPROVED SEALANT, CONFORMING TO 
ARTICLE 9.27.4.2
- RUN A BEAD OF SEALANT ALONG THE JOINT OF THE 
FOUNDATION WALL AND THE SLAB.

9.13.4.3. - S ROUGH-IN FOR A SUBFLOOR 
DEPRESSURIZATION SYSTEM MUST BE INSTALLED 
- MUST CONTAIN 100mm OF CLEAN GRANULAR 
MATERIAL BETWEEN THE GROUND AND AIR BARRIER,
OR:
- A GAS PERMEABLE LAYER WITH A SEALED INLET AND 
OUTLET.
- MIN. 100mm SOLID PIPE INSTALLED THROUGH THE 
FLOOR, CLEARLY LABELED AND CAPPED. 
- BOTTOM END OPENING INTO GRANULAR LAYER AT OR 
NEAR THE CENTER OF THE FLOOR.
- PIPE PENETRATIONS THROUGH AIR BARRIERS MUST
BE SEALED TO MAINTAIN THE INTEGRITY OF THE AIR 
BARRIER.

9.14.5.2.(2) - SUMP PIT COVERS MUST BE DESIGNATED
TO RESIST REMOVAL BY CHILDREN, AND TO BE 
AIR TIGHT.
- THE PERIMETER SHALL BE WEATHER-STRIPPED.
- ALL PENETRATIONS OR OPENINGS SEALED. 

WHITE PVC PIPE 

CENTER OF FLOOR SLAB

RADON

AIR/ SOIL GAS BARRIER

MIN 100MM EXHAUST PIPE 

WHITE PVC
 PIPE RADON

CENTER OF FLOOR SLAB

MIN 100MM

WHITE PVC PIPE 

NOTE: PIPE TO BE CAPPED OR RUN
UP THROUGH THE ROOF SYSTEM 

RADON

MIN 100MMMIN 100MM

CENTER OF FLOOR SLAB

OPTION A

OPTION B

OPTION C

SEALANT
CONC. FLOOR
AIR BARRIER
GRANULAR FILL

,   

A
7

41
02

-5
0 

A
V

E
O

LD
S

, A
B

.

  A
R

K
   

  V
E

N
U

E
   

  O
N

T
R

A
C

T
IN

G
A

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

U
R

A
L 

D
E

S
IG

N
 A

N
D

 D
R

A
F

T
IN

G
S

E
R

V
IC

E

S
H

EE
T:

FI
LE

:

JA
M

ES
 A

D
D

 O
N

PAC

3/
16

" 
=

 1
'-

0"
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

A
S

S
E

M
B

LI
E

S

S
C
A
LE

:
P R

EP
AR

ED
 F

O
R
:

S
H

EE
T:

D
EA

N

D
A
TE

:
D

N
 B

Y:
PR

O
JE

C
T 

AD
D

R
ES

S

20
24

-0
1-

08
49

12
-4

9 
A
VE

N
U

E 
- 

SA
N

G
U

D
O

, 
AL

B
ER

TA
T0

E 
2A

0 
- 

78
0-

87
0-

27
92

P
C

C
U

S
TO

M
ER

 N
A
M

E:

JA
M

E
S 

R
O

SE
N

B
E

R
G

E
R

73

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



WP

R

4

GFCI

3WP

SD

EP

D
C

SD

DM

A

T

AV Control

C5/TVC5 TV

T

SP SP

DESCRIPTIONSYMBOL

ELECTRICAL - DATA - AUDIO LEGEND

Ceiling Fan

Ventilation Fans: Ceiling Mounted, Wall Mounted

Ceiling Mounted Light Fixtures: Surface/Pendant,
  Recessed, Heat Lamp, Low Voltage
Wall Mounted Light Fixtures: Flush Mounted,
  Wall Sconce

Chandelier Light Fixture

240V Receptacle

110V Receptacles: Duplex, Weather Proof, GFCI

Switches: Single Pole, Weather Proof, 3-Way, 4-Way

Switches: Dimmer, Timer

Audio Video: Control Panel, Switch

Wall Jacks: CAT5, CAT5 + TV, TV/Cable

Telephone Jack

Intercom

Thermostat

Door Chime, Door Bell Button

Smoke Detectors: Ceiling Mounted, Wall Mounted

Electrical Breaker Panel

Speakers: Ceiling Mounted, Wall Mounted

Fluorescent Light Fixture

DN

..

.

S3
A7

S3
A7

S3
A7

S3
A7

...

DN

L / V

L / V

L 
/ V

L / V

L / V

L 
/ V

L 
/ V

L 
/ V

UP

CD

R6

R6

R6
R6

R6

R6

R6 R6

R6
R6

GFCI
GFCI

WP

WP

WP

WP

3

3

3

3

S2
A7
S2
A7

..

S1
A7

S1
A7

S1
A7

S1
A7

.

S3
A7

S3
A7

S3
A7

S3
A7

...

,   

A
8

41
02

-5
0 

A
V

E
O

LD
S

, A
B

.

  A
R

K
   

  V
E

N
U

E
   

  O
N

T
R

A
C

T
IN

G
A

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

U
R

A
L 

D
E

S
IG

N
 A

N
D

 D
R

A
F

T
IN

G
S

E
R

V
IC

E

S
H

EE
T:

FI
LE

:

JA
M

ES
 A

D
D

 O
N

PAC

3/
16

" 
=

 1
'-

0"
E

LE
C

T
R

IC
A

L

S
C
A
LE

:
PR

EP
AR

ED
 F

O
R
:

S
H

EE
T:

D
EA

N

D
A
TE

:
D

N
 B

Y:
PR

O
JE

C
T 

AD
D

R
ES

S

20
24

-0
1-

08
49

12
-4

9 
A
VE

N
U

E 
- 

SA
N

G
U

D
O

, 
AL

B
ER

TA
T0

E 
2A

0 
- 

78
0-

87
0-

27
92

P
C

C
U

S
TO

M
ER

 N
A
M

E:

JA
M

E
S 

R
O

SE
N

B
E

R
G

E
R

MAIN FL ELECTRICAL2
A8
2

A8

SECOND FL ELECTRICAL3
A8
3

A8

NOTE:
 ELECTRICAL LAYOUT IS SUGGESTED ONLY
CONSULT WITH ELECTRICIAN FOR EXACT REQUIREMENTS

NOTE:
PROVIDE C/O AND SMOKE ALARMS IN EACH BEDROOM AND
IN THE HALLWAY BETWEEN THE BEDROOMS

74

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



ELECTRICAL PANEL 
INSTALLED ON OSB 
SHEATHING 

CAULKING / SEALANT

1" EXTRUDED POLYSTYRENE 
INSULATION TO HOLD IN THE 
BATT INSULATION - RSI =0.88

1/2" (12.7mm) GYPSUM 
WALL BOARD 

6 MIL POLYETHYLENE 
AIR/VAPOUR BARRIER

SKYLIGHT

SKYLIGHT SHAFT WALL DETAIL 

GRAVEL FILL OVER 
A 4" WEEPING TILE 

KEYWAY MAY 
BE DRAGGED 

6" GRANULAR FILL TO 
MEET A.B.C. REQUIREMENTS 

DAMPPROOFING AND 
AIR/SOIL GAS BARRIER 
C/W 12" OVERLAP 
BETWEEN SHEETS 

EXTERIOR 
DAMPPROOFING 
(BITUMINOUS) 
TO GRADE

FLEXIBLE SEALANT 
AROUND PERIMETER 
AND AROUND ALL 
SLAB PENETRATIONS 

TYPICAL STRIP FOOTING BELOW FROST
LINE- UNHEATED FLOOR SLAB DETAIL 

WINDOW AND DOOR 
FLASHING DETAIL 

SLOW EXPANSION 
FOAM 

WINDOW OR DOOR FRAME C/W 
INSULATION AS REQUIRED ( FROM 
SHOWN FOR REPRESENTATION
ONLY ACTUAL FRAME MY VARY)

METAL FLASHING

SEALANT

EXTERIOR FINISH 
AS PER ELEVATION 

BUILDING PAPER TO BE
OVERLAPPED AT ALL JOINTS 
4" (100mm) AND 6" 150mm) 
OVERLAP OF SHEATHING GAPS
OF LIQUID APPLIED EXTERIOR 
MEMBRANE 

3/8" (9.5mm) OSB
SHEATHING C/W 1/8" 
MINIMUM SHEATHING GAP 

6"
 M

IN
IM

U
M

 

DUCTS BETWEEN JOISTS TO BE 
INSULATED TIGHT TO FLOOR SHEATHING: 
PROVIDE MINIMUM RSI 2.78 AROUND ALL 
MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL 

TYPICAL FLOOR WITH DUCT OVER 
UNHEATED SPACE 

MIN 3"

M
IN

 6
"

TYPICAL CANTILEVER DETAIL 

THE FLOOR SLAB AIR BARRIER MUST BE MADE AIRTIGHT BY CONNECTING 
THE AIR BARRIER TO THE ELEMENT THAT FORMS THE AIR BARRIER IN 
THE FOUNDATION WALL THIS WILL BE ACHIEVED  WITH SEALANT ALONG 
THE JOINT OF THE FOUNDATION WALL AND THE SLAB .  

6" MIN MED DENSITY SPRAY
FOAM INSULATION 
CCMC # 13530-L

3" MIN MED DENSITY SPRAY
FOAM INSULATION 
CCMC # 13530-L

PREFINISHED VENTED/ NON VENTED
ALUMINUM SOFFIT 

EXTERIOR FINISH 
AS PER ELEVATION 

EXTERIOR AIR BARRIER 

MIN 3"6 1/2" MIN

TYPICAL  FLOOR AT FOUNDATION WALL 

MIN 3"6 1/2" MIN

ELECTRICAL PANEL ON
EXTERIOR WALL 

EXTERIOR FINISH 
AS PER ELEVATION 

3" MIN MED DENSITY SPRAY
FOAM INSULATION 
CCMC # 13530-L

EXTERIOR AIR BARRIER 

INTERIOR VAPOUR 
BARRIER 

2X6 FRAMING AT 24" O/C 
FRAMED FILLED WITH R22
BATT INSULATION - RSI =2.67

3" MIN MED DENSITY SPRAY
FOAM INSULATION 
CCMC # 13530-L

EXTERIOR FINISH 
AS PER ELEVATION 

EXTERIOR AIR BARRIER 

EXTERIOR FDN. WALL 

MAINTAIN INSULATION
VALUE AND DEPTH AT ALL 
CEILING PENETRATIONS 

3/4" x 2" MDF WEATHER 
STRIPPING LEDGE 

1/2" MDF ATTIC 
ACCESS HATCH PANEL 

6MIL POLYETHYLENE AIR/ VAPOUR 
BARRIER TO BE LAPPED BELOW
FOAM WEATHER STRIPING 

1/2" X 4" 
MDF TRIM 

4"
 M

IN

3/8" (9.5mm) OSB 
INSULATION STOP 

NOTE:
ATTIC ACCESS TO BE 
MINIMUM 0.32m² WITH 
NO DIMENSION LESS 
THAN 500mm

10" BUILD-UP EXTRUDED 
POLYSTYRENE INSULATION 
MINIMUM RSI = 8.80 C/W 6MIL 
POLYETHYLENE AIR/VAPOUR 
BARRIER LAPPED UP 4" 
MINIMUM ON SIDES 

AIR/VAPOR BARRIER TO BE 
CONTINUOUS AND SEALED AROUND 
ALL PENETRATING CEILING FIXTURES 

RECESSED CEILING
 FIXTURE 

FLEXIBLE SEALANT AND FOAM 
ROD AROUND PERIMETER OF 
ALL PENETRATIONS 

AIR/VAPOUR 
BARRIER BOOT
TO BE SEALED 

ELECTRICAL 
BOX 

2X4 BLOCKING
AROUND 
ELECTRICAL BOX 

PEAL AND STICK MEMBRANE 
UNDER BUILDING PAPER BUT 
OVER SERVICE VENT FLANGESLOW 

EXPANSION 
FOAM 

SERVICE PENETRATION AND 
ELECTRICAL OUTLET DETAIL 

ATTIC HATCH ACCESS DETAIL 

CEILING PENETRATION DETAIL 

,   

A
9

41
02

-5
0 

A
V

E
O

LD
S

, A
B

.

  A
R

K
   

  V
E

N
U

E
   

  O
N

T
R

A
C

T
IN

G
A

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

U
R

A
L 

D
E

S
IG

N
 A

N
D

 D
R

A
F

T
IN

G
S

E
R

V
IC

E

S
H

EE
T:

FI
LE

:

JA
M

ES
 A

D
D

 O
N

PAC

3/
16

" 
=

 1
'-

0"
IN

S
U

LA
T

IO
N

D
E

T
A

IL
S

S
C
A
LE

:
P R

EP
AR

ED
 F

O
R
:

S
H

EE
T:

D
EA

N

D
A
TE

:
D

N
 B

Y:
PR

O
JE

C
T 

AD
D

R
ES

S

20
24

-0
1-

08
49

12
-4

9 
A
VE

N
U

E 
- 

SA
N

G
U

D
O

, 
AL

B
ER

TA
T0

E 
2A

0 
- 

78
0-

87
0-

27
92

P
C

C
U

S
TO

M
ER

 N
A
M

E:

JA
M

E
S 

R
O

SE
N

B
E

R
G

E
R

75

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



0.
45

M

1'
-6

"

F
.R

.R
. S

O
F

F
IT

S
W

IT
H

IN
 1

.2
M

 O
F

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
.

PROPERTY LINE

N
O

 S
O

F
F

IT
S

IN
 T

H
IS

R
E

G
IO

N

1.
22

M

4'
-0

"

F
R

A
M

IN
G

 C
/W

 W
A

LL
S

H
E

A
T

H
IN

G

T
W

O
 L

A
Y

E
R

S
 O

F
 W

A
T

E
R

R
E

S
IS

T
A

N
T

 B
A

R
R

IE
R

C
E

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

S
T

E
R

B
A

S
E

C
O

A
T

(S
C

R
A

T
C

H
/B

R
O

W
N

)

S
E

LF
 F

U
R

R
IN

G
LA

T
H

F
IN

IS
H

 C
O

A
T

(S
E

E
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
D

E
T

A
IL

S
C

O
N

C
E

R
N

IN
G

 'E
N

D
D

A
M

S
')

E
N

G
.  

F
LO

O
R

 S
Y

S
T

E
M

. c
/w

IN
S

U
L.

 R
IM

 B
O

A
R

D
. (

S
IP

) 

F
R

A
M

IN
G

 B
O

T
T

O
M

P
LA

T
E

 

P
A

R
G

IN
G

38
" 

O
S

B
 S

T
A

R
T

E
R

 P
LA

T
E

  6m
m

 P
LA

T
E

 P
O

LY
 

E
X

T
. 

F
IN

IS
H

S
U

B
F

LO
O

R
 

C
O

N
C

. F
O

U
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 W

A
LL

c/
w

 2
x4

 L
A

D
D

E
R

. M
U

S
T

 B
E

P
.W

.F
. I

F
 IT

 IS
 W

IT
H

IN
 6

" 
O

F
G

R
A

D
E

.

S
IL

 G
A

S
K

E
T

 O
R

 T
W

O
 C

O
N

T
.

T
H

IC
K

 B
E

A
D

S
 O

F
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

 A
D

H
E

S
IV

E
 

IN
S

U
LA

T
IO

N

S
IL

 G
A

S
K

E
T

  

2x
4 

F
U

R
R

IN
G

 W
A

LL
 c

/w
IN

S
U

LA
T

IO
N

 A
S

 P
E

R
 S

P
E

C
  

6m
m

 P
LA

T
E

 P
O

LY
  

S
IL

 G
A

S
K

E
T

  

E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
S

H
E

A
T

H
IN

G

W
E

A
T

H
E

R
R

E
S

IS
T

A
N

T
M

E
M

B
R

A
N

E

N
O

T
E

:
S

H
E

A
T

H
IN

G
 T

O
 O

V
E

R
 L

A
P

 F
R

A
M

IN
G

 J
O

IN
T

S
. S

T
A

R
T

 F
IR

S
T

 S
H

E
E

T
 3

\"
 D

O
W

N
F

R
O

M
 T

/O
 S

U
B

F
LO

O
R

.. 
R

IP
 S

H
E

A
T

H
IN

G
 T

O
 O

V
E

R
LA

P
 F

D
N

. L
A

D
D

E
R

 W
O

R
K

 &
R

IM
 P

LY
. C

O
N

T
IN

U
E

 O
V

E
R

LA
P

 T
O

 T
O

P
 U

/S
 O

F
 T

O
P

 C
O

R
D

.

V
A

P
O

R
 B

A
R

R
IE

R

P
E

R
IM

E
T

E
R

 F
LA

S
H

 (
10

m
m

O
V

E
R

 M
U

D
 S

IL
L)

IN
T

E
R

IO
R

 D
R

Y
W

A
LL

S
T

U
C

C
O

 &
 W

O
O

D
 B

A
T

T
E

N
 S

C
A

LE
: N

.T
.S

.

S
E

LF
 F

U
R

R
IN

G
 L

A
T

H

C
E

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

S
T

E
R

 (
B

A
S

E
C

O
A

T
 A

N
D

 F
IN

IS
H

)

S
E

LF
 F

U
R

R
IN

G
 L

A
T

H

C
E

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

S
T

E
R

(B
A

S
E

C
O

A
T

 A
N

D
 F

IN
IS

H
)

1x
 F

IN
IS

H
E

D
 W

O
O

D
 T

R
IM

(T
R

E
A

T
E

D
 W

O
O

D
 O

R
S

E
A

LE
D

 O
N

 B
A

C
K

 S
ID

E
) 

N
O

T
E

:IN
S

T
A

LL
F

IN
IS

H
E

D
 W

O
O

D
 T

R
IM

 P
R

IO
R

 T
O

 S
T

U
C

C
O

 W
IR

E
.

S
H

E
A

T
H

IN
G

F
LA

S
H

IN
G

F
R

A
M

IN
G

W
E

A
T

H
E

R
 R

E
S

IS
T

A
N

T
 M

E
M

B
R

A
N

E
 (

2 
LA

Y
E

R
S

)

W
E

A
T

H
E

R
 R

E
S

IS
T

A
N

T
 M

E
M

B
R

A
N

E
C

O
N

T
IN

U
O

U
S

F
LA

S
H

IN
G

A
LT

E
R

N
A

T
IV

E
S

LO
P

E
D

 B
A

T
T

E
N N

O
 A

LU
M

IN
U

M
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 T

O
 B

E
 U

S
E

D
 IN

 A
S

T
U

C
C

O
 A

P
P

LI
C

A
T

IO
N

5m
m

6^
P

O
S

IT
IV

E
 S

LO
P

E

T
Y

P
IC

A
L 

D
R

IP
F

LA
S

H
S

C
A

LE
 =

 N
.T

.S
.

W
R

B

25
m

m
 E

N
D

 D
A

M
6^

 S
LO

P
E

O
F

F
S

E
T

UPWARDS

10
m

m
 L

A
P

 O
V

E
R

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 E
LE

M
E

N
T

B
E

LO
W

F
LA

S
H

IN
G

 S
P

E
C

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
 F

O
R

 W
A

LL
O

P
E

N
IN

G
S

:
 (

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 9
.2

7.
3.

8)
-E

X
T

E
N

D
 A

T
 L

E
A

S
T

 5
0 

m
m

 U
P

W
A

R
D

.
-H

A
V

E
 A

 M
IN

IM
U

M
 6

%
 P

O
S

IT
IV

E
 S

LO
P

E
 

-H
A

V
E

 E
N

D
-D

A
M

S
 N

O
T

 L
E

S
S

 T
H

A
N

 2
5m

m
 H

IG
H

-L
A

P
 A

 M
IN

IM
U

M
 O

F
 1

0m
m

 V
E

R
T

IC
A

LL
Y

 O
V

E
R

 T
H

E
B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 E

LE
M

E
N

T
 B

E
LO

W
 

-T
E

R
M

IN
A

T
E

 W
IT

H
 A

 D
R

IP
 T

H
A

T
 E

X
T

E
N

D
S

 A
T

LE
A

S
T

 5
m

m
 O

U
T

 F
R

O
M

 T
H

E
 F

A
C

E
 O

F
 T

H
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 E
LE

M
E

N
T

50mm

3"

1 
1/

4"

IN
S

T
A

LL
 W

E
A

T
H

E
R

R
E

S
IS

T
A

N
T

 M
E

M
B

R
A

N
E

B
E

T
W

E
E

N
 A

LL
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
A

N
D

 W
A

LL
 P

E
N

E
T

R
A

T
IO

N
S

A
T

 IN
S

T
A

LL
A

T
IO

N
 O

F
A

P
P

LI
A

N
C

E
. I

N
T

E
G

R
A

T
E

P
E

N
E

T
R

A
T

IO
N

M
E

M
B

R
A

N
E

S
 W

IT
H

 M
A

IN
W

E
A

T
H

E
R

 R
E

S
IS

T
A

N
T

M
E

M
B

R
A

N
E

 B
Y

 S
H

IN
G

LE
LA

P
P

IN
G

 IN
 T

H
E

 D
IR

E
C

T
IO

N
O

F
 M

O
IS

T
U

R
E

 F
LO

W
.  

P
R

O
V

ID
E

 C
A

U
LK

IN
G

 A
T

 A
LL

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

 P
E

N
E

T
R

A
T

IO
N

S
(D

E
P

E
N

D
IN

G
 O

N
 T

H
E

 A
P

P
LI

A
N

C
E

 M
A

N
U

F
A

C
T

U
R

E
R

S
S

P
E

C
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

) 
F

O
A

M
 IN

S
U

LA
T

E
 B

E
H

IN
D

 O
P

E
N

IN
G

.

N
O

T
E

:F
LA

S
H

IN
G

 M
E

C
H

A
N

IC
A

L 
P

E
N

E
T

R
A

T
IO

N
S

- 
F

LA
S

H
 E

A
C

H
 P

E
N

E
T

R
A

T
IO

N
 IN

D
IV

ID
U

A
LL

Y
-U

S
E

 S
E

LF
 D

R
A

IN
IN

G
/F

LA
S

H
E

D
 C

O
V

E
R

S
 T

H
A

T
 M

E
E

T
 C

O
D

E
R

E
Q

U
IR

E
M

E
N

T
S

 W
H

E
R

E
 P

O
S

S
IB

LE
-A

LL
 P

E
N

E
T

R
A

T
IO

N
S

 M
U

S
T

 B
E

 F
LA

S
H

E
D

, T
O

P
 A

N
D

 B
O

T
T

O
M

-M
O

U
N

T
 P

E
N

E
T

R
A

T
IO

N
S

 O
N

 B
A

T
T

E
N

S
 T

O
 A

LL
O

W
 T

H
E

F
LA

S
H

IN
G

 T
O

 B
E

 P
LA

C
E

D
 O

N
 T

H
E

 B
A

T
T

E
N

S
 R

A
T

H
E

R
 T

H
A

N
E

A
C

H
 P

E
N

E
T

R
A

T
IO

N
 IN

D
IV

ID
U

A
LL

Y
.

S
E

R
V

IC
E

P
E

N
E

T
R

AT
IO

N
S

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 P
A

P
E

R
 &

 W
IR

E
.

1.
P

R
O

P
E

R
LY

 IN
S

T
A

LL
E

D
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 P

A
P

E
R

 IS
 T

H
E

 B
A

C
K

B
O

N
E

 O
F

 A
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 E

N
V

E
LO

P
E

. I
T

 C
A

N
 P

R
O

V
ID

E
 A

N
 O

P
P

O
R

T
U

N
IT

Y
 F

O
R

 W
A

T
E

R
T

H
A

T
 G

E
T

S
 B

E
H

IN
D

 T
H

E
 C

LA
D

D
IN

G
 T

O
 S

H
E

D
 D

O
W

N
 T

H
E

 W
A

LL
 A

N
D

 E
X

IT
 S

A
F

E
LY

 T
O

 T
H

E
 O

U
T

S
ID

E
.

··
A

LW
A

Y
S

 IN
S

T
A

LL
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 P

A
P

E
R

 T
O

 E
N

S
U

R
E

 P
R

O
P

E
R

 S
H

IN
G

LI
N

G
 O

U
T

W
A

R
D

 A
N

D
 D

O
W

N
W

A
R

D
.

··
A

LW
A

Y
S

 E
N

S
U

R
E

 T
H

A
T

 T
H

E
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 P

A
P

E
R

 Y
O

U
 U

S
E

 M
E

E
T

S
 O

R
 E

X
C

E
E

D
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 C

O
D

E
 R

E
Q

U
IR

E
M

E
N

T
S

 IN
 Y

O
U

R
 A

R
E

A
.

2.
T

H
E

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 P
A

P
E

R
 S

H
O

U
LD

 A
LW

A
Y

S
 B

E
 L

A
P

P
E

D
 A

 M
IN

IM
U

M
 O

F
 S

IX
 (

6)
 IN

C
H

E
S

 H
O

R
IZ

O
N

T
A

LL
Y

 W
IT

H
 T

H
E

 U
P

P
E

R
 L

A
Y

E
R

 A
LW

A
Y

S
O

V
E

R
LA

P
P

IN
G

 T
H

E
 L

O
W

E
R

 L
A

Y
E

R
. I

T
 IS

 V
E

R
Y

 IM
P

O
R

T
A

N
T

 W
H

E
N

 Y
O

U
 M

E
E

T
 A

T
 T

H
E

 S
O

F
F

IT
 O

R
 P

A
T

IO
 L

IN
E

 T
H

A
T

 Y
O

U
 L

IF
T

 T
H

E
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
P

A
P

E
R

 IN
S

T
A

LL
E

D
 B

Y
 T

H
E

 S
O

F
F

IT
 A

P
P

LI
C

A
T

O
R

S
, C

A
R

P
E

N
T

E
R

S
 O

R
 O

T
H

E
R

 T
R

A
D

E
S

 A
N

D
 P

LA
C

E
 Y

O
U

R
 P

A
P

E
R

 B
E

H
IN

D
 T

O
 C

R
E

A
T

E
 T

H
E

S
H

IN
G

LE
 E

F
F

E
C

T
.

3.
W

H
E

N
 S

T
A

P
LI

N
G

 T
H

E
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 P

A
P

E
R

 O
N

 T
H

E
 W

A
LL

 A
LW

A
Y

S
 L

O
O

K
 A

T
 T

H
E

 S
H

E
A

T
H

IN
G

 A
N

D
 S

T
A

P
LE

 IN
 L

IN
E

 W
IT

H
 T

H
E

 F
A

S
T

E
N

E
R

S
A

T
T

A
C

H
IN

G
 T

H
E

 S
H

E
A

T
H

IN
G

 T
O

 T
H

E
 W

A
LL

. T
H

IS
 W

IL
L 

S
IM

P
LI

F
Y

 L
O

C
A

T
IN

G
 T

H
E

 S
T

U
D

S
 W

H
E

N
 IT

S
 T

IM
E

 T
O

 F
A

S
T

E
N

 T
H

E
 S

T
U

C
C

O
 W

IR
E

 T
O

T
H

E
 S

T
U

D
S

.
4.

IN
S

T
A

LL
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 A

B
O

V
E

 A
LL

 P
E

N
E

T
R

A
T

IO
N

S
 A

N
D

 E
N

S
U

R
E

 F
LA

N
G

E
 L

E
N

G
T

H
 IS

 A
D

E
Q

U
A

T
E

 A
N

D
 F

A
S

T
E

N
E

D
 S

E
C

U
R

E
LY

. Y
O

U
R

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 P
A

P
E

R
 S

H
O

U
LD

 A
LW

A
Y

S
 B

E
 L

A
P

P
E

D
 O

V
E

R
 T

H
E

 F
LA

N
G

E
 O

F
 T

H
E

 F
LA

S
H

IN
G

.
5.

C
U

T
 Y

O
U

R
 S

T
U

C
C

O
 W

IR
E

 T
O

 S
IZ

E
 A

N
D

 A
LW

A
Y

S
 P

LA
C

E
 W

IT
H

 T
H

E
 F

U
R

R
IN

G
 L

E
G

S
 A

G
A

IN
S

T
 T

H
E

 W
A

LL
. F

A
S

T
E

N
 A

N
D

 S
T

R
E

T
C

H
 T

A
U

T
.

W
H

E
N

 Y
O

U
 N

A
IL

 O
R

 S
T

A
P

LE
 Y

O
U

 C
A

N
 R

E
F

E
R

 T
O

 T
H

E
 S

T
A

P
LE

S
 IN

 T
H

E
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 P

A
P

E
R

 T
O

 L
O

C
A

T
E

 T
H

E
 S

T
U

D
S

 IN
 B

E
H

IN
D

 T
H

E
 S

H
E

A
T

H
IN

G
.

··
S

T
U

C
C

O
 L

A
T

H
 -

 N
.B

.C
. 9

.2
8.

4.
1 

LA
T

H
 M

A
T

E
R

IA
L 

M
A

Y
 B

E
 R

IB
 L

A
T

H
 O

R
 E

X
P

A
N

D
E

D
 M

E
T

A
L 

S
T

U
C

C
O

 M
E

S
H

 S
H

A
LL

 B
E

 C
O

P
P

E
R

-A
LL

O
Y

S
T

E
E

L 
C

O
A

T
E

D
 W

IT
H

 R
U

S
T

-I
N

H
IB

IT
IV

E
 P

A
IN

T
 A

F
T

E
R

 F
A

B
R

IC
A

T
IO

N
, O

R
 G

A
LV

A
N

IZ
E

D
 W

O
V

E
N

 O
R

 W
E

LD
E

D
 M

E
S

H
.

··
N

.B
.C

. 9
.2

8.
4.

6.
2 

S
T

A
T

E
S

 F
A

S
T

E
N

E
R

S
 O

N
 V

E
R

T
IC

A
L 

S
U

R
F

A
C

E
S

 S
H

A
LL

 B
E

 S
P

A
C

E
D

 N
O

T
 M

O
R

E
 T

H
A

N
:

··
16

" 
O

.C
. S

T
U

D
S

 R
E

Q
U

IR
E

 A
 F

A
S

T
E

N
E

R
 E

V
E

R
Y

 S
IX

 (
6)

 IN
C

H
E

S
 V

E
R

T
IC

A
LL

Y
 O

N
 E

A
C

H
 S

T
U

D
 P

R
O

P
E

R
LY

 S
U

P
P

O
R

T
IN

G
 T

H
E

 S
T

U
C

C
O

 W
IR

E
.

··
24

" 
O

.C
. S

T
U

D
S

 R
E

Q
U

IR
E

 A
 F

A
S

T
E

N
E

R
 E

V
E

R
Y

 F
O

U
R

 (
4)

 IN
C

H
E

S
 V

E
R

T
IC

A
LL

Y
 O

N
 E

A
C

H
 S

T
U

D
 P

R
O

P
E

R
LY

 S
U

P
P

O
R

T
IN

G
 T

H
E

 S
T

U
C

C
O

W
IR

E
.

··
N

A
IL

IN
G

 P
A

T
T

E
R

N
S

 O
T

H
E

R
 T

H
A

N
 D

E
S

C
R

IB
E

D
 A

B
O

V
E

 A
R

E
 A

LL
O

W
E

D
 U

N
D

E
R

 T
H

E
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 C

O
D

E
 P

R
O

V
ID

IN
G

 T
H

E
R

E
 A

R
E

 A
T

 L
E

A
S

T
 2

0
F

A
S

T
E

N
E

R
S

 P
E

R
 S

Q
U

A
R

E
 M

E
T

E
R

 O
F

 W
A

LL
 S

U
R

F
A

C
E

. 
··

F
A

S
T

E
N

E
R

S
 M

A
T

E
R

IA
LS

: N
A

IL
S

 S
H

A
LL

 B
E

 C
O

R
R

O
S

IO
N

-R
E

S
IS

T
A

N
T

 E
G

 O
R

 H
O

T
 D

IP
P

E
D

 G
A

LV
A

N
IZ

E
D

 C
O

A
T

E
D

. N
A

IL
S

 S
H

A
LL

 B
E

 N
O

T
LE

S
S

 T
H

A
N

 3
.2

m
m

 (
11

G
a.

) 
? 

W
IT

H
 A

 H
E

A
D

 S
IZ

E
 O

F
 N

O
T

 L
E

S
S

 T
H

A
N

 1
1.

1m
m

 (
 7

/1
6"

).
 S

T
A

P
LE

S
 F

O
R

 S
T

U
C

C
O

 L
A

T
H

 O
R

 R
E

IN
F

O
R

C
IN

G
 S

H
A

LL
 N

O
T

B
E

 L
E

S
S

 T
H

A
N

 1
.9

8m
m

 ?
 O

F
 T

H
IC

K
N

E
S

S
. S

T
A

P
LE

S
 A

N
D

 N
A

IL
S

 F
O

R
 A

T
T

A
C

H
IN

G
 L

A
T

H
 T

O
 V

E
R

T
IC

A
L 

S
U

R
F

A
C

E
S

 S
H

A
LL

 B
E

 O
F

 S
U

F
F

IC
IE

N
T

LE
N

G
T

H
 T

O
 P

E
N

E
T

R
A

T
E

 2
5m

m
 (

1 
IN

C
H

) 
IN

T
O

 T
H

E
 F

R
A

M
IN

G
 M

E
M

B
E

R
S

 O
R

 T
O

 T
H

E
 F

U
LL

 D
E

P
T

H
 O

F
 T

H
E

 S
H

E
A

T
H

IN
G

 W
H

E
R

E
 S

H
E

A
T

H
IN

G
 IS

U
S

E
D

 F
O

R
 A

T
T

A
C

H
M

E
N

T
S

. (
M

U
S

T
 B

E
 A

P
P

R
O

P
R

IA
T

E
 S

H
E

A
T

H
IN

G
.  

3/
8"

IS
 N

O
T

 A
P

P
R

O
P

R
IA

T
E

 F
O

R
 F

A
S

T
E

N
IN

G
 L

A
T

H
).

6.
E

X
T

E
R

N
A

L 
C

O
R

N
E

R
S

 O
F

 S
T

U
C

C
O

 L
A

T
H

 S
H

A
LL

 B
E

 R
E

IN
F

O
R

C
E

D
 W

IT
H

 A
 V

E
R

T
IC

A
L 

S
T

R
IP

 O
F

 L
A

T
H

 O
R

 R
E

IN
F

O
R

C
IN

G
 E

X
T

E
N

D
IN

G
 N

O
T

LE
S

S
 T

H
E

N
 1

50
m

m
 O

N
 B

O
T

H
 S

ID
E

S
 O

F
 T

H
E

 C
O

R
N

E
R

, O
R

 
7.

Y
O

U
 M

U
S

T
 F

A
S

T
E

N
 T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 T
H

E
 S

H
E

A
T

H
IN

G
 A

N
D

 H
IT

 T
H

E
 S

T
U

D
S

. S
T

U
C

C
O

 L
A

T
H

 M
U

S
T

 O
V

E
R

LA
P

 A
T

 L
E

A
S

T
  O

N
E

 S
P

A
C

E
 (

i.e
. 5

0m
m

/2
"

O
R

 3
8m

m
 1

.5
")

 A
T

 J
O

IN
T

S
. J

O
IN

T
S

 M
U

S
T

 B
E

 S
T

A
G

G
E

R
E

D
 A

T
 A

LL
 V

E
R

T
IC

A
L 

JO
IN

T
S

 M
U

S
T

 O
C

C
U

R
 O

V
E

R
 F

R
A

M
IN

G
 M

E
M

B
E

R
S

.
8.

B
E

 A
W

A
R

E
 O

F
 A

LL
 R

E
Q

U
IR

E
M

E
N

T
S

 IN
 T

H
E

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 C
O

D
E

 A
S

 W
E

LL
 A

S
 A

N
Y

 L
O

C
A

L 
R

E
G

U
LA

T
IO

N
S

 &
 M

A
N

U
F

A
C

T
U

R
E

R
'S

IN
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N
S

.
9.

S
T

U
C

C
O

 M
IX

E
S

 A
R

E
 T

O
 B

E
 C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

T
 W

IT
H

 A
.B

.C
. 9

.2
8.

5.
1 

A
S

 D
E

T
A

IL
E

D
 IN

 C
H

A
R

T
 "

A
"

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 E
N

V
E

LO
P

E
 &

 F
LA

S
H

IN
G

 S
T

U
C

C
O

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

C
E

M
E

N
T

 P
LA

S
T

E
R

B
A

S
E

C
O

A
T

 &
 F

IN
IS

H

W
A

T
E

R
 T

IG
H

T
 D

IV
E

R
T

E
R

S
E

A
M

S
 (

T
Y

P
IC

A
L)

W
A

T
E

R
 R

E
S

IS
T

A
N

T
 M

E
M

B
R

A
N

E
 

S
E

LF
 F

U
R

R
IN

G
 L

A
T

H

K
IC

K
E

R
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G

N
O

T
E

: F
LA

S
H

IN
G

 M
E

M
B

R
A

N
E

T
O

 B
E

 IN
S

T
A

LL
E

D
 B

E
H

IN
D

F
A

S
C

IA
 T

H
A

T
 A

B
U

T
S

 W
A

LL
.

T
O

 B
E

 IN
S

T
A

LL
E

D
 IN

"S
H

IN
G

LE
 F

A
S

H
IO

N
" 

W
IT

H
F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 M

E
M

B
R

A
N

E
.

50
m

m
 (

2"
)

W
A

T
E

R
 R

E
S

IS
T

A
N

T
 B

A
R

R
IE

R
 (

2 
LA

Y
E

R
S

)
U

N
D

E
R

 F
LA

S
H

IN
G

 M
E

M
B

R
A

N
E

S
T

E
P

 F
LA

S
H

IN
G

F
LA

S
H

IN
G

 M
E

M
B

R
A

N
E

C
A

S
IN

G
 B

E
A

D

F
LA

S
H

IN
G

 M
E

M
B

R
A

N
E

F
A

S
C

IA

S
LO

P
E

-A
S

P
H

A
LT

 S
H

IN
G

LE
S

 O
R

 A
S

 S
P

E
C

IF
IE

D
-7

/1
6"

 O
.S

.B
. S

H
E

A
T

H
IN

G
E

N
G

. R
O

O
F

 T
R

U
S

S
 S

Y
S

T
E

M
 @

 2
4"

 O
.C

. M
IN

. O
R

A
S

 P
E

R
 E

N
G

. L
A

Y
O

U
T

-I
N

S
U

LA
T

IO
N

-V
.B

.
- 

1/
2"

D
R

Y
W

A
LL

.

IN
S

U
LA

T
IO

N
 S

T
O

P
. L

A
P

 O
V

E
R

 
W

E
A

T
H

E
R

 M
E

M
B

R
A

N
E

W
E

A
T

H
E

R
 R

E
S

IS
T

A
N

T
  M

E
M

B
R

A
N

E
E

X
T

E
N

D
E

D
 U

P
 B

E
H

IN
D

 J
- 

C
H

A
N

N
E

L
&

 S
O

F
F

IT

E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 S

ID
IN

G
.

C
O

N
T

IN
U

O
U

S
 S

O
F

F
IT

. 

D
R

IP
E

D
G

E R
A

IN
W

A
R

E

R
O

O
F

IN
G

M
E

M
B

R
A

N
E

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 E
N

V
E

LO
P

E
 &

 F
LA

S
H

IN
G

 
S

O
F

F
IT

 &
 F

A
S

C
IA

F
A

S
C

IA
 &

 S
O

F
F

IT
 D

E
T

A
IL

(A
LU

M
IN

U
M

)

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 E
N

V
E

LO
P

E
 &

 F
LA

S
H

IN
G

 B
A

S
IC

 F
R

A
M

IN
G

R
O

O
F

 K
IC

K
E

R
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 S

C
A

LE
 =

 N
.T

.S
.

S
P

E
C

IA
L 

P
R

O
T

E
C

T
IO

N
 F

O
R

 W
A

LL
S

 A
N

D
 F

A
S

C
IA

 : 
T

H
E

S
E

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

 A
R

E
 IN

 R
E

G
A

R
D

S
 T

O
 H

IG
H

 IN
T

E
N

S
IT

Y
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T

IA
L 

F
IR

E
S

 (
H

IR
F

) 
B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 C

O
D

E
 C

H
A

N
G

E
S

 A
S

 O
F

 M
A

Y
 3

rd
, 2

00
9.

-T
H

E
S

E
 D

E
T

A
IL

S
 A

R
E

 IN
 P

O
IN

T
 F

O
R

M
 O

N
LY

 A
N

D
 G

IV
E

 A
 G

E
N

E
R

A
L 

O
V

E
R

V
IE

W
 O

F
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

R
E

Q
U

IR
E

M
E

N
T

S
. S

E
E

K
 F

U
LL

E
R

 E
X

P
LA

N
A

T
IO

N
 F

R
O

M
 L

O
C

A
L 

S
A

F
E

T
Y

 C
O

D
E

S
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
S

 A
S

 N
E

C
E

S
S

A
R

Y
.

N
O

T
E

 T
H

E
S

E
 C

O
D

E
 R

E
Q

U
IR

E
M

E
N

T
S

 A
R

E
 D

E
P

E
N

D
A

N
T

 U
P

O
N

 T
H

E
 R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
 T

IM
E

S
 F

O
R

 T
H

E
 F

IR
E

P
R

O
T

E
C

T
IO

N
 IN

 Y
O

U
R

 C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

. A
D

JU
S

T
 A

S
 N

E
C

E
S

S
A

R
Y

.
-B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ID
E

 Y
A

R
D

S
 L

E
S

S
 T

H
A

N
 1

.2
M

 (
4'

) 
T

O
 0

.6
M

 (
2'

).
 

  -
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

 O
F

 E
X

P
O

S
E

D
 W

A
LL

:
   

   
-4

5 
M

IN
U

T
E

 F
.R

.R
. (

F
IR

E
 R

E
S

IS
T

A
N

C
E

 R
A

T
IN

G
) 

R
E

Q
U

IR
E

D
  -

C
LA

D
D

IN
G

 IE
 T

O
 B

E
:

   
   

-N
O

N
-C

O
M

B
U

S
T

IB
LE

 O
R

   
   

-C
O

M
B

U
S

T
IB

LE
 IN

S
T

A
LL

E
D

 O
V

E
R

 E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 G

R
A

D
E

 G
Y

P
S

U
M

 S
H

E
A

T
H

IN
G

 O
R

 M
A

S
O

N
R

Y
 O

R
   

   
-W

A
LL

 A
S

S
E

M
B

LY
 T

E
S

T
E

D
 A

N
D

 A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

 T
O

 T
H

E
 U

.L
.C

. 1
34

 S
T

A
N

D
A

R
D

.
  -

C
O

M
B

U
S

T
IB

LE
 E

N
C

LO
S

E
D

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

IO
N

S
 (

E
.G

. F
IR

E
P

LA
C

E
, C

H
IM

N
E

Y
S

):
   

   
-S

A
M

E
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

IO
N

 R
E

Q
U

IR
E

M
E

N
T

S
 F

O
R

 E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 W

A
LL

 (
45

F
.R

.R
.)

   
   

-S
ID

E
S

 A
R

E
 T

O
 B

E
 C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

E
D

 S
A

M
E

 A
S

 F
A

C
E

, N
O

 O
P

E
N

IN
G

S
.

   
   

-I
F

 u
/s

 O
F

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

IO
N

 E
X

C
E

E
D

S
 0

.6
M

 (
23

-5
/8

")
 T

O
 B

E
 F

IN
IS

H
E

D
 G

R
O

U
N

D
 L

E
V

E
L 

T
H

E
N

 P
R

O
JE

C
T

IO
N

 IS
R

E
Q

U
IR

E
D

 A
S

 P
E

R
 3

.2
.3

.6
.(

5)
(b

)
  -

S
O

F
F

IT
S

:
-R

O
O

F
 S

O
F

F
IT

S
 A

R
E

 P
E

R
M

IT
T

E
D

 U
P

 T
O

 0
.4

5M
 (

18
")

 T
O

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
, A

N
D

 M
U

S
T

 B
E

 P
R

O
T

E
C

T
E

D
B

Y
 M

A
T

E
R

IA
L 

LI
S

T
E

D
 IN

 C
LA

U
S

E
 3

.2
.3

.6
.(

5)
(b

) 
(e

.g
. U

N
V

E
N

T
E

D
 A

LU
M

IN
U

M
 O

R
 1

2.
7m

m
 G

Y
P

S
U

M
 U

N
D

E
R

T
H

E
 S

O
F

F
IT

),
 A

N
D

 H
A

V
E

 N
O

 O
P

E
N

IN
G

S
-S

O
F

F
IT

S
 A

R
E

 N
O

T
 P

E
R

M
IT

T
E

D
 C

LO
S

E
R

 T
H

A
N

 0
.4

5M
 (

18
")

 T
O

 P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
. 

N
O

T
E

: F
LA

S
H

IN
G

 G
E

N
E

R
A

L 
N

O
T

E
S

:
-A

.B
.C

. 9
.2

6.
4.

1 
F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 A

T
 D

E
C

K
S

 &
 B

A
LC

O
N

IE
S

 
-D

E
C

K
S

 &
 B

A
LC

O
N

IE
S

 T
H

A
T

 D
O

 N
O

T
 P

E
R

M
IT

 T
H

E
 F

R
E

E
 D

R
A

IN
A

G
E

 O
F

 W
A

T
E

R
 T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 T
H

E
 D

E
C

K
 M

U
S

T
 B

E
T

R
E

A
T

E
D

 A
S

 A
 R

O
O

F
. (

U
N

LE
S

S
 T

H
E

 S
U

R
F

A
C

E
 S

LO
P

E
S

 T
O

 T
H

E
 O

U
T

S
ID

E
 O

F
 T

H
E

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 S
O

 W
A

T
E

R
 C

A
N

F
R

E
E

LY
 D

R
A

IN
 O

V
E

R
 T

H
E

 E
D

G
E

.)
-F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 S

H
O

U
LD

 B
E

 IN
S

T
A

LL
E

D
 B

E
T

W
E

E
N

 W
A

LL
S

 A
N

D
 D

E
C

K
S

-A
T

 G
U

A
R

D
S

 IN
 C

O
N

T
A

C
T

 W
IT

H
 T

H
E

 D
E

C
K

S
.

A
.B

.C
. 9

.2
7.

3.
8 

F
LA

S
H

IN
G

 M
U

S
T

 B
E

 IN
S

T
A

LL
E

D
:

-A
T

 E
V

E
R

Y
 H

O
R

IZ
O

N
T

A
L 

C
H

A
N

G
E

 IN
 C

LA
D

D
IN

G
 E

LE
M

E
N

T
.

-E
V

E
R

Y
 H

O
R

IZ
O

N
T

A
L 

O
F

F
S

E
T

 IN
 T

H
E

 C
LA

D
D

IN
G

.
-E

V
E

R
Y

 H
O

R
IZ

O
N

T
A

L 
LI

N
E

 W
H

E
R

E
 T

H
E

 C
LA

D
D

IN
G

 S
U

B
S

T
R

A
T

E
 C

H
A

N
G

E
S

, A
N

D
 

-T
O

P
 &

 B
O

T
T

O
M

 O
F

 A
LL

 P
E

N
E

T
R

A
T

IO
N

S
. 

A
.B

.C
. 9

.2
7.

3.
8 

F
LA

S
H

IN
G

 M
A

Y
 B

E
 O

M
IT

T
E

D
 W

H
E

R
E

...
-T

H
E

 U
P

P
E

R
 C

LA
D

D
IN

G
 E

LE
M

E
N

T
S

 O
V

E
R

LA
P

 T
H

E
 L

O
W

E
R

 C
LA

D
D

IN
G

 E
LE

M
E

N
T

S
 B

Y
 A

T
 L

E
A

S
T

 2
5m

m
.

-W
H

E
R

E
 D

R
A

IN
E

D
 &

 V
E

N
T

E
D

 A
IR

S
P

A
C

E
S

 A
R

E
 U

S
E

D
.

-W
H

E
R

E
 H

O
R

IZ
O

N
T

A
L 

JO
IN

T
S

 IN
 S

T
U

C
C

O
 W

IT
H

 E
X

P
A

N
S

IO
N

 S
T

R
IP

S
.

D
. 

IN
S

E
R

T
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
 F

R
O

M
 T

H
E

 E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 O

F
 T

H
E

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

. P
LA

C
E

 T
H

E
 

B
O

T
T

O
M

 O
F

 T
H

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

 O
P

 T
H

E
 S

P
A

C
E

R
S

 A
T

 T
H

E
 B

O
T

T
O

M
 O

F
 T

H
E

 
O

P
E

N
IN

G
, T

H
E

N
 T

IL
T

 T
H

E
 T

O
P

 IN
T

O
 P

O
S

IT
IO

N
. C

E
N

T
E

R
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
B

E
T

W
E

E
N

 T
H

E
 S

ID
E

S
 O

F
 T

H
E

 O
P

E
N

IN
G

 T
O

 A
LL

O
W

 C
LE

A
R

A
N

C
E

 F
O

R
 

S
H

IM
M

IN
G

, A
N

D
 IN

S
E

R
T

 T
H

E
 O

N
E

 R
O

O
F

IN
G

 N
A

IL
 IN

 T
H

E
 F

IR
S

T
 H

O
LE

 F
R

O
M

 T
H

E
 

C
O

R
N

E
R

 O
N

 E
A

C
H

 E
N

D
 O

F
 T

H
E

 T
O

P
 N

A
IL

IN
G

 F
IN

. T
H

E
S

E
 A

R
E

 U
S

E
D

 T
O

 H
O

LD
 T

H
E

 
W

IN
D

O
W

 IN
 P

LA
C

E
 W

H
IL

E
 S

H
IM

M
IN

G
 IT

 P
LU

M
B

 A
N

D
 S

Q
U

A
R

E
.

E
.

P
LU

M
B

 A
N

D
 S

Q
U

A
R

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

. P
LA

C
E

 S
H

IM
S

 1
" 

F
R

O
M

 
T

H
E

 B
O

T
T

O
M

 A
N

D
 T

O
P

 O
F

 T
H

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

 B
E

T
W

E
E

N
T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 S

ID
E

S
 O

F
 T

H
E

 O
P

E
N

IN
G

. A
D

JU
S

T
T

H
E

 S
H

IM
S

 A
S

 R
E

Q
U

IR
E

D
 T

O
 P

LU
M

B
 A

N
D

 S
Q

U
A

R
E

 T
H

E
 

W
IN

D
O

W
 IN

 T
H

E
 O

P
E

N
IN

G
. I

F
 T

H
E

 F
R

A
M

E
 H

E
IG

H
T

E
X

C
E

E
D

S
 5

3"
, P

LA
C

E
 S

H
IM

S
 A

T
 T

H
E

 M
ID

P
O

IN
T

 O
F

 T
H

E
 

W
IN

D
O

W
 S

ID
E

S
. 

N
O

T
E

: D
O

 N
O

T
 S

H
IM

 A
B

O
V

E
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
 O

R
 IN

T
H

E
 S

P
A

C
E

 B
E

T
W

E
E

N
 T

H
E

 S
P

A
C

E
R

S
 A

T
 T

H
E

 B
O

T
T

O
M

 O
F

 
T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
 D

O
 N

O
 O

V
E

R
 S

H
IM

.

T
W

O
 O

R
 M

O
R

E
 P

E
O

P
LE

 W
IL

L 
B

E
 R

E
Q

U
IR

E
D

 
F

O
R

 T
H

E
 F

O
LL

O
W

IN
G

 S
T

E
P

S
.

A
. 

A
P

P
LY

 S
ID

E
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 T

A
P

E
. C

U
T

 T
O

 P
IE

C
E

S
 O

F
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 T

A
P

E
 4

" 
LO

N
G

E
R

 T
H

A
N

T
H

E
 F

R
A

M
E

 H
E

IG
H

T
 O

F
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
. A

P
P

LY
 O

N
 P

IE
C

E
 T

O
 E

A
C

H
 S

ID
E

 O
V

E
R

 T
H

E
N

A
IL

IN
G

 F
IN

 A
N

D
 O

N
T

O
 T

H
E

 W
A

T
E

R
 R

E
S

IS
T

IV
E

 B
A

R
R

IE
R

. T
H

E
 T

A
P

E
 S

H
O

U
LD

E
X

T
E

N
D

 2
" 

A
B

O
V

E
 T

H
E

 T
O

P
 O

F
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
 A

N
D

 2
" 

B
E

LO
W

 T
H

E
 B

O
T

T
O

M
 O

F
T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
. P

R
E

S
S

 T
H

E
 T

A
P

E
 D

O
W

N
 F

IR
M

LY
.

B
.

A
P

P
LY

 T
O

P
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 T

A
P

E
. C

U
T

 A
 P

IE
C

E
 O

F
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 T

A
P

E
 L

O
N

G
 E

N
O

U
G

H
 T

O
 

G
O

 A
C

R
O

S
S

 T
H

E
 T

O
P

 O
F

 T
H

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

 A
N

D
 E

X
T

E
N

D
 A

T
 L

E
A

S
T

 1
" 

P
A

S
T

 T
H

E
 

S
ID

E
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 T

A
P

E
 O

N
 B

O
T

H
 S

ID
E

S
. A

P
P

LY
 T

H
E

 T
A

P
E

 O
V

E
R

 T
H

E
 T

O
P

 N
A

IL
IN

G
 

F
IN

 A
S

 S
H

O
W

N
. 

N
O

T
E

: D
O

 N
O

T
 T

A
P

E
 O

R
 S

E
A

L 
T

H
E

 B
O

T
T

O
M

 N
A

IL
IN

G
 F

IN
. 

C
. 

F
O

LD
 D

O
W

N
 T

O
P

 F
LA

P
 O

F
 W

A
T

E
R

 R
E

S
IS

T
IV

E
 B

A
R

R
IE

R
 (

3C
)

D
. 

A
P

P
LY

 F
LA

S
H

IN
G

 T
A

P
E

 T
O

 D
IA

G
O

N
A

L 
C

U
T

S
. C

U
T

 P
IE

C
E

S
 O

F
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 T

A
P

E
 A

T
LE

A
S

T
 1

" 
LO

N
G

E
R

 T
H

A
N

 T
H

E
 D

IA
G

O
N

A
L 

C
U

T
S

 IN
 T

H
E

 W
A

T
E

R
 R

E
S

IS
T

IV
E

 B
A

R
R

IE
R

.
A

P
P

LY
 T

H
E

 T
A

P
E

 C
O

V
E

R
IN

G
 T

H
E

 E
N

T
IR

E
 D

IA
G

O
N

A
L 

C
U

T
 IN

 T
H

E
 W

A
T

E
R

 R
E

S
IS

T
IV

E
B

A
R

R
IE

R
 A

T
 B

O
T

H
 U

P
P

E
R

 C
O

R
N

E
R

S
 O

F
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
.

N
O

T
E

: B
E

 S
U

R
E

 O
 O

V
E

R
LA

P
 T

H
E

 T
O

P
 C

O
R

N
E

R
S

 (3
D

)

3
 I

N
T

E
G

R
A

T
IN

G
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
 T

O
 T

H
E

 W
A

T
E

R
 

R
E

S
IS

T
IV

E
 B

A
R

R
IE

R
 

A
. 

IN
S

T
A

LL
 A

N
D

 L
E

V
E

L 
S

IL
L 

S
P

A
C

E
R

S
. P

LA
C

E
 1

" 
W

ID
E

 B
Y

 3
/8

" 
T

H
IC

K
 S

P
A

C
E

R
S

 O
N

T
H

E
 B

O
T

T
O

M
 O

F
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
 O

P
E

N
IN

G
 1

/2
" 

F
R

O
M

 E
A

C
H

 S
ID

E
. S

P
A

C
E

R
S

 A
R

E
A

LS
O

 R
E

Q
U

IR
E

D
 A

T
 P

O
IN

T
S

 W
H

E
R

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

S
 A

R
E

 J
O

IN
E

D
 IN

 M
U

LT
IP

LE
 W

IN
D

O
W

A
P

P
LI

C
A

T
IO

N
S

. A
D

D
 S

H
IM

S
 A

S
 N

E
C

E
S

S
A

R
Y

 T
O

 E
N

S
U

R
E

 T
H

E
 S

P
A

C
E

R
S

 A
R

E
 L

E
V

E
L.

O
N

C
E

 L
E

V
E

L,
 A

T
T

A
C

H
 S

P
A

C
E

R
S

 A
N

D
 S

H
IM

S
 T

O
 P

R
E

V
E

N
T

 M
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

.

N
O

T
E

:  
IM

P
R

O
P

E
R

 P
LA

C
E

M
E

N
T

 O
F

 S
H

IM
S

 O
R

 S
P

A
C

E
R

S
 M

A
Y

 R
E

S
U

LT
 IN

 B
O

W
IN

G
T

H
E

 B
O

T
T

O
M

 O
F

 T
H

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

.

B
.

R
E

M
O

V
E

 P
LA

S
T

IC
 W

R
A

P
 A

N
D

 C
A

R
D

B
O

A
R

D
 P

A
C

K
A

G
IN

G
 F

R
O

M
 W

IN
D

O
W

. D
O

 N
O

T
R

E
M

O
V

E
 P

LA
S

T
IC

 S
H

IP
P

IN
G

 S
P

A
C

E
R

S
 L

O
C

A
T

E
D

 B
E

T
W

E
E

N
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
 S

A
S

H
 

A
N

D
 F

R
A

M
E

. T
H

E
 S

H
IP

P
IN

G
 S

P
A

C
E

R
S

 W
IL

L 
H

E
LP

 K
E

E
P

 T
H

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

 S
Q

U
A

R
E

D
U

R
IN

G
  I

N
S

T
A

LL
A

T
IO

N
. D

O
 N

O
T

 U
N

LO
C

K
 O

R
 O

P
E

N
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
 U

N
T

IL
 IT

 IS
 

F
U

LL
Y

 F
A

S
T

E
N

E
D

 

N
O

T
E

: I
F

 S
C

R
E

E
N

S
, G

R
IL

LE
S

 O
R

 H
A

R
D

W
A

R
E

 A
R

E
 R

E
M

O
V

E
D

 F
R

O
M

 T
H

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

A
T

 T
H

IS
 T

IM
E

, L
A

B
E

L 
T

H
E

M
 A

N
D

 S
T

O
R

E
 T

H
E

M
 IN

 A
 P

R
O

T
E

C
T

E
D

 A
R

E
A

. 

C
. 

F
O

LD
 O

U
T

 IN
S

T
A

LL
A

T
IO

N
 F

IN
 T

O
 9

0*
. B

E
 C

A
R

E
F

U
L 

N
O

T
 T

O
 R

E
M

O
V

E
 O

R
 T

E
A

R
 T

H
E

 
F

IN
 C

O
R

N
E

R
S

.

N
O

T
E

: I
F

 T
H

E
 F

IN
 IS

 N
O

T
 9

0*
, T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
 W

IL
L 

N
O

T
 L

IN
E

 U
P

 C
O

R
R

E
C

T
LY

 
O

N
 T

H
E

 IN
T

E
R

IO
R

.

2
 S

E
T

T
IN

G
 A

N
D

 F
A

S
T

E
N

IN
G

 T
H

E
W

IN
D

O
W

E
. 

A
P

P
LY

 S
IL

L 
F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 T

A
P

E
 #

1.
 C

U
T

 A
 P

IE
C

E
 O

F
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 T

A
P

E
 1

2"
 L

O
N

G
E

R
 

T
H

A
N

 T
H

E
 O

P
E

N
IN

G
 W

ID
T

H
. A

P
P

LY
 A

T
 T

H
E

 B
O

T
T

O
M

 O
F

 T
H

E
 O

P
E

N
IN

G
 A

S
 S

H
O

W
N

(1
E

) 
S

O
 IT

 O
V

E
R

H
A

N
G

S
 1

" 
T

O
 T

H
E

 E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
. 

N
O

T
E

: T
H

E
 T

A
P

E
 IS

 C
U

T
 1

2"
 L

O
N

G
E

R
 T

H
A

N
 T

H
E

 W
ID

T
H

 S
O

 T
H

A
T

 IT
 W

IL
L

E
X

T
E

N
D

 6
" 

U
P

 E
A

C
H

 S
ID

E
 O

F
 O

P
E

N
IN

G
.

F
. 

T
A

B
 T

H
E

 S
IL

L 
F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 T

A
P

E
 A

N
D

 F
O

LD
. C

U
T

 1
" 

W
ID

E
 T

A
B

S
 A

T
 E

A
C

H
 C

O
R

N
E

R
 

(1
/2

" 
F

O
R

M
 E

A
C

H
 S

ID
E

 O
F

 C
O

R
N

E
R

) 
(1

F
).

 F
O

LD
 T

A
P

E
 T

O
 T

H
E

 E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 A

N
D

P
R

E
S

S
 F

IR
M

LY
 T

O
 A

D
H

E
R

E
 IT

 T
O

 T
H

E
 W

A
T

E
R

 R
E

S
IS

T
IV

E
 B

A
R

R
IE

R
.

G
. 

A
P

P
LY

 S
IL

L 
F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 T

A
P

E
 #

2.
 C

U
T

 A
 P

IE
C

E
 O

F
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 T

A
P

E
 1

2"
 L

O
N

G
E

R
T

H
A

N
 O

P
E

N
IN

G
 W

ID
T

H
.  

A
P

P
LY

 A
T

 T
H

E
 B

O
T

T
O

M
, O

V
E

R
LA

P
P

IN
G

 T
A

P
E

 #
1

B
Y

 A
T

 L
E

A
S

T
 1

".
 D

O
 N

O
T

 A
LL

O
W

 T
H

E
 T

A
P

E
 T

O
 E

X
T

E
N

D
 P

A
S

T
 T

H
E

 IN
T

E
R

IO
R

 
F

A
C

E
 O

F
 F

R
A

M
IN

G
 (

1G
).

N
O

T
E

: T
H

E
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 T

A
P

E
 M

A
Y

 N
O

 F
U

LL
Y

 C
O

V
E

R
 T

H
E

 F
R

A
M

IN
G

 M
E

M
B

E
R

S
.

1
 R

O
U

G
H

 O
P

E
N

IN
G

 P
R

E
P

A
R

A
T

IO
N

A
. 

V
E

R
IF

Y
 T

H
E

 O
P

E
N

IN
G

 IS
 P

LU
M

B
 A

N
D

 L
E

V
E

L.

N
O

T
E

: I
T

 IS
 C

R
IT

IC
A

L 
T

H
A

T
 T

H
E

 B
O

T
T

O
M

 IS
 L

E
V

E
L

B
.

V
E

R
IF

Y
 W

IN
D

O
W

 W
IL

L 
F

IT
 T

H
E

 O
P

E
N

IN
G

. M
E

A
S

U
R

E
 A

LL
 F

O
U

R
 S

ID
E

S
 O

F
 T

H
E

O
P

E
N

IN
G

 T
O

 M
A

K
E

 S
U

R
E

 IT
 IS

 3
/4

" 
LA

R
G

E
R

 T
H

A
N

 T
H

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

 IN
 B

O
T

H
 W

ID
T

H
 A

N
D

H
E

IG
H

T
.  

O
N

 L
A

R
G

E
R

 O
P

E
N

IN
G

S
 M

E
A

S
U

R
E

 T
H

E
 W

ID
T

H
 A

N
D

 H
E

IG
H

T
 IN

 S
E

V
E

R
A

L
P

LA
C

E
 T

O
 E

N
S

U
R

E
 T

H
E

 H
E

A
D

E
R

 O
R

 S
T

U
D

S
 A

R
E

 N
O

T
 B

O
W

E
D

.

N
O

T
E

: 1
-1

/2
" 

O
R

 M
O

R
E

 S
O

LI
D

 W
O

O
D

 B
LO

C
K

IN
G

 IS
 R

E
Q

U
IR

E
D

 A
R

O
U

N
D

 T
H

E
 

P
E

R
IM

E
T

E
R

 O
F

 T
H

E
 O

P
E

N
IN

G
. F

IX
 A

N
Y

 P
R

O
B

LE
M

S
 W

IT
H

 T
H

E
 R

O
U

G
H

 O
P

E
N

IN
G

 
B

E
F

O
R

E
 P

R
O

C
E

E
D

IN
G

.

C
. 

C
U

T
 T

H
E

 W
A

T
E

R
 R

E
S

IS
T

IV
E

 B
A

R
R

IE
R

 (
1C

)

D
. 

F
O

LD
 T

H
E

 W
A

T
E

R
 R

E
S

IS
T

IV
E

 B
A

R
R

IE
R

 (
1D

) 
F

O
LD

 S
ID

E
 B

O
T

T
O

M
 F

LA
P

S
 IN

T
O

T
H

E
 O

P
E

N
IN

G
 A

N
D

 S
T

A
P

LE
 T

O
 IN

S
ID

E
 W

A
LL

 F
O

LD
 T

O
P

 F
LA

P
 U

P
 A

N
D

T
E

M
P

O
R

A
R

IL
Y

 F
A

S
T

E
N

 W
IT

H
 F

LA
S

H
IN

G
 T

A
P

E
.

W
H

E
N

 A
P

P
LY

IN
G

 S
ID

IN
G

, B
R

IC
K

 V
E

N
E

E
R

 O
R

 O
T

H
E

R
 E

X
T

E
R

IO
R

 F
IN

IS
H

 M
A

T
E

R
IA

L,
LE

A
V

E
 A

D
E

Q
U

A
T

E
 S

P
A

C
E

 B
E

T
W

E
E

N
 W

IN
D

O
W

 F
R

A
M

E
 A

N
D

 T
H

E
 M

A
T

E
R

IA
L 

F
O

R
 

S
E

A
LA

N
T

. R
E

F
E

R
 T

O
 T

H
E

 IL
LU

S
T

R
A

T
IO

N
S

 T
H

A
T

 C
O

R
R

E
S

P
O

N
D

S
 T

O
 Y

O
U

R
 F

IN
IS

H
 

M
A

T
E

R
IA

L.

N
O

T
E

: T
H

E
 S

E
A

LA
N

T
 D

E
T

A
IL

S
 S

H
O

W
N

 A
R

E
 S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
 R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

S
F

R
O

M
 T

H
E

 S
E

A
LA

N
T

 IN
D

U
S

T
R

Y
.  

C
O

N
T

A
C

T
 Y

O
U

R
 S

E
A

LA
N

T
 S

U
P

P
LI

E
R

 F
O

R
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

S
 A

N
D

 IN
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N
S

 F
O

R
 T

H
E

S
E

 A
N

D
 A

N
Y

 O
T

H
E

R
 

A
P

P
LI

C
A

T
IO

N

5
 S

E
A

L
IN

G
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
 T

O
 T

H
E

E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 

W
A

L
L

 C
L

A
D

D
IN

G

A
.

IN
S

E
R

T
 B

A
C

K
E

R
 R

O
D

 IN
T

O
 T

H
E

 S
P

A
C

E
 A

R
O

U
N

D
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
A

S
 D

E
E

P
 A

S
 IT

 W
IL

L 
G

O
. T

H
IS

 S
H

O
U

LD
 P

R
O

V
ID

E
 A

T
 L

E
A

S
T

 1
/2

"
C

LE
A

R
A

N
C

E
 B

E
T

W
E

E
N

 T
H

E
 B

A
C

K
E

R
 R

O
D

 A
N

D
 T

H
E

 E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 

F
A

C
E

 O
F

 T
H

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

.

N
O

T
E

: B
A

C
K

E
R

 R
O

D
 A

D
D

S
 S

H
A

P
E

 A
N

D
 D

E
P

T
H

 F
O

R
 T

H
E

 
S

E
A

LA
N

T
 L

IN
E

.

B
.

A
P

P
LY

 A
 B

E
A

D
 O

F
 H

IG
H

 Q
U

A
LI

T
Y

 E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 G

R
A

D
E

 S
E

A
LA

N
T

 
T

O
 T

H
E

 E
N

T
IR

E
 P

E
R

IM
E

T
E

R
 O

F
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
. 

C
.

S
H

A
P

E
, T

O
O

L 
A

N
D

 C
LE

A
N

 E
X

C
E

S
S

 S
E

A
LA

N
T

. W
H

E
N

 F
IN

IS
H

E
D

, 
T

H
E

 S
E

A
LA

N
T

 S
H

O
U

LD
 B

E
 T

H
E

 S
H

A
P

E
 O

F
 A

N
 H

O
U

R
G

LA
S

S
.

N
O

T
E

: T
H

IS
 M

E
T

H
O

D
 C

R
E

A
T

E
D

 A
 M

O
R

E
 F

LE
X

IB
LE

 S
E

A
LA

N
T

 
LI

N
E

 C
A

P
A

B
LE

 O
F

 E
X

T
E

N
D

IN
G

 A
N

D
 C

O
N

T
R

A
C

T
IN

G
.

F
. 

C
H

E
C

K
 T

H
E

 IN
T

E
R

IO
R

 R
E

V
E

A
L.

 M
A

K
E

 S
U

R
E

 T
H

E
 M

E
A

S
U

R
E

M
E

N
T

 F
R

O
M

 T
H

E
IN

T
E

R
IO

R
 F

A
C

E
 O

F
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
 T

O
 T

H
E

 IN
T

E
R

IO
R

 F
A

C
E

 O
F

 T
H

E
 W

A
LL

 IS
 E

Q
U

A
L 

A
T

 S
E

V
E

R
A

L 
P

O
IN

T
S

 A
R

O
U

N
D

 T
H

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

.

N
O

T
E

: I
F

 T
H

E
 D

IM
E

N
S

IO
N

S
 A

R
E

 N
O

T
 E

Q
U

A
L,

 C
H

E
C

K
 T

O
 M

A
K

E
 S

U
R

E
 T

H
E

 F
IN

S
 A

R
E

 
F

O
LD

E
D

 O
U

T
 T

O
 9

0*
 A

T
 A

LL
 P

O
IN

T
S

.

G
.

C
H

E
C

K
 W

IN
D

O
W

 O
P

E
R

A
T

IO
N

 (
 V

E
N

T
 U

N
IT

S
 O

N
LY

).
 U

N
LO

C
K

 T
H

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

 B
Y

LI
F

T
IN

G
 T

H
E

 L
O

C
K

 H
A

N
D

LE
 U

P
. O

P
E

N
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
 B

Y
 R

O
T

A
T

IN
G

 T
H

E
 C

R
A

N
K

H
A

N
D

LE
. R

E
M

O
V

E
 T

H
E

 S
H

IP
P

IN
G

 S
P

A
C

E
R

S
. O

P
E

N
 A

N
D

 C
LO

S
E

 T
H

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

 A
 F

E
W

T
IM

E
S

 T
O

 C
H

E
C

K
 F

O
R

 P
R

O
P

E
R

 O
P

E
R

A
T

IO
N

.  
C

LO
S

E
 A

N
D

 L
O

C
K

 T
H

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

. 

N
O

T
E

: I
F

 T
H

E
R

E
 A

R
E

 A
N

Y
 P

R
O

B
LE

M
 W

IT
H

 T
H

E
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IO

N
 O

F
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
, 

R
E

C
H

E
C

K
 S

H
IM

 L
O

C
A

T
IO

N
S

 A
N

D
 A

D
JU

S
T

 F
O

R
 P

LU
M

B
 A

N
D

 S
Q

U
A

R
E

.

H
.

F
A

S
T

E
N

 T
H

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

 T
O

 O
P

E
N

IN
G

 B
Y

 D
R

IV
IN

G
 2

" 
G

A
LV

A
N

IZ
E

D
 R

O
O

F
IN

G
 N

A
IL

S
IN

T
O

 E
A

C
H

 P
R

E
-P

U
N

C
H

E
D

 H
O

LE
 IN

 T
H

E
 N

A
IL

IN
G

 F
IN

.

N
O

T
E

: M
A

K
E

 S
U

R
E

 T
H

E
 F

IN
 C

O
R

N
E

R
 IS

 L
Y

IN
G

 A
S

 F
LA

T
 A

S
 P

O
S

S
IB

LE
.

C
A

U
T

IO
N

: E
N

S
U

R
E

 U
S

E
 O

F
 L

O
W

 P
R

E
S

S
U

R
E

 P
O

LY
U

R
E

T
H

A
N

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

 A
N

D
 D

O
O

R
IN

S
U

LA
T

IO
N

 F
O

A
M

S
 A

N
D

 S
T

R
IC

T
LY

 F
O

LL
O

W
 T

H
E

 F
O

A
M

 M
A

N
U

F
A

C
T

U
R

E
R

'S
 

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
S

 F
O

R
 A

P
P

LI
C

A
T

IO
N

. U
S

E
 O

F
 H

IG
H

 P
R

E
S

S
U

R
E

 F
O

A
M

S
 O

R
 

IM
P

R
O

P
E

R
 A

P
P

LI
C

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 T
H

E
 F

O
A

M
 M

A
Y

 C
A

U
S

E
 T

H
E

 W
IN

D
O

W
 F

R
A

M
E

 T
O

 B
O

W
A

N
D

 H
IN

D
E

R
 O

P
E

R
A

T
IO

N
.

A
. 

A
P

P
LY

 IN
S

U
LA

T
IN

G
 F

O
A

M
 S

E
A

LA
N

T
. F

R
O

M
 T

H
E

 IN
T

E
R

IO
R

, I
N

S
E

R
T

 T
H

E
 N

O
Z

Z
LE

O
F

 T
H

E
 A

P
P

LI
C

A
T

O
R

 A
P

P
R

O
X

IM
A

T
E

LY
 1

" 
D

E
E

P
 IN

T
O

 T
H

E
 S

P
A

C
E

 B
E

T
W

E
E

N
 T

H
E

 
W

IN
D

O
W

 A
N

D
 T

H
E

 R
O

U
G

H
 O

P
E

N
IN

G
 A

N
D

 A
P

P
LY

 A
 1

" 
D

E
E

P
 B

E
A

D
 O

F
 F

O
A

M
. 

T
H

IS
 W

IL
L 

A
LL

O
W

 R
O

O
M

 F
O

R
 E

X
P

A
N

S
IO

N
 O

F
 T

H
E

 F
O

A
M

 A
N

D
 W

IL
L 

M
IN

IM
IZ

E
S

Q
U

E
E

Z
E

 O
U

T
. A

LL
O

W
 T

H
E

 F
O

A
M

 T
O

 S
U

R
E

 C
O

M
P

LE
T

E
LY

 (
U

S
U

A
LL

Y
 8

 T
O

 2
4

H
O

U
R

S
) 

B
E

F
O

R
E

 P
R

O
C

E
E

D
IN

G
 T

O
 T

H
E

 N
E

X
T

 S
T

E
P

.

N
O

T
E

: D
O

 N
O

T
  C

O
M

P
LE

T
E

LY
 F

IL
L 

T
H

E
 S

P
A

C
E

 F
R

O
M

 T
H

E
 B

A
C

K
 O

F
 T

H
E

 F
IN

T
O

 T
H

E
 IN

T
E

R
IO

R
 F

A
C

E
 O

F
 T

H
E

 O
P

E
N

IN
G

.

B
. 

C
H

E
C

K
 W

IN
D

O
W

 O
P

E
R

A
T

IO
N

 (
V

E
N

T
 U

N
IT

S
 O

N
LY

) 
B

Y
 O

P
E

N
IN

G
 A

N
D

 C
LO

S
IN

G
 T

H
E

 
W

IN
D

O
W

.

N
O

T
E

: I
F

 T
H

E
 W

IN
D

O
W

 D
O

E
S

 N
O

T
 O

P
E

R
A

T
E

 C
O

R
R

E
C

T
LY

, C
H

E
C

K
 T

O
 M

A
K

E
 S

U
R

E
 

IT
 IS

 S
T

IL
L 

P
LU

M
B

, L
E

V
E

L,
 S

Q
U

A
R

E
 A

N
D

 T
H

A
T

 T
H

E
 S

ID
E

S
 A

R
E

 N
O

T
 B

O
W

E
D

.  
IF

A
D

JU
S

T
M

E
N

T
S

 A
R

E
 R

E
Q

U
IR

E
D

, R
E

M
O

V
E

 T
H

E
 F

O
A

M
 W

IT
H

 A
 S

E
R

R
A

T
E

D
 K

N
IF

E
. 

A
D

JU
S

T
 T

H
E

 S
H

IM
S

, A
N

D
 R

E
A

P
P

LY
 T

H
E

 IN
S

U
LA

T
IO

N
 F

O
A

M
 S

E
A

LA
N

T
. 

4
 I

N
T

E
R

IO
R

 S
E

A
L

,   

A
10

41
02

-5
0 

A
V

E
O

LD
S

, A
B

.

  A
R

K
   

  V
E

N
U

E
   

  O
N

T
R

A
C

T
IN

G
A

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

U
R

A
L 

D
E

S
IG

N
 A

N
D

 D
R

A
F

T
IN

G
S

E
R

V
IC

E

S
H

EE
T:

FI
LE

:

JA
M

ES
 A

D
D

 O
N

PAC

3/
16

" 
=

 1
'-

0"
W

IN
D

O
W

 A
N

D
S

H
IN

G
LE

 D
E

T
A

IL
S

S
C
A
LE

:
P R

EP
AR

ED
 F

O
R
:

S
H

EE
T:

D
EA

N

D
A
TE

:
D

N
 B

Y:
PR

O
JE

C
T 

AD
D

R
ES

S

20
24

-0
1-

08
49

12
-4

9 
A
VE

N
U

E 
- 

SA
N

G
U

D
O

, 
AL

B
ER

TA
T0

E 
2A

0 
- 

78
0-

87
0-

27
92

P
C

C
U

S
TO

M
ER

 N
A
M

E:

JA
M

E
S 

R
O

SE
N

B
E

R
G

E
R

76

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



77

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



78

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



SCHEDULE D 

 
Town of Olds Land Use Bylaw 01-23                                                                                                      
92 
 

 
 
 
 
 

COUNTRY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT (R5) 
 

General Purpose:   To provide an area for acreage residential development in the 
form of detached dwellings and compatible uses, herein listed, 
which are connected to the municipal sewer and water systems. 

 

Permitted Uses:   Accessory residential buildings 
Day home facility – limited  [2008-07] 
Detached dwellings 
Home Occupation – Class 1 [2008-07] 
Home Occupation – Class 2 [2008-07] 

 

Discretionary Uses:  Accessory uses 
     Bed and breakfast establishments 

Chicken Coop [2021-02] 
Day care facility – neighbourhood [2008-07] 
Manufactured homes 
Mechanized excavation, stripping and grading 
Murals if affixed to a building containing a public and quasi-public 
use                [2021-01] 
Parks and playgrounds 
Public and quasi-public uses 
Public utility buildings 
Secondary Suites [2009-06] 
Signs 
Any use that is similar, in the opinion of the development authority, 
to the permitted or discretionary uses described above. 

  
The following regulations apply to detached dwellings and manufactured homes 
 

Minimum Parcel Area: 0.405 ha (1.0 ac.) 
 

Maximum Parcel Coverage: 35% 
 

Minimum Front Yard:  15 m (49 ft) 
 

Minimum Side Yard:  4.5 m (15 ft) 
 

Minimum Rear Yard:  12 m (39 ft) 
 

Minimum Floor Area:  One-storey dwellings 110 m² (1,184 ft2) 
Split-level dwellings 130 m² (1,399 ft2) 
Two-storey dwellings 145 m² (1,560 ft2) 
 

Landscaped Area:  In the case of applications for development permits for uses other 
than detached dwellings, refer to Schedule B. 

 

Maximum Building Height: 8.5 m (28 ft) 
 

Utilities: All utility services and all utility wires and conduits shall be installed underground. 
 

Manufactured Home Design:  
 The external appearance of manufactured homes must be acceptable to the development 

authority having regard to compatibility with other buildings in the vicinity and must have: 

79

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



SCHEDULE D 

 
Town of Olds Land Use Bylaw 01-23                                                                                                      
93 
 

1.  A minimum roof pitch of 4:12 
2. A roof surface of wood or asphalt shingles, clay or concrete tiles, slates or wood 

shakes 
3. A minimum roof overhang or eaves of 0.45 m (1 ft) from each external wall 
4. A maximum length to width ratio of 3:1 
5. A minimum width of 6.7 m (22 ft) 
6. A permanent foundation. 
 

Supplementary Regulations: All uses must also comply with the regulations in Schedules B & D. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

80

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



SCHEDULE D 

 
Town of Olds Land Use Bylaw 01-23                                                                                                      
144 
 

URBAN RESERVE DISTRICT (UR) 
 
General Purpose:   To reserve land for future subdivision and development until an 

overall plan is prepared for and approved by Council. 
 
Permitted Uses:   Nil 
 
Discretionary Uses:  Accessory uses 
     Billboard signs – maximum of 2 signs per quarter section with a       
      minimum separation distance of 600 m between signs  [2011-01] 

Chicken Coop               [2021-02] 
Existing residence and other related improvements 
Farms and farming operations, excluding feedlots 
Greenhouse wholesale           [2013-06] 
Mechanized excavation, stripping and grading 
Parking facilities for uses in this District  
Public utility buildings 
Signs 
Temporary buildings 
 
Uses that will not, in the opinion of the development authority, 

  
(1) materially alter the use of the land from that existing on the 

date the land was designated to this Land Use District, or 
 
(2) conflict with future urban expansion 
 
Any use that is similar, in the opinion of the development authority, 
to the discretionary uses described above. 
 
Any use within the NW 4-33-1-W5, NE 4-33-1-W5, or SE 4-33-1-
W5 for which a development permit approval had been issued by 
Mountain View County prior to January 1, 2022.      [2022-02] 
 
Public and quasi-public uses on Plan 871 0431 Maintenance Yard 
within the NE 4-33-1-W5.          [2022-02] 

  
The following regulations apply to all uses: 
 
Minimum Parcel Area: All the land contained in the existing Certificate of Title, unless 

otherwise approved by the development authority, having regard 
to future use of the parcel and the form of future subdivision and 
development. 

  
Outdoor Storage and 
Display:    1. Outdoor storage shall be screened 

2. Outdoor display shall be screened from residential Districts 
 
Supplementary Regulations: All uses must also comply with the regulations in Schedule B and 

Schedule D.               [2011-01] 

81

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 
 

   4512 46 Street 
          Olds AB T4H 1R5 

  Main: 403.507.4806 
 Fax: 403.507.4856 

 planning@olds.ca 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT DP24-008 
 

Proposal:    Residential Addition to Detached Dwelling 
 

Deemed Use:  Permitted Use – Detached Dwelling 
 

Land Use Bylaw Designation:  UR – Urban Reserve District 
 

Civic Address:  4102 50 Avenue 
 

Legal Description:   Block 1, Plan 9311714 
 

Applicant / Owner:   James Rosenberger 
 
 

 

Decision: APPROVED subject to the conditions outlined below: 
 
1. The development must be constructed in accordance with the approved plans and conditions. Any 

revisions to the approved plans (including non-completion of the development) must be submitted for 
approval to the Development Authority. The approved plans are attached. 

 
2. Lot coverage for an R5 district is not to exceed 35% which includes all buildings and the hard-

surfaced driveway. 
 

3. Occupancy of the additional living space shall occur only after the building permit has been closed. 
 

4. The Development Officer may, by notice in writing, suspend a Development Permit where development 
has occurred in contravention to the terms and conditions of the permit and/or Land Use Bylaw. 

 
5. If the development authorized by a development permit is not commenced within 12 months from the 

date of issue, nor carried out with reasonable diligence, such permit approval ceases and the permit 
itself is deemed void, expired, and without effect, unless an extension of this period has been previously 
granted. 

 
6. Use and development of the subject site shall conform to all other applicable requirements of the Town 

of Olds Land Use Bylaw 01-23 except where a relaxation has been expressly granted. 
 
 
 

_________________________________    
Kyle Sloan, Development Officer 
 
 
Date of Decision: February 12, 2024 (Regular Council Meeting) 
Date of Notice in Newspaper: February 20, 2024 
Effective Date of Permit: March 4, 2024 (after 3-week appeal period) 
 
Attachments: 

1. Site Plan  
2. Construction Drawings 
 
  

82

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



24-008 
 

             Page 2 of 2 

NOTES TO THE APPLICANT 
 

1. This is not a Building Permit. Please contact the Town of Olds Development Authority for information 
regarding a Building Permit and compliance with the Alberta Building Code. Building Permits are issued 
through the Town of Olds  

 
2. Return of Development Security - Once the Building Inspector has determined that the building is 

suitable for occupancy the development security will be returned on completion of the following to the 
satisfaction of the Development Authority: 
1) Submission of the Request for Development Security. This form is available from Planning & 

Development. Please deliver, fax (403-507-4856) or email (planning@olds.ca) the completed 
form to Planning and Development;  

2) All conditions of the development permit have been met. 
 
3. A development permit for all discretionary use or any permitted use for which a variance or relaxation 

was granted, issued pursuant to Part Two: Development Permits, Contravention and Appeal of the 
Land Use Bylaw 01-23, does not come into effect until 21 days after the date on which the notice of 
issuance of the permit is given under Section 2.4 (3) of the Land Use Bylaw 01-23. Any development 
proceeded with by the applicant prior to the expiry of this period is done solely at the risk of the applicant. 
 

4. The date of issue of a permit for any permitted use that conforms in all respects to the requirements of 
Land Use Bylaw 01-23 and was approved with or without conditions pursuant to this part comes into 
effect immediately upon approval by the development authority. 
 

5. If the development authorized by this development permit is not commenced within 12 months from the 
date of its issue, or the date of decision of the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board upon appeal, 
nor carried out with reasonable diligence as determined by the Town of Olds development authority, 
this development permit ceases to be effective, unless an extension of this period, being no longer than 
an additional 12 months, has previously been granted by the development authority. 

 
6. Appeal Procedure 

This Development Permit and any conditions of this Development Permit may be appealed to the 
Subdivision and Development Appeal Board in accordance with Section 2.7 of the Land Use Bylaw. 
Appeals must be filed with the Subdivision and Development Appeal Board (SDAB) within 21 days after 
the date on which the notice of issuance of the permit is given, must include the reason(s) for the 
appeal, and must be addressed to the Town Office to the attention of the Subdivision Development and 
Appeal Board. The fee for an appeal is $300.00 in accordance with the Town's Rates Bylaw, Schedule 
E, as amended. This fee must be paid when the appeal letter is submitted to the Town prior to the 
expiration of the above referenced appeal period. 

 

83

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024

mailto:planning@olds.ca


 

Page 1 of 2 

  
DP24-010 

Request for Decision 

DP24-010 – 5622 46 Street – Accessory Use 

February 12, 2024    
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council approve Development Permit application DP24-010 as presented, subject to the 
conditions listed in the attached draft Development Permit. 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 

In Council’s Strategic Plan for 2022-2032, the second strategic goal is: “The Olds community is supported 
and enabled through skillful governance.”  

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

1. Municipal Government Act – Chapter M-26, Part 17, Division 3 Section 623(a) Subject to 
section 641, a council must by bylaw provide for a development authority to exercise 
development powers and perform duties on behalf of the municipality.  

  
BACKGROUND  
 
The subject parcel is located at 5622 46 Street and is zoned Highway Commercial (CH). The applicant is 
seeking approval for a licensed restaurant to be added to the existing convenience store. The proposal 
would allow for alcohol to be purchased for consumption on the premises in a separated restaurant area. 
Customers would also be able to buy alcohol to take away. 
 
The applicant has been working with Alberta Gaming, Liquor and Cannabis (AGLC) on similar projects 
throughout Alberta (similar developments are occurring in other provinces, such as Ontario and 
Manitoba). AGLC requires municipal approval prior to finalizing their licensing process. AGLC does not 
allow liquor stores and convenience stores to share space but does allow licensed restaurants and 
convenience stores to do so. Therefore, the provision of a separate space for on-site consumption is a 
Provincial requirement. However, the applicant expects most alcohol purchased to be taken out for at-
home consumption. 
 
This application requires Council approval for: 
 

Discretionary Use – Accessory Uses 
 

Restaurants (and liquor stores) are both permitted uses in the CH district. However, as this restaurant use 
will be a secondary use within the principal building (convenience store/gas bar), it is considered a 
discretionary use. No changes are proposed to the size of the building and no building permit is required 
for the renovations shown in the plans. The only measurable regulation in the Land Use Bylaw that 
pertains to this application is for parking minimums. The application meets the following regulations as 
set out in the Land Use Bylaw: 
 

 Parking Minimums Provided 
356.8m2 Store 3.5/100m2 – 12.49 stalls 21 Stalls as shown 

84

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

Page 2 of 2 

5 Restaurant Seats 1.0/4 seats – 1.25 stalls in previous carwash 
Parking stalls (rounded up) Total: 14 stalls application 

 
Adjacent property owners were notified of this application. No comments for or against the application 
have been received by Administration.  

 
Administration believes that the proposed use will not negatively affect adjacent properties of land or 
generate a noticeable chance in traffic volume to the site and recommends approval of the draft 
Development Permit 24-010 as presented. 

 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
Details: 
 
KEY MESSAGES 
 
The Town of Olds’ planning and development function balances public well-being with economic 
development. This application presents a tertiary source of revenue for an existing business without 
adversely affecting adjacent properties or the broader community.   

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Site Context/Aerial Imagery  
2. Floorplan 
3. Highway Commercial excerpt from Land Use Bylaw  
4. Draft Development Permit 24-010 

 
Approved By: James Crozier  Date: Feb. 7, 2023 

CAO Review: Brent Williams Date:  Feb. 9, 2024 

 
 

85

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



0.1

THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Kilometers0.1

Notes

© Town of Olds

Legend

This map is a user generated static output from an Internet mapping site and is for

reference only. Data layers that appear on this map may or may not be accurate,

current, or otherwise reliable.

0.060

1: 2,257

5622 46 Street

Town Boundary

Railway

Road Labels

86

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



87

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



SCHEDULE D 

 
Town of Olds Land Use Bylaw 01-23                                                                                                      
124 
 

 
HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL DISTRICT (CH) 
 
General Purpose:   To provide an area for commercial uses and other uses, herein 

listed, which are compatible with the area, adjacent to a major 
thoroughfare, which requires large open areas for parking by 
clientele, for display of merchandise, or both, which will create an 
attractive environment, primarily accessible to motor vehicles. 

 
Permitted Uses: Automotive Repair & Service [2014-17] 
 Cannabis Retail Sales                                                       [2018-37]  

Convenience Food Store [2014-17] 
 Day care facility – commercial [2008-07] 
 Drive-in businesses 

Financial Services   [2014-17] 
Fitness Centre  [2014-17] 
Gas Bar [2014-17] 
Hotel / Motel [2014-17] 
Indoor merchandise sales [2008-26] 
Liquor Store [2014-17] 
Market                                                                               [2015-21]  
Personal services [2008-26] 
Restaurants [2008-26] 
Sales and service outlets for automobiles, trucks, recreation 

vehicles and manufactured homes  
Sales and service outlets for farm equipment 

 

Discretionary Uses:  Accessory Buildings  [2014-17] 
    Accessory uses 
    Animal Services                                                                 [2016-12] 
    Billboard signs – where no other principal use, other than parking 

     facilities, exists 
Car wash              [2013-02] 
Commercial recreation and entertainment facilities 
Crematorium [2009-06] 
District shopping centres 
Drinking establishments 
Drive through              [2013-02] 
Drive-in theatres 
Dwelling unit for the occupancy of the owner, operator or 

caretaker 
Funeral Home 

 Greenhouse, commercial [2006-23] 
Instructional Facility                    [2013-07]  

 Mechanized excavation, stripping and grading  
 Mixed use commercial at grade [2023-20] 
 Mural        [2021-01] 

Offices 
Outdoor storage – recreational vehicle  
                                  – Lot 2 & 3, Block1, Plan 011253        [2011-
03]                                                          

88

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



SCHEDULE D 

 
Town of Olds Land Use Bylaw 01-23                                                                                                      
125 
 

Parking facilities 
Public and quasi-public uses 
Public utility buildings 
Recycling drop off              [2013-07] 
Schools                      [2013-07]  
Signs 
Taxi service                                                                       [2015-21]  
Temporary buildings 

    Transportation service                                                       [2015-21] 
    Truck  wash              [2013-02] 

Veterinary Clinic 
Any use that is similar, in the opinion of the development authority, 
to the permitted or discretionary uses described above. 

  
 
The following regulations apply to permitted uses: 
 
Minimum Parcel Frontage: 15 m (49 ft) adjacent to a service or local road 

46 m (151 ft) without a service road 
 
Minimum Front Yard:  9 m (29.5 ft) adjacent to a service or local road 
 
Minimum Side Yard:  3 m (9.84 ft), or as required in the Alberta Building Code, 

whichever is greater. 
 
Minimum Rear Yard:  6 m (20 ft) 
 
Maximum Parcel Coverage: 80% 
 
Outdoor Storage and  1. All outdoor storage of items not for sale shall be screened 
Display    2. All outdoor display of items for sale shall be screened from 

residential Districts. 
 
Maximum Building Height: 10 m  (33 ft) 
 
Landscaped Area:   A minimum of 15 percent of the parcel area shall be landscaped to 

the satisfaction of the Development Authority. A landscaping plan 
shall be submitted with the development permit application. 
At the discretion of the Development Authority, landscaping and/or 
screening may be required in any side or rear yard adjacent to a 
residential district.                                                            [2016-02] 

 
Supplementary Regulations: All uses must also comply with the regulations in Schedule B and 

Schedule D.              [2011-01] 
 
The regulations for all discretionary uses shall be as established in Schedule B 
  

89

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



                                                                                                                                                                        
 

            4512 46 Street 
          Olds AB T4H 1R5 

  Main: 403.507.4806 
 Fax: 403.507.4856 

 planning@olds.ca 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT DP24-010 
 
 

Proposal:    Accessory Use - Restaurant 
 

Deemed Use:  Discretionary Use  
 

Land Use Bylaw Designation:  CH – Highway Commercial District 
 

Civic Address:  5622 46 Street 
 

Legal Description:   Lot 8, Block 8, Plan 1710242 
 

Applicant / Owner:  Mac’s Convenience Stores Inc. 
 
 

 
Decision: APPROVED subject to the conditions outlined below: 
 

1. The development must be constructed in accordance with the approved plans and conditions. 
Any revisions to the approved plans (including non-completion of the development) must be 
submitted for approval to the Development Authority. 

 

2. If the development authorized by a development permit is not commenced within 12 months 
from the date of issue, nor carried out with reasonable diligence, such permit approval ceases 
and the permit itself is deemed void, expired, and without effect, unless an extension of this 
period has been previously granted. 

 

3. A minimum of 14 parking spaces shall be provided on the property, including at least one 
barrier-free space. 

 

4. Prior to operation, the applicant must obtain all required approvals from Alberta Gaming, Liquor 
and Cannabis Commission (AGLC).  

 

5. The Development Officer may, by notice in writing, suspend a Development Permit where 
development has occurred in contravention to the terms and conditions of the permit and/or 
Land Use Bylaw. 

 

6. Use and development of the subject site shall conform to all other applicable requirements of 
the Town of Olds Land Use Bylaw 01-23 except where a relaxation has been expressly granted. 

 
 
 
 

________________________________    
Kyle Sloan, Development Officer 
 
 
 
Date of Decision: February 12, 2024 (Regular Council Meeting) 
Date of Notice in Newspaper: February 20, 2024 
Effective Date of Permit: March 4, 2024 (after 3-week appeal period) 
 

 
 

90

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024

mailto:planning@olds.ca


 

Page 1 of 2 

  
Correspondence and Information 

Request for Decision 
 
Correspondence and Information  
 
February 12, 2024   

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Correspondence and Information Report ending February 12, 2024, be received as presented. 
 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
Our residents and town staff actively communicate and engage with us through open dialogue. 
Our community is supported and enabled through skillful governance. 
Our thriving community is built on strong and collaborative relationships. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

Council Communication Response Policy 

BACKGROUND  

The Correspondence and Information Report is a collection of general information received at the Town Office 
and is provided to the Council as information. The council may choose to provide directions to Administration 
on any item contained in this report. 
 
LIST OF CORRESPONDENCE AND INFORMATION PRESENTED: 
 

ITEM # FROM / TO REGARDING 

A Metrix Group LLP Chartered 
Professional Accountants 

Town of Olds – Audit Planning Report for the 
year ending December 31, 2023 

B Town of Carstairs Alberta Community Partnership(ACP) 
Application  

C Town of Bowden Alberta Community Partnership(ACP) 
Application 

D Town of Olds Thank you Re: Alberta Community 
Partnership(ACP) Application 

E Canadian Blood Services Penhold Cares Poster 
F Olds Chamber of Commerce Celebrating International Women’s Day 
G Town of Olds Administration Land Use Bylaw Consolidation 

 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
 
KEY MESSAGES 
The Town is dedicated to building and maintaining a reputation as a transparent, authoritative, and engaged 
partner in the community and internally with employees. 

 

91

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

Page 2 of 2 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. The Correspondence and Information packet is attached. 
 

CAO Review: Brent Williams Date: February 8, 2024 

 
 

92

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



TOWN OF OLDS 
 

Audit Planning Report 
For the year-ended December 31, 2023 
 

 

January 22, 2024 

 

93

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 
This Audit Planning Report should not be used for any other purpose or by anyone other than the Town or Council. Metrix shall have no responsibility or liability for loss, damages, or 
claims, if any, to or by any third party as this Audit Planning Report has not been prepared for, and is not intended for, any third party or for any other purpose. 

REPORT CONTENTS  
 

    
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY 

 
3 

 MATERIALITY 
 
 

6 

 
 

 PLANNED 
SCOPE 

 
7 

 

       

  TIMELINE 
 

12 

 APPENDICES 
 

13 

  

94

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



3 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
Purpose of this report  
We are pleased to provide you with our audit planning report for Town of Olds (the “Town”) for the year-ended December 31, 2023. The 
purpose of this report is to:  

1. Communicate clearly with Council members (“Council”) what our responsibilities are in relation to the financial statement 
audit.  

2. Provide an overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit.  
3. Obtain from Council information relevant to the audit.  
4. Promote effective two-way communication between Council and the auditor.  

 
Services to be provided  
We have been engaged to perform the following services. 

- Audit of the Town’s financial statements 
- Preparation of the Town’s financial statements 
- Preparation and certification of the municipal financial information return (“FIR”)  
- Compliance audit with the Town’s Local Authorities Pension Plan (“LAPP”) program  
- Annual review of the Town’s Family and Community Support Services (“FCSS”).  

 
Audit fees 
We estimated our audit fees to be in accordance with those quoted in our most recent proposal to the Town. The fee estimate, which 
does not include out-of-pocket expenses, is based on the assumption the Town will provide all necessary supporting working papers, 
and that minimal adjusting journal entries will be required. 

In addition, the scope of the Town’s audit in 2023 will result in additional procedures performed in response to the adoption of PS 3280 
– Asset Retirement Obligations, PS 1201 – Financial Statement Presentations, PS 3041 – Portfolio Investments, and PS 3450 – 
Financial Instruments. We estimate additional fees ranging from $5,000 to $10,000. 

95

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Executive Summary (continued) 

4 
 

Engagement team  
Team member Role Experience   
Jeff Alliston, CPA, CA 
Engagement Partner  
 

As the engagement partner, Jeff will have 
the responsibility of leading the audit and 
will be responsible for the quality and 
timeliness of the audit. 
 
Jeff will also be available throughout the 
audit process and will attend the Council 
meeting with management and present the 
financial statements.  
 

Jeff holds over 15 years of public sector 
auditing experience working with 
municipalities of all types and sizes.  
 
He has also delivered many presentations 
on public sector topics and is also a 
member of the Emerging Issues Task 
Force as administered by the Government 
Finance Officers Association – Alberta 
Chapter. 
 

Craig Poeter, CPA 
Senior Manager 

Craig will be responsible for planning, 
executing, and reporting the audit. 

Craig holds over seven years of providing 
assurance services to clients and will work 
closely with Jeff. 
 
Craig specializes in public sector and not-
for-profit organization and has in-depth 
knowledge of the Town’s processes, 
transactions, and requirements. 
 

Dylen Starman, CPA  
Senior Accountant  
 

Dylen joined Metrix in 2020 and will have 
the responsibility of planning, audit work, 
and completion of the audit.  

Dylen holds numerous years of audit 
experience working with public sector 
(Municipalities), private, for profit, and not-
for-profit organizations.  
 
 

 
  

96

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Executive Summary (continued) 

5 
 

Responsibilities  
It is important for Council to understand the responsibilities that rest with the Town and its management and those that belong to the 
auditor in relation to the financial statement audit.  

Our responsibilities  Responsibilities of management and those charges with 
governance 

 
Our audit of the Town’s financial statements will be performed 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. These standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements present fairly in all material respects, the 
financial position, the results of operations and cash flows of the 
Town in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards.  
 
Accordingly, we will plan and perform our audit to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance of detecting fraud and 
errors that have a material effect on the financial statements.  
 
The audit included consideration of internal control relevant to 
the preparation of the financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control.  
 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards does not 
require the auditor to design procedures for the purpose of 
identifying supplementary matters to communicate to Council. 
 

  
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards and for such internal controls as 
management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Those charged with governance, Council, is responsible for 
overseeing the Town’s financial reporting process.  
 

 

 

97

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

6 
 

MATERIALITY  
 
Materiality in an audit is used as a guide for planning the nature and extent of audit procedures and for assessing the sufficiency of 
audit evidence gathered. It is also used in evaluating the misstatements found and determining the appropriate audit opinion to express.  

Misstatements, individually or the aggregate, are considered to be material if, in the light of surrounding circumstances, it is probable 
that the decision of a person who is relying on the financial statements, and who has reasonable knowledge of business and economic 
activities, would be changed or influenced by such misstatements or the aggregate of all misstatements. The materiality decision is 
based on our professional judgement taking into consideration quantitative and qualitative factors.  

 
1 Preliminary materiality balances are based on prior year results which are subject to change due to procedures performed. If actual results vary 
significantly, we will communicate these changes to Council as part of our year-end communication.  

 

Materiality  Comments Preliminary 
balances1 

Benchmark We have concluded that the use of operating expenses is an appropriate 
benchmark for calculating materiality.   

Planning materiality  4% of the relevant benchmark has been determined to be appropriate.  $ 1,140,000 

Performance materiality 65% of planning materiality, used primarily to determine the nature, timing and 
extent of audit procedures.  $ 741,000 

Trivial threshold  We have set the trivial threshold at 5% of materiality used to accumulate 
misstatements identified during the audit.  $ 57,000 

98

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

7 
 

 PLANNED SCOPE  
 
Audit approach 
Based on our knowledge of the Town, we are planning on utilizing a combined approach testing internal controls that are relevant to 
the audit in addition to planned substantive procedures. This approach is more appropriate when an entity processes a high volume of 
transactions and has strong internal controls. By obtaining assurance through tests of controls, we are able to place reliance on the 
control environment and reduce the number of substantive procedures required. 

 
Our response to significant risks 
Our planned procedures have been designed in response to risks identified during our risk assessment. We have identified the following 
areas of focus for the audit.  

Areas of Focus Why it Matters Our Response 
Management override 
of controls  

- Under Canadian Auditing Standards 
(“CAS”), there is a presumed fraud risk due 
to the potential of management override of 
controls through manual journal entries.  
 
We have not identified any indicators of 
additional risks with respective to 
management override of internal controls.  

 

- Using data analytics, we will identify a sample of 
journal entries and other adjustments and assess 
the business rationale of the entries recorded.  

99

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Planned Scope (continued) 

8 
 

Areas of Focus Why it Matters Our Response 
Revenue recognition  
(including deferred 
revenue) 

- There is risk of premature revenue 
recognition of funding amounts received with 
external restrictions attached to them (e.g., 
Government of Alberta, federal government, 
…etc.). 

- We will update our understanding of the 
processes and controls in place regarding 
revenues received. 

- We will review the recognition of amounts subject 
to external restrictions to ensure they are 
correctly recognized. 

- We will examine related agreements and other 
source documentation containing guidance for 
the purpose and use of the restricted funds. 

- We will assess the completeness and existence 
of deferred revenue recorded. 

- Where possible, we will coordinate with 
procedures performed over accounts receivable 
and tangible capital assets. 
 

Net municipal 
property tax revenue 

- There is a risk that the property 
assessments or the tax rates applied are not 
appropriate. 

- Moreover, there exists the risk that the tax 
revenue is over / under levied.  

- We will obtain third-party evidence substantiating 
the assessment value and re-calculate tax 
revenues using the approved mill rates. 

- We will determine the amounts of tax revenues 
that has been over / under levied, if any.  
 

Operating expenses  
(including accounts 
payable and accrued 
liabilities) 

- There is an inherent risk with fraudulent 
expenses being recorded.  

 

- We will obtain an understanding of the processes 
and controls in place regarding procurement and 
payment.  

- We will select a sample of expenditures recorded 
and agree the amounts to supporting 
documentation.  
 

100

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Planned Scope (continued) 

9 
 

Areas of Focus Why it Matters Our Response 
Salaries, wages, and 
benefits 

- There is the risk that fraudulent (ghost) 
employees have been created. 

- There exists the risk that employees are 
paid at a rate inconsistent with their 
employment contract.  

- We will perform substantive analytical procedures 
over salaries, wages and benefits. 

- Where required, we will design and perform 
additional substantive procedures to address any 
additional risk factors that we may identify. 

 

Cash and cash 
equivalents and 
Investments 
(including investment 
income) 

- There is an inherent risk of fraud related to 
cash and cash equivalents and investments.  

- Cash and cash equivalents and investments 
are material balances to the Town. 

- We will obtain an understanding of the processes 
and controls implemented for cash. 

- We will obtain third-party audit evidence to test 
the accuracy of the cash balance. 

- We will test the accuracy and existence of 
significant reconciling items.  
 

Receivable balances 
(including Taxes, Trade, 
Other Governments, and 
Loans receivable) 

- There exists the risk that the amounts 
outstanding will not be collectible.  

- There exists the risk that receivables have 
been overstated. 

- There exists the risk that receivables 
outstanding at year-end have not been 
accrued for. 

- We will update our understanding regarding the 
Town’s policies regarding collections and 
provisions.  

- We will test the subsequent receipt of receivable 
balances outstanding as at year-end. 

- Where required; we will perform additional 
substantive procedures to obtain appropriate 
audit evidence.  
Where possible, we will coordinate with our work 
performed over revenues and deferred revenue. 
 

101

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Planned Scope (continued) 

10 
 

Areas of Focus Why it Matters Our Response 
Tangible capital 
assets (“TCA”) 

- There exists the risk that TCA has been 
expensed rather than capitalized or have 
been recorded incorrectly. 

- Conversely, there exists the risk that 
expenditures that are not capital in nature 
have been capitalized. 

- The valuation of TCA is subject to 
management’s estimate which may be 
complex and subject to change.  

  

- We will review the amortization policy. 
- We will inquire with management regarding any 

indicators of impairment. Where required, we will 
perform an impairment assessment. 

- We will perform substantive tests of details over 
additions and disposals.  

- We will re-calculate amortization expense and 
any gains / losses on the disposal of TCA. 

- Where possible, we will coordinate with 
procedures performed over deferred revenue. 
 

Inventory for 
consumption 

- The measurement of inventory for 
consumption is subject to complex 
calculations. 
 

- We will update our understanding regarding the 
County’s process for recording inventory.  

- We will assess the reasonability of 
management’s inputs used in the gravel inventory 
calculation.  

- We will re-calculate gravel inventory to assess 
the accuracy of inventory recorded.  

- We will perform unit cost testing over other 
inventory items.  

 
Long-term debt - There exists the risk that long-term debt is 

understated, either due to being incomplete 
or being incorrect. 

- There exists the risk that the County is not in 
compliance with the applicable debt limits.  
 

- We will obtain third-party evidence regarding the 
balances outstanding at year-end. 

- We will re-calculate the interest expense incurred 
throughout the year and any interest payable 
outstanding at year-end. 

- We will determine if the County is within the 
allowable debit limits under MGA 276(2).  
 

102

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Planned Scope (continued) 

11 
 

Areas of Focus Why it Matters Our Response 
Asset retirement 
obligations 

- PS 3280, Asset Retirement Obligations, is 
being implemented for the first year. 

- AROs are estimates subject to management 
bias. 
 

- We will assess the completeness of assets 
identified with an asset retirement obligation.  

- We will assess the reasonability of inputs used in 
calculating the estimate. 

- We will verify the mathematical accuracy of the 
liability calculated.  

 
 
Request of those charged with governance  
In performing your duties as those charged with governance, you may become aware of additional areas of concern. This includes 
any instances of actual, suspected, or alleged fraud affecting the Town. We request that Council advise us whether there are any 
additional areas of concern which we should consider. We welcome discussion on any areas of audit concern that Council may have.

103

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

12 
 

TIMELINE  
 
Below is our planned timeline for the Town’s audit.  

Planning 
(January 

2024) 
- Completed initial risk assessment. 
- Send interim requests. 

 
 
 

Interim 
Fieldwork2 

(January 
2024) 

- Update for changes to the control environment.  
- Begin tests of internal controls.  
- Begin substantive procedures (where possible). 
- Complete the risk assessment process. 

 
 
 

Year-end 
Fieldwork2 

(March 2024) 
- Completion of substantive procedures and tests of controls. 

 

Reporting 
(April 2024) 

- Draft financial statements provided to management. 
- Presentation of financial statements to Council. 
- Council approval of financial statements. 
- Submission to municipal affairs. 

 Debrief 
(May 2024) 

- Discussion with management and Council 
regarding any matters impacting future 
audits, if any. 

 
2 Currently planned to be performed remotely for interim and on-site for a portion of year-end and is subject to change. The Town will be consulted 
with any modification to the planned fieldwork. 

104

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

13 
 

APPENDICES  
 

- Appendix 1 – Required communications 
- Appendix 2 – Engagement letter 
- Appendix 3 – New and revised accounting standards 

  

105

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



January 22, 2024  

Town of Olds
4512 46 Street
Olds Alberta  T4H 1R5

Attention: Ms. Judy Dahl, Mayor

Dear Ms. Dahl:

Re: Engagement letter

The Objective and Scope of the Audit

Metrix Group LLP are pleased to serve as auditor's for the Town of Olds for the fiscal year ending December 31,
2023. The purpose of this letter is to outline the terms of  our engagement to audit the consolidated financial
statements of the Town of Olds, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December
31, 2023, and the consolidated statements of operations and accumulated surplus, changes in net financial assets
(debt) and cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information. Jeff Alliston, CPA, CA will be responsible for the services that Metrix Group LLP performs
for the Town of Olds. He will, as considered necessary, call upon individuals with specialized knowledge at Metrix
Group LLP to assist in the performance of our services.

We are pleased to confirm our acceptance and our understanding of the nature, scope and terms of this audit
engagement and all services related thereto, by means of this letter (the "Engagement").

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement (whether due to fraud or error) and to issue an auditors' report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

The Responsibilities of the Auditor

We will conduct our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements. As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

a.  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements (whether due to
fraud or error), design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

b.  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity's internal control. However, we will communicate to you in writing concerning any significant deficiencies
in internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial statements that we have identified during
the audit.

c.  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

106

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Town of Olds
January 22, 2024
Page 2

d.  Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going-concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

e.  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements (including the
disclosures) and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent limitations of internal control, there is an
unavoidable risk that some material misstatements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned
and performed in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.

Form and Content of Audit Opinion

Unless unanticipated difficulties are encountered, our report will be substantially in the following form contained in
Appendix A to this letter.

The Responsibilities of Management

Our audit will be conducted on the basis that management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance
acknowledge and understand that they have responsibility:

a.  For the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting public sector accounting standards.

b.  For the design and implementation of such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; and

c.  To provide us with timely:

i.  Access to all the information of which management is aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements, such as records, documentation and other matters;

ii.  Information about all known or suspected fraud, any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud and 
any known or probable instances of non-compliance with legislative or regulatory requirements;

iii.  Additional information that we may request from management for the purpose of the audit; and

iv.  Unrestricted access to persons within Town of Olds from whom we determine it necessary to obtain audit
evidence.

As part of the audit process:

a.  We will make inquiries of management about the representations contained in the consolidated financial
statements. At the conclusion of the audit, we will request from management [and, where appropriate, those
charged with governance] written confirmation concerning those representations. If such representations are
not provided in writing, management acknowledges and understands that we would be required to disclaim an
audit opinion. 

b.  We will communicate any misstatements identified during the audit other than those that are clearly trivial. We
request that management correct all the misstatements communicated.

Confidentiality

One of the underlying principles of the profession is a duty of confidentiality with respect to client affairs. Each
professional accountant must preserve the secrecy of all confidential information that becomes known during the
practice of the profession. Accordingly, we will not provide any third party with confidential information concerning
the affairs of Town of Olds unless:

a.  We have been specifically authorized with prior consent;

107

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Town of Olds
January 22, 2024
Page 3

b.  We have been ordered or expressly required by law or by the Alberta Code of Professional Conduct/Code of
Ethics; or

c.  The information requested is (or enters into) public domain.

Communications

In performing our services, we will send messages and documents electronically. As such communications can be
intercepted, misdirected, infected by a virus or otherwise used or communicated by an unintended third party, we
cannot guarantee or warrant that communications from us will be properly delivered only to the addressee.
Therefore, we specifically disclaim, and you release us from any liability or responsibility whatsoever for interception
or unintentional disclosure of communications transmitted by us in connection with the performance of this
Engagement. In that regard, you agree that we shall have no liability for any loss or damage to any person or entity
resulting from such communications, including any that are consequential, incidental, direct, indirect, punitive,
exemplary or special damages (such as loss of data, revenues, or anticipated profits).

If you do not consent to our use of electronic communications, please notify us in writing.

Use of Information

It is acknowledged that we will have access to all information about identified individuals ("personal information") in
your custody that we require to complete our Engagement. Our services are provided on the basis that:

a.  You represent to us that management has obtained any required consents for our collection, use, disclosure,
storage, transfer and process of personal information required under applicable privacy legislation and
professional regulation; and

b.  We will hold all personal information in compliance with our Privacy Statement.

Use and Distribution of Our Report

The examination of the consolidated financial statements and the issuance of our audit report are solely for the use
of Town of Olds and those to whom our report is specifically addressed by us. We make no representations or
warranties of any kind to any third party in respect of these consolidated financial statements or our audit report, and
we accept no responsibility for their use by any third party or any liability to anyone other than Town of Olds.

For greater clarity, our audit will not be planned or conducted for any third party or for any specific transaction.
Accordingly, items of possible interest to a third party may not be addressed and matters may exist that would be
assessed differently by a third party, including, without limitation, in connection with a specific transaction. Our audit
report should not be circulated (beyond Town of Olds) or relied upon by any third party for any purpose, without our
prior written consent.

You agree that our name may be used only with our prior written consent and that any information to which we have
attached a communication be issued with that communication, unless otherwise agreed to by us in writing.

Reproduction of Auditors' Report

If reproduction or publication of our audit report (or reference to our report) is planned in an annual report or other
document, including electronic filings or posting of the report on a website, a copy of the entire document should be
submitted to us in sufficient time for our review and approval in writing before the publication or posting process
begins.

Management is responsible for the accurate reproduction of the consolidated financial statements, the auditors'
report and other related information contained in an annual report or other public document (electronic or paper-
based). This includes any incorporation by reference to either full or summarized consolidated financial statements
that we have audited.

We are not required to read the information contained in your website or to consider the consistency of other
information in the electronic site with the original document.

Preparation of Schedules

We understand that management will prepare certain schedules and locate specified documents for our use before
our Engagement is planned to commence. 

108

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Town of Olds
January 22, 2024
Page 4

This assistance will facilitate our work and help to minimize our costs. Any failure to provide these working papers or
documents on a timely basis may impede our services and require us to suspend our services or even withdraw
from the Engagement.

Ownership

The working papers, files, other materials, reports and work created, developed or performed by us during the
course of the Engagement are the property of our Firm, constitute our confidential information and will be retained
by us in accordance with our Firm's policies and procedures.

During the course of our work, we may provide, for your own use, certain software, spreadsheets and other
intellectual property to assist with the provision of our services. Such software, spreadsheets and other intellectual
property must not be copied, distributed or used for any other purpose. We also do not provide any warranties in
relation to these items and will not be liable for any lost or corrupted data or other damage or loss suffered or
incurred by you in connection with your use of them.

We retain the copyright and all intellectual property rights in any original materials provided to you.

File Inspections

In accordance with professional regulations (and by our Firm policy), our client files may be periodically reviewed by
practice inspectors and by other engagement file reviewers to ensure that we are adhering to our professional and
Firm standards. File reviewers are required to maintain confidentiality of client information.

Accounting Advice

Except as outlined in this letter, this Engagement does not contemplate the provision of specific accounting advice
or opinions or the issuance of a written report on the application of accounting standards to specific transactions and
to the facts and circumstances of the entity. Such services, if requested, would be provided under a separate
engagement letter.

Indemnity

Town of Olds hereby agrees to indemnify, defend (by counsel retained and instructed by us) and hold harmless our
Firm (and its partners, agents and employees) from and against any and all losses, costs (including solicitors’ fees),
damages, expenses, claims, demands and liabilities arising out of (or in consequence of):

a.  The breach by Town of Olds, or its directors, officers, agents or employees, of any of the covenants or
obligations of Town of Olds herein, including, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, the misuse of,
or the unauthorized dissemination of, our engagement report or the consolidated financial statements in
reference to which the engagement report is issued, or any other work product made available to you by our
Firm.

b.  A misrepresentation by a member of your management or the those charged with governance.

Time Frames

We will use all reasonable efforts to complete the Engagement as described in this letter within the agreed upon
time frames.

However, we shall not be liable for failures or delays in performance that arise from causes beyond our reasonable
control, including any delays in the performance by Town of Olds of its obligations.

Estimated Fees 

We estimate that our fees for these services will be $38,000 (per our proposal dated October 12, 2023) for the
Engagement, plus direct out-of-pocket expenses and applicable GST. This fee estimate is based on:

a.  The anticipated cooperation from all your personnel in preparing the requested information on a timely basis;

b.  The ongoing assistance of personnel throughout the Engagement; and

c.  The assumption that unexpected circumstances will not be encountered. 

If significant additional time is likely to be incurred, we will discuss the reasons with you and agree on a revised fee
estimate before we incur the additional costs.

109

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Town of Olds
January 22, 2024
Page 5

Fees will be rendered as work progresses and are payable on presentation.

Billing

Our fees and costs will be billed monthly and are payable upon receipt. Invoices unpaid 30 days past the billing date
may be deemed delinquent and are subject to an interest charge of 1.00% per month or 12.00% (APR) per annum.
We reserve the right to suspend our services or to withdraw from this Engagement in the event that any of our
invoices are deemed delinquent. In the event that any collection action is required to collect unpaid balances due to
us, you agree to reimburse us for our costs of collection, including lawyers' fees.

Costs of Responding to Government or Legal Processes

In the event we are required to respond to a subpoena, court order, government agency or other legal process for
the production of documents and/or testimony relative to information we obtained and/or prepared during the course
of this Engagement, you agree to compensate us at our normal hourly rates for the time we expend in connection
with such response and to reimburse us for all of our out-of-pocket costs (including applicable GST) incurred.

Termination

Management acknowledges and understands that failure to fulfill its obligations as set out in this engagement letter
will result, upon written notice, in the termination of the Engagement.

Either party may terminate this agreement for any reason upon providing written notice to the other party [not less
than 30 calendar days before the effective date of termination]. If early termination takes place, Town of Olds shall
be responsible for all time and expenses incurred up to the termination date.

If we are unable to complete the audit or are unable to come to a conclusion on the consolidated financial
statements, we may withdraw from the audit before issuing an auditors' report, or we may issue a denial of
assurance on the consolidated financial statements. If this occurs, we will communicate the reasons and provide
details.

Metrix privacy

The privacy and security of the personal information you provide is important to us. We strive to ensure the strictest
compliance with all applicable provincial and federal standards of protection and disclosure of personal information
by any and all of our employees, agents, divisions and/or affiliates. You may review our privacy policy at
www.metrixgroup.ca. We will not collect, use, or disclose any of your personal information without your knowledge
and consent, or as may be required by law or our profession's Rules of Conduct.

By signing this engagement letter you agree that for the purposes of this engagement, Metrix Group LLP may
collect, use, and disclose personal information in accordance with our privacy policy. You also agree that Metrix
Group LLP may collect and use personal information from you for the purposes of providing other services or
informing you of other opportunities from time to time. Personal information that is not relevant to the purposes of
this engagement or any other matters will not be disclosed to anyone for any reason without your further prior
consent.

Metrix working papers

Metrix Group LLP owns all working papers and files, other materials, reports and work created, developed or
performed during the course of the engagement, including intellectual property used in the preparation thereof.  We
will provide management with a copy of all practitioner-prepared working papers necessary for the Town's
accounting records. Metrix Group LLP may develop software, including spreadsheets, documents, databases, and
other electronic tools, to assist us with our assignment. As these tools were developed specifically for our purposes
and without consideration of any purpose for which the Town might use them, any such tools provided to the Town,
are made available on an "as is" basis only and should not be distributed to or shared with any third party.

Conclusion

This engagement letter includes the relevant terms that will govern the Engagement for which it has been prepared.
The terms of this letter supersede any prior oral or written representations or commitments by or between the
parties. Any material changes or additions to the terms set forth in this letter will only become effective if evidenced
by a written amendment to this letter, signed by all of the parties.

The arrangements outlined in this letter will continue in effect from year to year unless changed by either party.

110

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Town of Olds
January 22, 2024
Page 6

If you have any questions about the contents of this letter, please raise them with us. If the services outlined are in
accordance with your requirements, and if the above terms are acceptable to you, please sign the attached copy of
this letter in the space provided and return it to us. 

We appreciate the opportunity of continuing to be of service to your Town.

Yours truly,

Chartered Professional Accountants

The services and terms set out above are as agreed to on behalf of Town of Olds  by:

Ms. Judy Dahl, Mayor

Date signed

111

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Town of Olds
January 22, 2024
Page 7

Appendix A - Expected Form of Report

 
To the Mayor and Council of the Town of Olds 

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Town of Olds (the Town), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2023, and the consolidated statements of
operations and accumulated surplus, changes in net financial assets (debt) and cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Town as at December 31, 2023, and the consolidated results of
its operations and  consolidated cash flow for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Town in
accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on June 12, 2023.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Canadian accounting public sector standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Town's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Town or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Town's financial reporting process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors'
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

112

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Town of Olds
January 22, 2024
Page 8

Appendix A (continued)

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Town's internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Town’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Town to cease to
continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

113

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Appendices (continued) 

14 
 

Appendix 1 – Required Communications 
Independence 
At the core of the provision of external audit services is the concept of independence. Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
require us to communicate to Council, at least annually, all relationships between our Firm and the Town that—in our professional 
judgement—may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. 

We will confirm our independence up to the date of our auditor report at the conclusion of the audit. 

 
Engagement letter 
The Engagement Letter will document the objective and scope of the audit; define the responsibilities required of Metrix and 
management; and establish the terms and conditions of the engagement. Please refer to Appendix 2. 

 
Management representation  
Management’s representations are integral to the audit evidence we will gather. Prior to the release of our independent auditors’ report, 
we will require management’s representations in writing to support the content of our report. 

 
Communication of results 
At the completion of our audit, we will communicate to Council matters arising from the financial statement audit. Our communication 
will include the following: 

- Matters required to be communicated to Council under Canadian generally accepted auditing standards including possible 
fraudulent activities, possible illegal acts, significant weaknesses in internal control and certain related party transactions; 

- Our views about significant qualitative aspects of the Town’s accounting practices, including accounting policies, accounting 
estimates, and financial statement disclosures; 

- Other matter arising from the audit that, in our professional judgement are important and relevant to Council; and, 
- Any other matters previously agreed with you to be communicated to Council. 

 

114

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Appendices (continued) 

15 
 

Appendix 2 – Engagement letter 
 

 

 

 

 

 

[THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

  

115

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Appendices (continued) 

24 
 

Appendix 3 – New and revised accounting standards 
Accounting standards coming into effect 
PS 3280 – Asset Retirement Obligations 
What’s changed? 
 

PS 3280 establishes standards for how to account for asset retirement obligations (“AROs”). PS 3270 – 
Solid Waste Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Liability, has been revoked in response to PS 3280. Key 
facts include: 

- Establishing recognition criteria for AROs and the subsequent impact to tangible capital assets. 
- Establishing measurement, initial and subsequent measurements, requirements for AROs. 
- Establishing disclosure requirements for AROs.   

 
How will it impact 
the audit?  
 

As noted in our planned scope, asset retirement obligation will be a significant area of focus. We will be 
assessing the completeness of the listing of AROs, the inputs used in the calculation of the AROs, and the 
mathematical accuracy of the liability calculated.  
 

What’s required of 
management? 
 

The implementation of PS 3280 will be a significant undertaking that will require involvement from more 
than the finance and accounting departments. This likely requires the operational knowledge of personnel 
outside of the finance and accounting departments (e.g., public works, engineering, legal, or Council).  
 
In assessing the completeness of AROs, management will need to be able to substantiate the work 
performed in assessing tangible capital assets, actively used or inactive, owned by a government for any 
legal retirement obligations. This may include the provision of supporting documents reviewed (e.g., TCA 
listing, asset management records), meetings and interviews with other personnel, and the documentation 
of the results of work performed by management.  
 
Moreover, management will need to provide the source of inputs used in calculating the value of AROs. The 
cost of remediation activities should be derived from professional judgment and should be based on the 
best estimates available. However, management should be prepared to substantiate the inputs used. This 
may be through the provision of recent similar activities, publicly available cost estimates, quotes for 
remediation, shared information from other municipalities, …etc.  
 
Last management should understand what disclosure will be required to be included in the financial 
statements.  
 

116

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Appendices (continued) 

25 
 

 
PS 2601 – Foreign Currency Translation  
What’s changed? 
 

PS 2601 establishes standards for how to account for transactions denominated in a foreign currency and 
replaces the existing standard PS 2600. Key changes include:  

- Introduction of an irrevocable accounting policy decision for how to account for unrealized foreign 
currency translations – either recognized on the statement of operation or recorded in the statement 
of remeasurement gains and losses.  

- Removal of hedge accounting for foreign currency items. Differences arising from derivative 
instruments are accounted for under PS 3450 – Financial Instruments.  

- Adoption of this standard occurs concurrently with PS 3041 – Portfolio Investments, PS 3450 – 
Financial Instruments, and PS 1201 – Financial Statement Presentation.  
 

How will it impact 
the audit?  
 

The Town does not have any financial assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency.  
  

What’s required of 
management? 
 

There will be no additional requirements of management.  

 
PS 3041 – Portfolio Investments  
What’s changed? 
 

PS 3041 establishes standards for how to account for portfolio investments and replaces the existing 
standard PS 3040. Key changes include:  

- Removes the differentiation of portfolio investment and temporary investments. 
- Provides additional clarification on how to account for losses in value of a portfolio investment for 

assets measured at fair value. 
- Additional disclosures may be required for assets measured at fair value. 
- Adoption of this standard occurs concurrently with PS 2601 – Foreign Currency Translation, PS 

3450 – Financial Instruments, and PS 1201 – Financial Statement Presentation.  
 

How will it impact 
the audit?  
 

Given the restrictions of investments under the Municipal Government Act, the Town does not have any 
portfolio investments that are measured under fair value. There should be minimal impact to the audit.  
 

What’s required of 
management? 
 

No additional requests will be required of management.  

 

117

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Appendices (continued) 

26 
 

PS 3450 – Financial Instruments  
What’s changed? 
 

PS 3450 establishes standards on how to account for and report all types of financial instruments. It 
has been updated with key changes including:  

- How to account changes in fair value for foreign currency differences.  
- How to account for repurchased debt instruments that the entity does not legally cancel, 

extinguish, discharge or plan to legal extinguish.  
- How to account for financial assets and liabilities in which exchange gains and losses, 

including the exchange gain and loss component of changes in fair value, are recognized in 
the financial statements and presented in the notes to the financial statements. 

- How to account for financial instruments that contain embedded derivatives.  
- Additional disclosure requirements.  
- Adoption of this standard occurs concurrently with PS 2601 – Foreign Currency Translation, 

PS 3041 – Portfolio Investments, and PS 1201 – Financial Statement Presentation.  
 

How will it impact the 
audit?  
 

Depending on the types of financial instruments held, there may be additional presentation 
requirements that will be assessed for the financial statements, including the note disclosures.  

What’s required of 
management? 
 

Management will need to review the financial instruments held and determine what note disclosures, 
if any, will require amendment or additions to the financial statements.  

 
PS 1201 – Financial Statement 
What’s changed? 
 

PS 1201 establishes general reporting standards and replaces the existing standard PS 1200. Key 
changes include:  

- Establishing standards for recognition, measurement, and disclosure of unrealized gains and 
losses on financial instruments. 

- The addition of the statement of remeasurement gains and losses.  
- Amendments on how to account for accumulated surplus and accumulated remeasurement 

gains and losses. 
- Clarification regarding the recognition of purchased intangible assets (PSG-8). 
- Adoption of this standard occurs concurrently with PS 2601 – Foreign Currency Translation, 

PS 3041 – Portfolio Investments, and PS 3450 – Financial Instruments.  
 
 

118

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Appendices (continued) 

27 
 

PS 1201 – Financial Statement 
How will it impact the 
audit?  
 

As the Town does not have any instruments measured at fair value, there should be minimal impact 
to the audit.  

What’s required of 
management? 
 

No additional requests will be required of management. 

 

Future accounting standard pronouncements  
Standard Summary Effective Date 
PS 3160  
Public Private 
Partnerships 
 

This section will establish standards on how to account for 
public private partnership agreements, specifically recognition 
and measurement of infrastructure assets and the 
corresponding financial liability. 
 

Fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 
2023. Early adoption is permitted.  

PS 3400 
Revenue 
 

This section will be updated to provide additional guidance 
regarding the timing of revenue recognition along with additional 
disclosure requirements.  
 

Fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 
2023. Early adoption is permitted.  

PSG-8 
Purchased 
Intangibles 
 

This guideline explains the scope of intangible assets now 
allowed to be recognized in financial statements.  

Fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 
2023. Early adoption is encouraged. 

 

 

 

 

119

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



120

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



121

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

                                                                                                                              4512 - 46 Street, Olds, AB. T4H 1R5 
E. admin@olds.ca  M. 403.556.6981  F. 403.556.6537        old.ca 

Office Of the Mayor 
January 30, 2024  
 
ATTENTION: Town of BOWDEN Mayor Robb Stuart 
  Village of CREMONA Mayor Tim Hagen 
  Town of SUNDRE Mayor Richard Warnock 
  Mountain View County Reeve Angela Aalbers 

Olds College of Agriculture and Technology, President Dr. Ben Cecil 
  Chinook’s Edge School Division, Superintendent Kurt Sacher 
 
Request for Leter of Support Town of Olds Alberta Community Partnership Applica�on 
 
It is with apprecia�on that the Town of Olds Council members express our gra�tude for your 
support in regard to the cap�oned Alberta Community Partnership Applica�on.  
 
Recap of inten�on: the Town is undertaking a condi�on assessment and feasibility study of the 
Olds Sportsplex (Phase 1). This effort, which should be concluded by March 2024, will provide an 
engineering report on the current state of the building and its machinery; an opinion on its 
suitability for the current and future recrea�on needs of Olds and area; a high-level cost to achieve 
~30 more years of life from the building; and an opinion on whether the Town should invest in this 
building or seek to build a new facility. The consultants are relying and expanding on the Mountain 
View Regional Parks, Recrea�on and Culture Master Plan from 2021 to inform the needs 
assessment por�on.  
 
Regardless of the outcome of Phase 1, we are certain that a significant capital project will be 
required, probably within 7 – 10 years; star�ng to plan now is impera�ve for the Town of Olds.  
We have requested support from other municipal neighbours and respect all feedback. 
 
The Town will be the managing partner. No financial cost is being asked of for this study and this 
project will not proceed in 2024 should the grant applica�on be unsuccessful. 
 
 
Yours In Community,  
 
 
Her Worship, 
Mayor Judy Dahl 
 
Copy:  Olds Council members 
 CAO Brent Williams 

122

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024

mailto:admin@olds.ca
http://www.olds.ca/


We have joined the 

and so does

If you donate blood this month, you can help us to
be the municipality with the most blood donors!

Our challenge coordinator is:

Penhold resident, Josephine
Michaluk, currently holds the
World Record for the Most
Whole Blood Donations (female)

Feb. 1-29

You can be a 

hero too!

123

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



KEYNOTE

SPEAKER

AWARDS

NETWORKING

Pomeroy Inn & Suites 
Olds, AB.

INTERNATIONAL WOMEN’S DAY
March 8, 2024

11 am - 3 pm

$45.00 
per person

TICKETS

a deserving
woman

Luncheon & Awards

Visionary Young Woman 
Woman of Influence 

Business Woman of the Year       

Mountain View & Neighbours
Women In Business

NOMINATE

Presenting
Keynote Speaker - Alberta Innovates

124

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



 

 

                                                                                                                               4512 - 46 Street, Olds, AB. T4H 1R5    
E. admin@olds.ca  M. 403.556.6981  F. 403.556.6537        olds.ca 

 

 

Land Use Bylaw Consolidation 

 
Date: February 12, 2024 

 
Background 

The previous Land Use Bylaw consolidation took place in January 2020. From then through December 
2023, Council passed 23 amendments to this bylaw. PCPS has assisted the Town in preparing a new 
consolidated version of the Bylaw. This process was completed in the first week of February and the 
updated document can now be found on the Town website at www.olds.ca/LUB-zoning.  
 
The land use district (zoning) map has also been updated to show recent zoning changes and 
subdivisions. This map is also available via the above link and can be purchased as a hard copy at the 
Town office. 
 

Purpose 

• Ensure that the public has access to all current regulations in one document. 
• Eliminate the possibility that staff are making decisions with outdated regulations. 
• Simplify the process of reviewing current regulations for the planned Land Use Bylaw re-write in 

2024-2025. 
 

 

125

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024

mailto:admin@olds.ca
http://www.olds.ca/
http://www.olds.ca/LUB-zoning


 

Page 1 of 1 

  
Chief Administrative Officer Report 

Request for Decision 

Chief Administrative Officer Report 

February 12, 2024   
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Chief Administrative Officer Report be accepted as presented. 
 

STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT 
Our residents and town staff actively communicate and engage with us through open dialogue. 
Our community is supported and enabled through skillful governance. 
Our thriving community is built on strong and collaborative relationships. 
Sound fiscal practices are balanced with a commitment to prioritizing value for our citizens. 

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 

Municipal Government Act Division 9, Part 6, Section 208(1)  

BACKGROUND  

One of the Chief Administrative Officer’s responsibilities is to advise and inform the council on the 
operations and affairs of the municipality. CAO Williams will present his monthly report to council for 
their information.  
 
FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS   ☐ Operating  ☐ Capital ☒ Not Applicable 
Details: 
 
KEY MESSAGES 
A Chief Administrative Officer’s responsibility is to advise and inform the council on the operations and 
affairs of the municipality. The CAO Verbal Report is meant to provide information to Council that is 
more routine in nature and does not require a decision from Council.  

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Action Item Report 

2. Report a Problem (RAP) Summary 

 
 

CAO Review: Brent Williams Date:  February 8, 2024 

 
 

126

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Number Item Date Added Status Note
2023-06 Research changes to approvals in Direct Control Districts 8-May Incomplete LUB Amendemnt TBD

2023-15 Advertise Reporting Procedure for Bylaw Complaints 2-Oct Complete

2023-16 Compensation and Benefits Review Presentation 2-Oct Complete

2023-17 Housing Incentive Policy Update 2-Oct Complete

2023-18 Vapour Testing Report 2-Oct Complete

2023-20 Onboarding Process: Staff Engagement and Survey 2-Oct Incomplete

2023-21 Professional Development Procedure 2-Oct Incomplete

2023-22 Residential Incentive Changes 2-Oct Complete

2023-23 Advertise ME Complaint process to the public 13-Nov Complete

2023-24 Bylaw officer to SLR for discussions 13-Nov Complete

2023-25 Off site levy impacts on land costs 13-Nov Complete

2023-26 Provide Utility Bill Reduction Options 13-Nov Complete

2023-27 Prepare a summary of carbon tax impact on Town finances 22-Nov Complete

2023-28 Provide policy options for staff at top of salary grid 22-Nov Complete

2023-39 Sportsfield Classification System - add to policy/procedure 11-Dec Incomplete

2024-01 Update Partners on Website: Re, Uptowne 8-Jan Complete

Council Action Items 127

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024



Start End Start End
3-Jan-24 31-Jan-24 3-Jan-24 3-Feb-24

Type of Problem Number 
Received

Problems 
Closed

Problems 
Open

Number 
Received

Problems 
Closed

Problems 
Open

Bylaw: Animals 0 0 0 0 0 0
Bylaw: Other Enforcement 0 0 0 0 0 0
Bylaw: Parking 1 0 1 2 0 2
Bylaw: Unsightly Property 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ops: Road Issues 7 7 0 7 7 0
Ops: Back Alleys 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ops: Sidewalks 1 1 0 2 2 0
Ops: Utilities & Garbage Collection 3 3 0 4 4 0
Ops: Drainage 8 8 0 12 8 4
Other 3 3 0 3 3 0
P&R: Olds Aquatic Centre 0 0 0 0 0 0
P&R: Sportsplex 0 0 0 0 0 0
P&R: Parks & Trails 0 0 0 0 0 0
Town Administration 0 0 0 0 0 0
Traffic: Speed 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 23 22 1 30 24 6

January 2024 RAP Summary  2024 Year to Date

128

Town of Olds Regular Council Meeting Monday, February 12, 2024


	1) 2024 02 12 RC Mtg Agenda
	2A) 2024 01 22 RC Mtg Minutes - Prior
	4A) RFD 2024-05 Animal Bylaw
	4A.1) DRAFT Animal Bylaw 2024-05 v02 FINAL for Feb 12
	PART 10 EXEMPTIONS

	5A) 2024 RFD FCSS External Grant
	5A.1) FCSS Project Descriptions 2024
	5B) RFD 2023 Annual Report
	5B.1) 2023 Annual Report_Town of Olds
	Town Profile
	Organizational Structure
	Message from the Mayor
	Strategic Plan: 2022 – 2032
	Progress on Strategic Goal 1
	Progress on Strategic Goal 2
	Progress on Strategic Goal 3
	Progress on Strategic Goal 4
	Financial Performance
	2023 Spotlight
	Looking Ahead - 2024 Priorities

	5C) RFD Wilson - Notice of Motion - Council Salary Review
	5D) RFD Dirt Jump Track
	5E) RFD - DP24-008
	5E.1) DP24-008 - Attachment 1 - Site Context
	5E.2) DP24-008 - Attachment 2 - Site Plan
	5E.3A) DP24-008 - Attachment 3A - Addition Plans
	5E.3B) DP24-008 - Attachment 3B - Existing House
	5E.4) DP24-008 - Attachment 4 - LUB Excerpt
	5E.5) DP24-008 - Attachment 5 - Draft Permit
	DEVELOPMENT PERMIT DP24-008

	5F) RFD - DP24-010
	5F.1) DP24-010 - Attachment 1 - Site Context
	5F.2) DP24-010 - Attachment 2 - Floorplan
	5F.3) DP24-010 - Attachment 3 - LUB Excerpt
	5F.4) DP24-010 - Attachment 4 - Draft Permit
	DEVELOPMENT PERMIT DP24-010

	6A) RFD Correspondence and Information
	A - Audit Planning Report 2023 (OLDS)
	REPORT CONTENTS
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	Purpose of this report
	Services to be provided
	Audit fees
	Engagement team
	Responsibilities

	MATERIALITY
	PLANNED SCOPE
	Audit approach
	Our response to significant risks

	TIMELINE
	APPENDICES
	Appendix 1 – Required Communications
	Independence
	Engagement letter
	Management representation
	Communication of results

	Appendix 2 – Engagement letter
	Appendix 3 – New and revised accounting standards
	Accounting standards coming into effect
	Future accounting standard pronouncements


	B - Carstairs to Olds ACP letter-Signed
	C- Bowden to Olds ACP Grant
	D- Thank you Letter to ACP Support Letters
	E- Blood Drive Penhold Cares Central AB poster
	F- Olds Chamber of Commerce - Celebrate poster 3 (4)
	G - LUB Consolidation Correspondence
	Land Use Bylaw Consolidation
	Date: February 12, 2024
	Background
	Purpose


	7A) RFD CAO Report- Verbal Update
	7A.1) Council Action Items (1)
	7A.2) January RAP Summary



